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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

For Annual and Transition Reports
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Mark One)
M ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 200
or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 or 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.
For the transition period from to
Commission Registrant, State of Incorporation I.R.S. Employer
File Number Address and Telephone Number Identification No.
1-11255 AMERCO 88-010681¢F
(A Nevada Corporation)
1325 Airmotive Way, Ste. 100
Reno, Nevada 89502-3239
Telephone (775) 68-6300
2-38498 U-Haul International, Inc. 86-066306C
(A Nevada Corporation)
2727 N. Central Avenue
Phoenix, Arizona 85004
Telephone (602) 2€-6645
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) diie Act:
Name of Each Exchange on Which
Registrant Title of Class Registered
AMERCO Series A €/ 2% Preferred Stoc New York Stock Exchang
U-Haul International, Inc None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢e Act:
Name of Each Exchange on Which
Registrant Title of Class Registered
AMERCO Common NASDAQ
U-Haul International, Inc None

Indicate by check mark whether the registréjthas filed all reports required to be filed®gction 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeohdi934
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqméeiod that the registrant was required to filetsteports), and (2) has been subject to suchyfilin
requirements for the past 90 days. Yds No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delieqt filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation ot contained herein, and will not be contairtedhe
best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitivexy or information statements incorporated by meffiee in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any amendirten
this Form 10-K. 0O

Indicate by check mark whether the registiman accelerated filer (as defined in ExchangeRde 12b-2). YedM No O

The aggregate market value of AMERCO commoaoksheld by non-affiliates (i.e., stock held by smsr other than officers, directors and 5% sharetsld
of AMERCO) on September 30, 2004 was $338,968,24B6.aggregate market value was computed usinddbing price for the common stock trading on
NASDAQ on such date

Indicate by check mark whether the registheast filed all documents and reports required télée by Section 12, 13, or 15(d) of the Securitechange
Act of 1934 subsequent to the distribution of sitims under a plan confirmed by a court.  Yi&s No O

21,284,604 shares of AMERCO Common Stock, % value were outstanding at June 1, 2005.

5,385 shares of U-Haul International, Inc. @uon Stock, $0.01 par value, were outstanding a& 1yi2005. None of these shares were held by non-
affiliates.

Documents incorporated by reference: Portad®SMERCOQ's definitive Proxy Statement for the 2005 Annualeltitey of Stockholders are incorporatec
reference into Part 11l of this report.
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PART |

ltem 1. Business
Company Overview

We are North America’s largest “do-it-youfsehoving and storage operator through our subsjdid-Haul International, Inc. U-Haul is
synonymous with “do-it-yourself” moving and storaaad is a leader in supplying products and sentiwé®lp people move and store their
household and commercial goods. Our primary senfijective is to provide the best product and sert the most people at the lowest ¢

We rent our distinctive orange U-Haul trueksl trailers as well as offer self-storage roomsuh a network of over 1,350 company
operated retail moving centers and 14,071 indeperdéiaul dealers. In addition, we have an independenage facility network with 1,71
active affiliates. We also sell U-Haul brand boxepe and other moving and self storage produatsarvices to “do-it-yourselffhoving anc
storage customers at all of our distribution ostketd through our eMove web site.

U-Haul is the most convenient supplier ofdarcts and services meeting the needs of North Araeri'do-it-yourself’moving and storac
market. Our broad geographic coverage through@utthited States and Canada and our extensiveisel@ftU-Haul brand moving
equipment rentals, self storage rooms and relatadng and storage products and services providewstomers with convenient “one-stop”
shopping.

Through Republic Western Insurance CompaRgfWest"), our property and casualty insuranceididry, we manage the property,
liability and related insurance claims processimg-Haul. Oxford, our life insurance subsidiarglls life insurance, provides annuities and
other related products to non U-Haul customersmaadages the employee medical plans for U-Haul'3UBemployees.

We were founded in 1945 under the name “UtHaailer Rental Company.” Since 1945, we haveedritailers. Starting in 1959, we
rented trucks on a one-way and in-town basis ekalysthrough independent U-Haul dealers. Since4]1 9% have developed a network of U-
Haul managed retail centers, through which we oentrucks and trailers and sell moving and seifegde related supplies and services to
complement our independent dealer network.

AMERCO and U-Haul are each incorporated inétla. U-Haul's Internet address is uhaul.com. OrEREZO’s investor relations web
site, amerco.com, we post the following filingssasn as is reasonably practical after they ardrelgically filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission: our annuattrepo-orm 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10e@Qr current reports on Form 8-K,
our proxy statement related to our annual meetfrejazkholders, and any amendments to those repostatements filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securifirchange Act of 1934. All such filings on our wate are available free of charge.

Products and Rental Equipment

Our customers are primarily “do-it-yoursdifusehold movers. U-Haul moving equipment is spedi designed, engineered and
manufactured for the “do-it-yourself” household reavThese “do-it-yourself’ movers include individsiand families moving their
belongings from one home to another, college stisd@oving their belongings, vacationers and spamtbusiasts needing extra space or
having special towing needs, people trying to savlome furniture and home appliance delivery ¢a@std “do-it-yourself’home remodelin
and gardening enthusiasts who need to transpoeriaist

As of March 31, 2005, our rental fleet cotesisof approximately 93,000 trucks, 78,750 traikemd 36,100 tow devices. This equipment
and our U-Haul brand of self-moving products andises are available through our network of manageail moving centers and
independent U-Haul dealers. Independent U-Hauldeaéceive rental equipment from the companyasét rental agent and are paid a
commission based on gross revenues generated Hignm-Haul rentals.

Our rental truck chassis are manufactureddigestic and foreign truck manufacturers. Thesssihare joined with the U-Haul designed
and manufactured van boxes at U-Haul operated raaturfing and
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assembly facilities strategically located throughitve United States. U-Haul rental trucks featwreproprietary Lowest Deck, which
provides our customers with extra ease of loadiihg. loading ramps on our trucks are the wideshénimdustry, which reduce the time
needed to move belongings. Our Gentle Ride Suspefishelps our customers safely move delicate and pppsdessions. Also, the
engineers at our U-Haul Technical Center determihatithe softest ride in our trucks was at thatfiaf the van box. Consequently, they
designed the part of the van box that hangs owefrémt cab of the truck to be the location for oustomers to place their most fragile items
during their move. We call this area “Mom’s Atfi¢”.

Our distinctive orange trailers are also nfactured at these same U-Haul operated manufagtand assembly facilities. These trailers
are well suited to the low profile of many of todagewly manufactured automobiles. Our engineestadf is committed to making our
trailers easy to tow, aerodynamic and fuel effitien

To provide our self-move customers with addaldie, our rental trucks and trailers are designeélel efficiency. To help make our
rental equipment more trouble free, we perform esitee preventive maintenance and repairs.

We also provide customers with equipmentaagport their auto. We provide three towing optidncluding; auto transport, in which all
four wheels are off the ground, tow dolly, in whittie front wheels of the towed vehicle are off giheund, and tow bar, where all four wheels
are on the ground.

To help our customers load their boxes argelahousehold appliances and furniture, we offe@egal accessory rental items. Our utility
dolly has a lightweight design and is easy to maaeuAnother rental accessory is our four wheelydahich provides a large, flat surface
for moving dressers, wall units, pianos and othggd household items. U-Haul appliance dollies ipimthe leverage needed to move
refrigerators, freezers, washers and dryers easilysafely. These utility, furniture and appliadodies, along with the low decks and the
wide loading ramps on all U-Haul trucks and traileare designed for easy loading and unloadingio€ostomers’ belongings.

The total package U-Haul offers the “do-itsyself” household mover doesn't end with truckailérs and accessory rental items. Our
moving supplies include a wide array of affordapticed U-Haul brand boxes, tape and packing maseNde also provide specialty boxes
for dishes, computers and sensitive electronicpgant, carton sealing tape, security locks, an#tipgsupplies, like wrapping paper and
cushioning foam. U-Haul brand boxes are specifjcsilted to make stacking and tiering easier.

Also, U-Haul is North America’s largest selénd installer of hitches and towing systems. €Hegching and towing systems can tow jet
skis, motorcycles, boats, campers and horse sail@ur hitches, ball mounts, and balls undergog#mt testing requirements.

U-Haul is also North America’s largest ref@ibpane distributor, with more than 980 retailtees offering propane. We employ trained,
certified personnel to refill all propane cylindeasid our network of propane dispensing locatisribé largest automobile alternative
refueling network in North America.

Self-storage is a natural outgrowth of thé&s®ving industry. Conveniently located U-Haulfsstorage rental facilities provide clean,
and secure space for storage of household and caniadngoods, with storage units ranging in sizerfrb5 square feet to over 400 square
We operate nearly 1,000 self-storage locationsdrtiNAmerica, with more than 340,000 rentable rocomprising approximately 29 million
square feet of rentable storage space. Our setigigaenters feature a wide array of security nreastanging from electronic property
access control gates to individually alarmed stenagjts. At many centers, we offer climate congolstorage rooms to protect temperature
sensitive goods such as video tapes, albums, ptagtiog and precious wood furniture.

Our eMove web site, emove.com, is the largestork of customers and businesses in the selingand self-storage industry. The
eMove network consists of channels where custorbesnesses and service providers transact busiflese€Move Moving Help
marketplace connects “do-it-yourself” movers with
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independent service providers to help movers daekl, unload, clean, drive and other services. $ands of independent service providers
are already in place.

Through the eMove Storage Affiliate Programidependent storage businesses can join the wdaldjsst storage reservation system. Self-
storage customers making a reservation through eMawn access all of the U-Haul self-storage cemtetsall of our independent storage
affiliate partners for even greater convenienceéet their self-storage needs.

Additionally, we offer moving and storage f@ation packages such as Safemove and Safetovecfingt moving and towing customers
with a damage waiver, cargo protection and medindllife coverage, and Safestor, protecting stocagéomers from loss on their goods in
storage.

Description of Operating Segments

AMERCO has five operating segments and feportable segments. Our reportable segments arenlyland Storage Operations,
Property and Casualty Insurance, Life InsuranceSn@ Holdings (see Note 2 to the Notes to Const#idi&inancial Statements, Principles
of Consolidation).

Moving and Storage Operating Segment

Our “do-it-yourself” moving business consisefdJ-Haul truck and trailer rentals and U-Haul rmaysupply and service sales. Our storage
business consists of U-Haul self-storage room lergalf-storage related product and service saldsmanagement of non-owned ssttirage
facilities.

Net revenues from our Moving and Storage ajirey segment were approximately 89% of consoldlats revenue in fiscal 2005.

Within our truck and trailer rental operatioe are focused on expanding our independent deatefork to provide added convenience
our customers. A U-Haul dealer is an independemincissioned agent, generally rentingHaul products in conjunction with another prim
business. A U-Haul dealer is most often an owneraipr. U-Haul strives to continually improve thesater program to make it attractive for
the dealer.

At our owned and operated retail centers awgehmplemented several customer service initiatiféese initiatives include improving
management of our rental equipment to provide etailrcenters with the right type of rental equipmet the right time and at the most
convenient location for our customers, effectivelating of our broad line of self-moving relate@gucts and services, maintaining longer
hours of operation to provide more convenienceutocostomers, and increasing staff by attractindyrataining “moonlighters” (part-time U-
Haul employees with full-time jobs elsewhere) dgrour peak hours of operation.

We believe our reservation and schedulingesy®nables us to provide more of the right equigtra the right time and at the right
location to meet seasonal demand fluctuations. \ate tp further enhance this system and manageapitat expansion plans to leverage this
capability and generate increased rentals on owing@quipment.

Effective marketing of our self moving reldferoducts and services, such as boxes, pads sunéinte, helps our customers have a better
moving experience and helps them protect theirfgghgs from potential damage during the moving pssc We are committed to providing
a complete line of products selected with the “Egeiurself” moving and storage customer in mindaiyples of products recently added or
expanded include a number of specialty packing ®odover's Wrap” and Smart Move tapes. Mover’s Wis a sticks-to-itself plastic
stretch wrap used to bind, bundle, and fasten it@hen moving or storing. Smart Move tape is a cotmted packing tape that has the room
printed right on it allowing customers to tape dadokl their belongings in one quick step.

These actions are leveraged by over 1,35@aagoperated retail centers and enable the Compamyvide better customer service,
which we believe has led to increased sales andased productivity.

4
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Our self-storage business consists of U-Kdalitstorage room rentals, self-storage relatedyrband service sales and management of
self-storage facilities not owned by the Company.

U-Haul is one of the largest North Americgermtors of self-storage and has been a leadkeisdif-storage industry since 1974. U-Haul
operates over 340,000 storage rooms, approximagefyillion square feet of storage space with laratiin 49 states and 10 Canadian
provinces. U-Haul's seltorage facility locations range in size up to 086, square feet of storage space, with individteabge units in size
ranging from 15 square feet to over 400 square feet

The primary market for storage rooms is tioeage of household goods. We believe that oursgetage services provide a competitive
advantage through such things as Maximum SecUiAK”), an electronic system that monitors the stge facility 24 hours a day; climate
control; individually alarmed rooms; extended haacess; and an internet — based customer resenatiaccount management system.

eMove is an online marketplace that connesitsumers to over 5,000 independent customer Moethg Help and Self-Storage service
providers who provide pack and load help, selfesjerand more all over North America. A phone acsgstem to Moving Help was
launched in September 2004 and has already serwi@rdl 0,000 customers in less than six months.

eMove also offers a Storage Affiliate progrérat enables independent self-storage facilibesonhnect into the eMove network. Affiliates
expand their reach by connecting into a movingstncage reservation system and for a fee receiagrag of services including web-based
management software, savings on insurance, craditprocessing, and more. Over 2,700 facilitiesnare registered on the eMove network.

With over 33,000 unedited reviews of senpeaviders, the marketplace has facilitated ove0®0® moving and storage transactions all
over North America. We believe that acting as darmediary, with little added investment, servesdhstomer in a cost effective manner.
Our goal is to further utilize our web-based tedbgg platform to increase service to consumerstarginesses in the moving and storage
market.

Property and Casualty Insurance Operating Segment

Republic Western Insurance Company (“RepWestvides loss adjusting and claims handling feid&ul through regional offices acrc
North America. RepWest also provides componente@BSafemove, Safetow and Safestor protection jgaski \-Haul customers. The
business plan for RepWest includes offering prgpand casualty products for other U-Haul relatemgpims and completing its exit from
non-U-Haul related lines of business.

Life Insurance Operating Segment

Oxford Life Insurance Company (“Oxford”) oimgites and reinsures annuities; credit life andligy; single premium whole life; group
life and disability coverage; and Medicare suppletiesurance. Oxford also administers the selffiediemployee health and dental plans for
AMERCO.

SAC Holdings Operating Segment

SAC Holding Corporation and its subsidiaresgd SAC Holding Il Corporation and its subsidiarieollectively referred to as “SAC
Holdings”, own self-storage properties that are agga by U-Haul under property management agreem@miERCO, through its
subsidiaries, has contractual interests in cedBBAC Holdings’ properties entiting AMERCO to pattial future income based on the
financial performance of these properties. Witlpees to SAC Holding Il Corporation, AMERCO is cotsied the primary beneficiary of
these contractual interests. Consequently, we diecthie results of SAC Holdings Il Corporation ie tonsolidated financial statements of
AMERCO, as required by FIN 46(R).

Employees

As of March 31, 2005, we employed approxinyai®,300 people throughout North America and 9G%hese employees work within o
Moving and Storage operating segment.
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Sales and Marketing

We promote U-Haul brand awareness througéctiand co-marketing arrangements. Our direct niackactivities consist of yellow
pages, print and web based advertising as wethds events, movie cameos of our rental fleet axédy and industry and consumer
communications. Our rental equipment is our beshfof advertisement. We support our independentautidealers through advertising of
U-Haul moving and self-storage rentals, products sarvices.

Our marketing plan includes maintaining aadership position with U-Haul being synonymouswito-it-yourself’moving and storag
We accomplish this by continually improving the @a$ use and efficiency of our rental equipmentplgviding added convenience to our
retail centers through independent U-Haul deaberd,by expanding the capabilities of our eMove witd
Competition

Moving and Storage Operating Segme

The moving truck and trailer rental indussyarge and highly competitive.

There are two distinct users of rental trucksnmercial and “do-it-yourself” residential usérée focus primarily on the “do-it-yourself”
residential user. Within this segment, we belidverincipal competitive factors are convenienceeatal locations, availability of quality
rental moving equipment, breadth of essential pctedand services, and price.

Our major competitors in the moving equipmemital market are Budget Car and Truck Rental Gomm@and Penske Truck Leasing.

The self-storage market is large and highdgifented.

We believe the principal competitive factorshis industry are convenience of storage rdotadtions, cleanliness, security and price.

Our primary competitors in the self-storagarket are Public Storage, Shurgard, Storage USAflandsands of independent owner-
operators.

Insurance Operating Segmen

The highly competitive insurance industrylimes a large number of life insurance companiéspaoperty and casualty insurance
companies. In addition, the marketplace now incduiteancial services firms offering both insuramaeel financial products. Some of the
insurance companies are owned by stockholders thedsoare owned by policyholders. Many competit@ge been in business for a longer
period of time or possess substantially greatemfaial resources and broader product portfolios tha insurance companies. We compete in
the insurance business based upon price, prodsigirjeand services rendered to agents and polidghsl

Corporate Governance

Corporate governance is typically definednessystem that allocates duties and authority gnaocompany’s stockholders, board of
directors and management. The stockholders eledidard and vote on extraordinary matters; thecbisathe Company’s governing body;
and management runs the day-to-day operationsedftimpany.

Our current Board members are William E. ¢arohn M. Dodds, Charles J. Bayer, John P. BroDanjel R. Mullen, M. Frank Lyons,
James P. Shoen and Edward J. Shoen.
Board Responsibilities and Structui

The primary responsibilities of the BoardDifectors are oversight, counseling and providiirgation to the management of the Comg
in the long-term interests of the Company andtislgolders.
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The Board and its committees meet througtimuyear on a set schedule, and also hold speektimgs and act by written consent from
time to time as needed. The Board has delegatéausaresponsibilities and authority to differentaBd committees as generally described
below. Committees regularly report on their aciggtand actions to the full Board.

Board Committee:

The Board currently has Audit, Executive Fioe, Compensation, and Independent Governance Guamjias well as an Advisory
Board.

Audit Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directorullfilling its oversight responsibilities as fmancial reporting and
audit functions and risk management. The Audit Catea monitors the financial information that iopided to stockholders and others, the
independence and performance of the Company’s et auditors and internal audit department bagystems of internal control
established by management and the Board.

The members of the Audit Committee of the lp&harles J. Bayer, John M. Dodds and John Ry@roeach qualify as “independent”
under special standards developed by the SecuaitiégExchange Commission (SEC) and NASDAQ for membeaudit committees, and
the Audit Committee includes at least one membey isldetermined by the Board to meet the qualificest of an “audit committee financial
expert.” Mr. John P. Brogan is the independentadinewho has been determined to be an audit comeniithancial expert. Stockholders
should understand that this designation is a diserequirement of the SEC related to Mr. Brogaxjserience and understanding with
respect to certain accounting and auditing matiérs.designation does not impose on Mr. Brogandattigs, obligations or liability that are
greater than are generally imposed on him as a meailihe Audit Committee and the Board of Direst@nd his designation as an audit
committee financial expert pursuant to this SEQinement does not affect the duties, obligationsatnility of any other member of the
Audit Committee or Board of Directors.

Executive Finance Committee. The Executive Finance Committee is authorized tmadehalf of the Board of Directors in approvany
transaction involving the finances of the Compdhiias the authority to give final approval for therrowing of funds on behalf of the
Company without further action or approval of theaBd of Directors. The Executive Finance Commitseeomposed of Edward J. Shoen,
John P. Brogan and Charles J. Bayer.

Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee reviews the Companygsgive compensation plans and policies, including
benefits and incentives, to ensure that they amsistent with the goals and objectives of the Campk reviews and makes
recommendations to the Board of Directors regardiagagement recommendations for changes in exeautimpensation. The
Compensation Committee also monitors managemens lad programs for the retention, motivation agnetbpment of senior
management. The Compensation Committee is compdskthn P. Brogan and John M. Dodds, independeettdirs of the Company.

Independent Governance Committee. The Independent Governance Committee is chairelbbg P. Brogan, an independent member of
the board. Thomas W. Hayes, the former State Treasf California, and Paul A. Bible, a partnetlie Reno-based law firm of Bible,
Hoy & Trachok, are also members of this commitiéeither Mr. Hayes nor Mr. Bible are members of @wmpanys Board of Directors. Th
Independent Governance Committee evaluates speoifiorate governance principles and standardpeopbses to the Board any
modifications deemed appropriate. In addition, tdusimittee may review potential candidates for Baaembership. The committee may
review other matters as referred to it by the Bo@itee committee has the authority to and a budget fvhich to retain professionals. The
committee membership term is one year and each erisidetermined by the Board to be free of amgti@hship that would interfere with
his exercise of independent judgment as membdri®tbommittee.

Advisory Board Members. In addition to the four committees described abtive,Board of Directors authorized up to two (2Vvisdry
Board Members. On June 4, 2003, the Board of Dirscippointed Michael L. Gallagher as a membeh@#dvisory Board. Mr. Gallagher
is a senior partner in the law firm
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Gallagher & Kennedy. Mr. Gallagher is also a dicectf Pinnacle West Capital Corporation, ActionfBanance Companies, Inc. and the
Omaha World Herald Company. On June 9, 2004, ttedappointed Daniel R. Mullen as a second Advi®wgrd Member. On
February 23, 2005, Mr. Mullen left the Advisory Bdaand became a member of the AMERCO Board of Birsc

Recent Developments
Preferred Stock Dividend

On May 4, 2005, the Board of Directors of ARIEO declared a regular quarterly cash dividenddds&125 per share on the Company’s
Series A 8/ 2% Preferred Stock. The dividend was paid on Jur2®Q5 to holders of record on May 15, 2005.

Refinancing

On May 9 and May 12, 2005 the Company entamedagreements to refinance its capital strucaume gave notices to its current lenders
of its plans for early redemption of the Comparggssting notes and loans.

The structure consists of three asset-bafd@iities including a $240 million senior mortgafymded by Merrill Lynch, a $240 million
senior mortgage funded by Morgan Stanley and a $4i®n real estate loan funded by Merrill Lynchhe new financing was funded on
June 8, 2005.

The Company will incur a one-time pre-taxrgfeaof approximately $34 million in the first quarbf fiscal 2006 associated with the early
payment of its existing loans.

Abatement of State of Arizona Department of Insui@nOrder for Supervisiol

On May 20, 2003, the State of Arizona Departthof Insurance issued an Order for Supervisi@insy RepWest. The Order required that
RepWest eliminate its credit exposure with AMERGQW &s affiliates and possess sufficient surplusamply with Arizona law. These
requirements have been met and the Order was abatdahe 9, 2005.

Item 2.  Properties

The Company through its owned subsidiariessproperty, plant and equipment that is utilizethie manufacture, repair and rental of U-
Haul equipment and storage space as well as prayaffice space for the Company. Such facilitiestethroughout the United States and
Canada. The Company also manages storage faailitieed by others. The Company operates over 1,365@uW retail centers, and operates
10 manufacturing and assembly facilities. We alserate over 200 fixed sitepair facilities located throughout the Unitedt&saand Canad

SAC Holdings owns property, plant and equipthikat are utilized in the sale of moving suppliestal of self-storage rooms and U-Haul
equipment. Such facilities exist throughout theteliStates and Canada. We manage the storagédaciinder property management
agreements whereby the management fees are consigte management fees received by U-Haul for ogiieperties owned by unrelated
parties and managed by us.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:
Kocher

On March 2, 2005 Oxford settled a case paenthitWetzel County, West Virginia bearing the caaptionCharles Kocher v. Oxford Life
Insurance Co. , Civil Action No. 00-C-51-K (the “Action”). In casideration of the payment of $12.8 million, ChareKocher (“Kocher”)
executed a General Release of all claims again&tr@xRepublic Western, and Evanston Insurance Gopyptogether with certain affiliates,
subsidiaries, officer, directors, employees an@othlated parties of each of them, including hattlimited to all claims that were or could
have been asserted in the Action. Pursuant to émef@l Release, Kocher agreed to the dismissalpajudice of the Action, with each party
bearing its own costs and
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attorneys’ fees. Oxford received $2.2 million itrmbursement from its E&O carrier related to theleatent of the Action.

Shoen

On September 24, 2002, Paul F. Shoen filderaative action in the Second Judicial Districtu®t of the State of Nevada, Washoe
County, captioned Paul F. Shoen vs. SAC Holdingp@r&tion et al., CV02-05602, seeking damages andadae relief on behalf of
AMERCO from SAC Holdings and certain current andifer members of the AMERCO Board of Directors, udithg Edward J. Shoen,
Mark V. Shoen and James P. Shoen as defendantsR&MMEs named a nominal defendant for purposeseofiétiivative action. The
complaint alleges breach of fiduciary duty, sel&lifeg, usurpation of corporate opportunities, wifohgnterference with prospective
economic advantage and unjust enrichment and skeekswinding of sales of self-storage propertigsibsidiaries of AMERCO to SAC
Holdings in prior years. The complaint seeks aatation that such transfers are void as well aperifed damages. On October 28, 2002,
AMERCO, the Shoen directors, the n8heoen directors and SAC Holdings filed Motions ierbiss the complaint. In addition, on October
2002, Ron Belec filed a derivative action in the@we Judicial District Court of the State of Nevadtashoe County, captioned Ron Belec
William E. Carty, et al., CV 02-06331 and on Jayul, 2003, M.S. Management Company, Inc. filegavative action in the Second
Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, Waes County, captioned M.S. Management Company vsidWilliam E. Carty, et al., CV
03-00386. Two additional derivative suits were dika against these parties. These additionassarn substantially similar to the Paul F.
Shoen derivative action. The five suits assertigity identical claims. In fact, three of the fipkaintiffs are parties who are working closely
together and chose to file the same claims multiples. These lawsuits alleged that the AMERCO Bdacked independence. In reachin
decision to dismiss these claims, the court detegththat the AMERCO Board of Directors had the istpilevel of independence requirec
order to have these claims resolved by the Bodnd.cburt consolidated all five complaints beforendssing them on May 28, 2003.
Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal to the NevadapBeme Court. The parties have fully briefed tiseiés and are awaiting a ruling from the
court.

Securities Litigation

AMERCO is a defendant in a consolidated jngatlass action lawsuit entitled “In Re AMERCO 8#tes Litigation”, United States
District Court, Case No. CV-N-03-0050-ECR (RAM).€Taction alleges claims for violation of Sectior{t)(f the Securities Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, section 20(a) of thenexs Exchange Act of 1934 and sections 11, bd, b of the Securities Act of 1933. The
action alleges, among other things, that AMERCQaged in transactions with the SAC entities thatdlyl improved AMERCO's financial
statements and that AMERCO failed to disclose téwstctions properly. The action has been tramsfaa the United States District Court,
District of Arizona. Defendants have filed motidosdismiss and will defend the case vigorously.

Securities and Exchange Commissio

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SB@% issued a formal order of investigation tedeaine whether the Company has
violated the federal securities laws. The Compaag/groduced and delivered all requested documadtpravided testimony from all
requested witnesses to the SEC. The Company iscaiipy with the SEC and is facilitating the expiedis review of its financial statements
and any other issues that may arise. We cannotgptteeé outcome of the investigation.

Other

The Company is named as a defendant in v&litgation and claims arising out of the normaiicse of business. In managements
opinion none of these matters will have a mateffect on the Company'’s financial position and tessof operations.
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ltem 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hold¢

No matter was submitted to a vote of the ggcholders of AMERCO or U-Haul during the fourtfuarter of the fiscal year covered by
this report, through the solicitation of proxiesodherwise.

PART Il

ltem 5.  Market for the Registrar's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securitit

As of April 30, 2005 there were approximatg@00 holders of record of the common stock. AMERECcommon stock is listed on
NASDAQ under the trading symb“UHAL.”

The following table sets forth the high ahd tow sales price of the common stock of AMERCOitfie periods indicated:
For the Years Ended March 31,

2005 2004

High Low High Low
First quartel $ 29.5( $ 19.7¢ $ 9.1z $ 3.1
Second quarte $ 38.0¢ $ 21.0( $ 26.6¢ $ 6.8t
Third quartel $ 46.5¢ $ 36.8¢ $ 28.9( $ 16.3¢
Fourth quarte $ 48.2¢ $ 41.5( $ 24.3¢ $ 21.0¢

The common stock of U-Haul is wholly ownedAMERCO. As a result, no active trading market exfsr the purchase and sale of such
common stock.

Dividends

AMERCO does not have a formal dividend palitiie Board of Directors of AMERCO periodically siders the advisability of declari
and paying dividends in light of existing circunratas. The Company’s credit facility and its semiote indentures limit the Company’s
ability to pay dividends and accordingly, the Compdoes not anticipate declaring and paying divitdeon its common stock in the
foreseeable future.

U-Haul has not declared cash dividends to /@B during the three most recent fiscal years.

See Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated FindiStetements for a discussion of certain statutesyrictions on the ability of the insurance
subsidiaries to pay dividends to AMERCO.

See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated FinduStetements for a discussion of AMERCO's prefeistmtk.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, did not repurchase any shares of our equity séesirit
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

Listed below is selected financial data f&1BRCO and consolidated entities for five years endarch 31:

For the Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands except share and per share data)
Summary of Operations:
Seltmoving equipment renta $ 1,437,890 $ 1,381,200 $ 1,293,731 $ 1,253,888 $ 1,221,441
Self-storage revenue 114,15! 247,64( 238,93 223,13! 192,57.
Self-moving and self-storage products and
service sale 206,09¢ 232,96! 223,67 225,51( 215,69!
Property management fe 11,83¢ 25€ 89 88 22¢
Life insurance premium 126,23t 145,08. 158,71¢ 157,37: 111,19:
Property and casualty insurance premit 24,98 92,03¢ 149,20¢ 253,79¢ 216,91¢
Net investment and interest incol 56,73¢ 38,28: 40,73: 47,34 53,79'
Other revenu: 30,17 38,52 36,25 38,28: 32,07¢
Total revenue 2,008,12. 2,175,99 2,141,34 2,199,41i 2,043,89!
Operating expenst 1,122,19 1,179,99 1,182,22: 1,212,40. 1,127,90:
Commission expenst 172,30° 147,01( 138,65: 137,80¢ 136,20!
Cost of sale: 105,30¢ 111,90¢ 115,11 122,69: 126,50¢
Benefits and losse 140,34: 217,44 248,34¢ 376,67: 290,55¢
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition
costs 28,51 39,08: 37,68 40,67 36,23:
Lease expens 151,35:¢ 160,72 166,10: 164,07 175,46(
Depreciation, ne 121,10: 148,81 137,44¢ 102,95 103,80°
Restructuring expens — 44,09° 6,56¢ — —
Total costs and expens 1,841,12! 2,049,07! 2,032,13 2,157,28: 1,996,67.
Earnings from operatior 166,99¢ 126,91! 109,21( 42,13¢ 47,22¢
Interest expens (73,204 (121,69() (148,13) (209,469 (111,879
Litigation settlement income, net of co 51,34: — — — —
Pretax earnings (los 145,13. 5,22t (38,92) (67,33) (64,65¢)
Income tax benefit (expens (55,70¢) (8,077) 13,93¢ 19,89’ 22,54«
Net earnings (loss 89,42 (2,857) (24,98¢) (47,440 (42,110
Less: Preferred stock dividen (12,967) (12,967) (12,967) (12,967 (12,967)
Earnings (loss) available to common
shareholder $ 76,46. $ (15,81YH) $ (37,949 % (60,40 $ (55,079)
Net earnings (loss) per common share b
and dilutec $ 366 3 $(0.7¢0 % 182 % (287 % (2.56)
Weighted average common shares outstani
basic and dilute: 20,804,77 20,749,99 20,824,61 21,063,72 21,518,02
Cash dividends declared and accr
Preferred stoc $ 12,96  $ 12,96  $ 12,96  $ 12,96  $ 12,96
Balance Sheet Data:
Property, plant and equipment, | 1,354,46! 1,451,80! 1,946,31 1,936,07! 1,882,01
Total asset 3,103,62: 3,394,74 3,832,37. 3,732,31 3,599,65!
Capital lease — 99,60 137,03: — —
AMERCO's notes and loans payal 780,00t 862,70: 940,06 1,045,80. 1,156,84
SAC Holding!’ notes and loans payat 77,47¢ 78,63’ 466,78: 561,88 376,14¢
Stockholder equity 572,83¢ 503,84t 327,44¢ 381,52 446,35:
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Listed below is selected financial data feHaul International, Inc., for five years ended btaB1l:

For the Year Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)

Summary of Operations:

Selfmoving equipment renta $ 1,437,89! $ 1,380,99 $ 1,293,68! $ 1,253,69 $ 1,221,18
Self-storage revenue 94,43: 118,33! 109,98 130,69: 115,69(
Self-moving and self-storage products and
service sale 191,07¢ 182,32 174,85: 201,00t 197,72.
Property management fe 14,43 12,97 12,43: 8,03¢ 6,472
Net investment and interest incol 22,03( 21,50¢ 29,35¢ 22,68¢ 25,84¢
Other revenur 27,48¢ 35,58( 18,37¢ 27,79¢ 20,87¢
Total revenue —Lr8r3 175171 163869  _ 164390 _ 1,587,78
Operating expens 1,100,73 1,062,69! 1,029,77. 1,088,39I 1,062,09
Commission expenst 181,31! 176,16! 166,33« 150,69: 148,25t
Cost of sale: 98,87 87,43( 93,73t 110,44¢ 116,60:
Lease expens 151,93 159,86¢ 165,02( 171,65¢ 167,29(
Depreciation, ne 114,03¢ 125,09: 112,81! 92,35! 87,53¢
Total costs and expens 1,646,90. 1,611,25. 1,567,67 1,613,53 1,581,78.
Earnings from operatior 140,45: 140,45¢ 71,01 30,37: 6,00¢
Interest (expense) incon 15,681 8,56( (9,997 (11,675 (17,099
Pretax earnings (los 156,14( 149,01 61,02: 18,69 (12,089
Income tax benefit (expens (59,16() (52,99 (21,217 (6,117 4,921
Net earnings (loss $ 96,98( $ 96,02’ $ 39,81: $ 12,58( $ (6,169
Balance Sheet Data:
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 796,36 $ 875,72 $ 736,49 $ 750,77¢ $ 731,07:
Total asset 1,503,33! 1,452,36. 1,235,49 1,099,19! 935,25¢
Capital lease — 99,60 14,79: 14,79: —
Stockholder' equity 701,19¢ 601,51« 499,38 458,63¢ 449,58t

ltem 7. Managemen’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionnal Results of Operations
General

We begin Management’s Discussion and Analgkiinancial Condition and Results of Operatiod®&A) with a discussion of the
overall strategy of AMERCO, followed by a descriptiof our operating segments, and then a discusdithe strategy of our business
segments to give the reader an overview of thesgafabur business and the direction in which owgitess and products are moving. This is
followed by a discussion of the Critical AccountiBgtimates that we believe are important to undadihg the assumptions and judgments
incorporated in our reported financial resultstie next section, we discuss our Results of Omeratior fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal
2004, and for fiscal 2004 compared with fiscal 206@8inning with an overview. We then provide anlygsia of changes in our balance sheet
and cash flows, and discuss our financial commitsanthe sections entitled “Liquidity and CapiRésources” and “Disclosures about
Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitmém#e conclude this MD&A by discussing our outloak fiiscal 2006.

This MD&A should be read in conjunction witie other sections of this Annual Report on ForaKlihcluding “Item 1: Business”,
“Iltem 6: Selected Financial Data” and “Item 8: Fio&l Statements and
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Supplementary Data.” The various sections of thi3&A contain a number of forward looking statemerat$ of which are based on our
current expectations and could be affected by tloeainties and risk factors described througltastfiling and particularly under the
caption “Risk Factors” in this section. Our actregults may differ materially from these forwardking statements.

Description of Operating Segments

AMERCO has four reportable operating segmedits segments are Moving and Storage, PropertyCarstialty Insurance, Life Insurance
and SAC Holdings. (See Notes 1, 21 and 21A to tiesGlidated Financial Statements included in tlois1F10-K.)

Overall Strategy

Our overall strategy is to maintain our leatigp position in the North American “do-it-yourBahoving and storage industry. Our plan is
to provide a seamless and integrated supply cbatimet “do-it-yourself” moving and storage markes part of executing this plan, we
leverage the brand recognition of U-Haul with ault ine of moving and sel§torage related products and services and the n@mnee of ou
broad geographic presence.

Our primary focus is to provide our customeith a wide selection of moving rental equipmenvenient self-storage rental facilities
and related moving and self-storage products arvices. We are able to expand our distribution iamgrove customer service by increasing
the amount of moving equipment and storage rooragadle for rent, expanding the number of indepandealers in our network and
expanding and taking advantage of our growing eMmamabilities.

During fiscal 2004, RepWest decided to fotsisctivities on providing property and casualtgurance to U-Haul, its customers and its
independent dealers and affiliates. We believewtfillenable RepWest to focus its core competenaiesfinancial resources to better support
our overall strategy by exiting its non-U-Haul linef business.

Oxford’s business strategy is long-term cagjtowth through direct writing and reinsuringaofnuity, credit life and disability and
Medicare supplement products. Oxford is pursuing ghowth strategy of increased direct writing auisitions of insurance companies,
expanded distribution channels and product devedopm

Moving and Storage Operating Segment

Our Moving and Self-Storage Operating Segreensists of the rental of trucks, trailers and-stdrage spaces, and sales of moving
supplies, trailer hitches and propane to the “dgpiirself” mover. Operations are conducted underégistered trade name U-Haul®
throughout the United States and Canada.

With respect to our truck, trailer and setirage rental business, we are focused on expawndindealer network, which provides added
convenience for our customers and expanding tleeteh and availability of rental equipment to stithe needs of our customers.

With respect to our retail sales of proditstiaul has developed a number of specialty packmgs, “Mover’'s Wrap” and Smart Move
tape. Mover’s Wrap is a sticks-to-itself plastiesth wrap used to bind, bundle, and fasten itefmsrwnoving or storing. Additionally, U-
Haul has added a full line of Smart Move tape potsluSmart Move tape is a color coded packing thaehas the room printed right on it
allowing customers to tape and label their beloggiim one quick step.

eMove.com is an online marketplace that cotsneonsumers to over 5,000 independent custortext Moving Help and Self- Storage
service providers who provide pack and load hedfi;storage and more all over North America. A ph@iccess system to Moving Help was
launched in September 2004 and has already serwi@rdl 0,000 customers in less than six months.

eMove also offers a Storage Affiliate progrémat enables independent self-storage facilibesonnect into the eMove network. Affiliates
expand their reach by connecting into a movingstochge reservation
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system and for a fee receive an array of servitgdading web-based management software, savingssonance, credit card processing, and
more. Over 2,700 facilities are now registeredreéMove network.

With over 33,000 unedited reviews of senpeaviders, the eMove marketplace has facilitategk ®@0,000 moving and storage
transactions all over North America. We believe tiiing as an intermediary, with little added isiveent, serves the customer in a cost
effective manner. Our goal is to further utilizer eeeb-based technology platform to increase seta@®nsumers and businesses in the
moving and storage market.

Property and Casualty Insurance Operating Segment

RepWest provides loss adjusting and clainmsllieg for U-Haul through regional offices acrossrith America. RepWest also provides
components of the Safemove, Safetow and Safesttqtion packages to U-Haul customers. We contiadecus on increasing the
penetration of these products. The business plaRdpWest includes offering property and casualbgdpcts in other U-Haul related
programs. During fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 RepMg¢gemmuted numerous assumed reinsurance treatidisnioate the risk of further
development on these treaties as it exits non-U-biaginess.

Life Insurance Operating Segment

Oxford originates and reinsures annuitiesditdife and disability, single premium whole lifgroup life and disability coverage, and
Medicare supplement insurance. Oxford also adna@rsshe self-insured employee health and dentabglar AMERCO. Reinsurance
arrangements are entered into with unaffiliatedseiers.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The methods, estimates and judgments wenuaeplying our accounting policies can have a §iicarit impact on the results we report in
our financial statements, which we discuss undehtading “Results of Operations.” Some of our antiag policies require us to make
difficult and subjective judgments, often as a lesfithe need to make estimates of matters thetrdrerently uncertain. The accounting
estimates that require management’s most diffanitt subjective judgments include our principlesmfsolidation, the recoverability of
property, plant and equipment, the adequacy oframme reserves, and the recognition and measurehinpairments for investments
accounted for under SFAS No. 115. Below, we distlusse policies further, as well as the estimatels@gments involved. The estimates
are based on historical experience, observangemds in particular areas, information and valuetiavailable from outside sources and on
various other assumptions that are believed t@asanable under the circumstances and which fagrbdhkis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities thatreoereadily apparent from other sources. Actual am®may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions and conditions. Such diffeesrmay be material.

Accounting policies are considered criticélen they are significant and involve difficult, gedtive or complex judgments or estimates.
We also have other policies that we consider kepuating policies, such as revenue recognition;dwms, these policies do not meet the
definition of critical accounting estimates, beaatlsey do not generally require us to make estisnatgudgments that are difficult or
subjective. The accounting policies that we deerstrogtical to us, and involve the most difficidybjective or complex judgments include
the following:

Principles of Consolidation

The 2005 consolidated financial statementstha 2004 balance sheet include the accounts dER®0O, its wholly owned subsidiaries,
and SAC Holding Il Corporation and its subsidiafé&AC Holding II"). The 2004 statements of opeasis, comprehensive income, and cash
flows, and the consolidated financial statementsisgal 2003 and fiscal 2002 include all of thesgities plus SAC Holding Corporation and
its subsidiaries.
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In fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, SAC Holdingrforation and SAC Holding Il (together, “SAC Halds") were considered special purpt
entities and were consolidated based on the pmndsdf Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) IssuedQel5. For fiscal 2003, AMERCO
reported consolidated revenue of $216.8 millionetloss of $8.7 million, assets of $990 millionddiabilities and shareholder’s equity
(deficit) of $1,035.1 million and ($45.1) millionespectively, for SAC Holdings and their subsidiari

In fiscal 2004, the Company applied Finanbiérpretation No. 46(R) to its interests in SAGI#Hngs. Initially, the Company concluded
that the SAC entities were variable interest esgi(\VIE’s) and that the Company was the primaryelieiary. Accordingly, the Company
continued to include SAC Holdings entities in it;solidated financial statements.

Under the provisions of FIN 46(R), certairacbes in the operations of a variable interestyeatiits relationship with the primary
beneficiary constitute a re-determination event imglire a reassessment of the variable intereitaohasis of the most current facts and
circumstances to determine whether or not a comaayariable interest entity, which other comgahjave a variable interest in the
variable interest entity and whether or not theorépg company’s variable interest in such variahterest entity make it the primary
beneficiary. These determinations andletderminations require that assumptions be madstimate the value of the entity and a judgmer
made as to whether or not the entity has the filmhstrength to fund its own operations and exedstbusiness plan without the subordinated
financial support of another company.

In February, 2004, SAC Holding Corporatiostractured the indebtedness of three subsidianégsten distributed its interest in those
subsidiaries to its sole shareholder. This trigdereequirement to reassess AMERCOQO's involvemetit thiose subsidiaries, which led to the
conclusion that based on then existing currentractial and ownership interests between AMERCOthiscentity, AMERCO ceased to
have a variable interest in those three subsidiai¢hat date.

Separately, in March 2004, SAC Holding Coagtimn restructured its indebtedness, triggeringrélar reassessment of SAC Holding
Corporation that led to the conclusion that SACdiay Corporation was not a VIE and that AMERCO eekit® be the primary beneficiary
SAC Holding Corporation and its remaining subsidisrbased on SAC Holding Corporation’s abilityfuad its own operations and execute
its business plan without any future subordinabedrfcial support.

Accordingly, at the dates AMERCO ceased teehavariable interest and ceased to be the pritvemgficiary, it deconsolidated those
entities. The deconsolidation was accounted far distribution of AMERCOQO's interests to the sola#holder of the SAC entities. Because
of AMERCOQO's continuing involvement with SAC Holdir@orporation and its current and former subsiditiee distributions do not qualify
as discontinued operations as defined by SFAS Hib. 1

It is possible that SAC Holding Corporatiautd take actions that would require us to re-aetee whether SAC Holding Corporation
was a VIE or whether we have become the primargfigary of SAC Holding Corporation. Should thiscoe, we could be required to re-
consolidate some or all of SAC Holding Corporatiith our financial statements.

Similarly, SAC Holding Il Corporation couldke actions that would require us to re-determihether it is a VIE or whether we continue
to be the primary beneficiary of our variable ietgrin SAC Holding 1l Corporation. Should we cetsee the primary beneficiary, we would
be required to de-consolidate some or all of ouviabéde interest in SAC Holding Il Corporation fromur financial statements.

Recoverability of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated st doterest cost incurred during the initial constion of buildings and rental equipment is
considered part of cost. Depreciation is computedifiancial reporting purposes principally usihg straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives: rental equipment 2-20 yaadsbuildings and non-rental equipmeriyears. Major overhauls to rental equipmen
capitalized and are amortized over the estimatedgéenefited. Routine maintenance costs are elgiaigyoperating expense as they are
incurred. Gains and losses on dispositions of ptgpplant and equipment are
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netted against depreciation expense when realixegkeciation is recognized in amounts expecteddalt in the recovery of estimated
residual values upon disposal, i.e., no gains ssds. During the first quarter of fiscal year 2a88, Company lowered its estimates for
residual values on new rental trucks and rentaksypurchased off TRAC leases from 25% of the pabcost to 20%. In determining the
depreciation rate, historical disposal experiehodding periods and trends in the market for vedsdre reviewed.

We regularly perform reviews to determine thiee facts and circumstances exist which indidaa the carrying amount of assets,
including estimates of residual value, may notdmoverable or that the useful life of assets istehor longer than originally estimated.
Reductions in residual values (i.e., the price laictvwe ultimately expect to dispose of revenuaiegrequipment) or useful lives will result
in an increase in depreciation expense over thefithe equipment. Reviews are performed basebicle class, generally subcategories of
trucks and trailers. We assess the recoverabilitheocost of our assets by comparing the projeatetiscounted net cash flows associated
with the related asset or group of assets over #8stimated remaining lives against their respeatarrying amounts. We consider factors
such as current and expected future market prcels on used vehicles and the expected life otlezhincluded in the fleet. Impairment, if
any, is based on the excess of the carrying amauertthe fair value of those assets. If the remairiost of assets is determined to be
recoverable, but the useful lives are shorter ngéo than originally estimated, the net book vaiftithe assets is depreciated over the newly
determined remaining useful lives.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal year 20B&sed on an economic market analysis, the Comgieangased the estimated residual value
of certain rental trucks. The effect of the chadgereased pre-tax income for fiscal 2005 by $2lliami The in-house analysis of sales of
trucks compared the truck model, size, age andageeresidual value of units sold. Based on theyaizlthe estimated residual values are
decreased to approximately 20% of historic cose atljustment reflects management’s best estimasedoon information available, of the
estimated residual value of these rental trucks.

Insurance Reserves

Liabilities for life insurance and certainnaiity policies are established to meet the estichhtture obligations of policies in force, and
based on mortality and withdrawal assumptions freaognized actuarial tables which contain margimsaflverse deviation. Liabilities for
annuity contracts consist of contract account lidarthat accrue to the benefit of the policyholdexsluding surrender values. Liabilities for
health, disability and other policies representsreges of payments to be made on insurance clinreported losses and estimates of losses
incurred, but not yet reported. Insurance resefweRepWest and U-Haul International, Inc. tak@iatcount losses incurred based upon
actuarial estimates in which third party actuagegorm a separate analysis of our reserves omamahbasis for reasonableness. These
estimates are based on past claims experienceuarghtclaim trends as well as social and econ@miditions such as changes in legal
theories and inflation. Due to the nature of ungded risks and the high degree of uncertainty assed with the determination of the liability
for future policy benefits and claims, the amounotbe ultimately paid to settle liabilities canmhat precisely determined and may vary
significantly from the estimated liability.

A consequence of the long tail nature ofghsumed reinsurance and the excess workers contipansees of insurance that were written
by Republic Western is that it takes a number afydor claims to be fully reported and finallytksdt. Also, the severity of the commercial
transportation and the commercial multiple perdgrams can fluctuate unexpectedly. During 20042008 these lines experienced an
increase in claim severity that was materiallyefiéint than the previous year’s actuarial estimation

Investments

For investments accounted for under SFASING, in determining if and when a decline in markadtie below amortized cost is other
than temporary, quoted market prices, dealer quatdsscounted cash flows are reviewed. Other-tieamporary declines in value are
recognized in the current period operating regualthe extent of the decline.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On June 1, 2005, the Financial Accounting&sads Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Finan&izdounting Standards No. 154,
“Accounting Changes and Error Corrections (“SFAS N&4"), a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, “Aaoting Changes” and FASB
Statement No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changesiterim Financial Statements.” SFAS No. 154 appglieasll voluntary changes in
accounting principle and changes the requirementadcounting for and reporting a change in acdogrgrinciple. SFAS No. 154 requires
the retrospective application to prior periodsafitial statements of the direct effect of a volontdhange in accounting principle unless it is
impracticable. APB No. 20 required that most volumtchanges in accounting principle be recognizemhtluding in net income of the peri
of the change the cumulative effect of changinthéonew accounting principle. Unless early adopisoglected, SFAS No. 154 is effective
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005lyEzatoption is permitted for fiscal years beginnaftgr June 1, 2005. SFAS No. 154 does
not change the transition provisions of any exgstcounting pronouncements, including those tifeairaa transition phase as of the effec
date of this statement. We do not believe thaatteption of SFAS No. 154 will have a material effec our results of operations or financial
position.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Stateofd-inancial Accounting Standards No. 123 (regi2004), “Share-Based
Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R"). SFAS No. 123R is a seMi of FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for&dBased Compensation” and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for gtlesued to Employees,” and its related impleméntaguidance. SFAS No. 123R
requires companies to measure and recognize compamexpense for all stock-based payments av#dire. Stock-based payments include
stock option grants. SFAS No. 123R is effectivegoblic companies for annual periods beginningraftme 15, 2005. Early adoption is
encouraged and retroactive application of the giows of SFAS No. 123R to the beginning of thedigear that includes the effective dat
permitted, but not required. We do not believe thatadoption of SFAS No. 123R will have a matesiéct on our results of operations or
financial position.

On November 24, 2004, the FASB issued Statéwfa-inancial Accounting Standards No. 151 “Inteeyp Costs — an amendment of
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (“SFAS No. 151") effectiverffiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. Btégement amends the guidance in
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to digrthe accounting for abnormal amounts of idleilfacexpense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted material (spoilage). SFAS No. 151 reguhat those items be recognized as current-pehiayes. In addition, this Statement
requires that allocation of fixed production oveatie to the costs of conversion be based on theat@apacity of the production facilities.
We do not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. Wllhave a material effect on our results of gigms or financial position.
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Results of Operations
AMERCO and Consolidated Entities
Fiscal 2005 Compared with Fiscal 20(
Listed below on a consolidated basis aremees for our major product lines for fiscal 2008 fiscal 2004:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004
(In thousands)

Selfmoving equipment renta $ 1,437,89! $ 1,381,20
Self-storage revenue 114,15! 247,64(
Selfmoving and se-storage product and service s¢ 206,09¢ 232,96!
Property management fe 11,83¢ 25¢€
Life insurance premium 126,23t 145,08.
Property and casualty insurance premit 24,981 92,03¢
Net investment and interest incol 56,73¢ 38,28:
Other revenu 30,172 38,521
Consolidated revent $ 2,008,12: $ 2,175,99

During fiscal 2005, we built our moving eguoient rentals through steady transaction volume asiogrice increases and improved mix.
Reported storage revenues were reduced $109.2mlf a result of the deconsolidation of SAC Ha@dDorporation in fiscal 2004 and were
reduced $29.7 million as a result of the W.P. Can@nsactions (see footnote 9 for a more detailsclidsion of the W.P. Carey
Transactions). Seltorage revenues from remaining properties greavrasult of an increase in the number of roomdaliai for rent, highe
occupancy rates and modest price increases. Satlesving and self storage related products andicesvollowed our growth in self-moving
equipment rentals, net of the reduction of appraxety $36 million resulting from the deconsolidatiof SAC Holding Corporation. Property
management fees increased $10.1 million as a rektile deconsolidation of SAC Holding Corporatamd increased $1.4 million as a result
of the W.P. Carey Transactions.

RepWest continued to exit nonHaul related lines of business and as a resulpy@mium revenues declined approximately $67.0iani
Oxford’s premium revenues declined approximately $18.Bamiprimarily as a result of the lingering effecikits rating downgrade by A. I
Best in 2003.

Net investment and interest income incregsdarily as a result of the deconsolidation of SA@lding Corporation and decreased
primarily as a result of reduced loans with SAC diiogs.

As a result of the items mentioned aboveeneres for AMERCO and its consolidated entities vi&:@®08.1 million for fiscal 2005,
compared with $2,176.0 million for fiscal 2004.

Total costs and expenses fell by $208.0 omilis a result of productivity initiatives at U-Hiathe effect of the W. P. Carey Transactions
and the deconsolidation of SAC Holding Corporatibhe decrease in total costs and expenses waallyaoffset by payroll and benefit
inflation, $4.4 million of self-moving equipment pairment charges related to a lease buy-out, $2libmof additional depreciation expense
related to lower residual value assumptions, aightion settlement costs of $10.6 million at Oxfonet of insurance recoveries. Benefits and
losses fell as a result of lower premium revenuédepWest and Oxford. Benefits and losses incliggdoximately $9.5 million as a resull
hurricane related losses at RepWest. The abserrestaficturing costs in fiscal 2005 contributedioier costs and expenses compared with
fiscal 2004.

As a result of the above mentioned changesvienues and expenses, earnings from operatigreved 31.6% to $167.0 million in fiscal
2005 compared with $126.9 million for fiscal 2004.
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Listed below are revenues and earnings frperations at each of our four operating segmemtBsical 2005 and fiscal 2004:
Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004

Moving and storag

Revenue! $ 1,791,66 $ 1,768,87

Earnings from operatior 165,98! 93,59:
Property and casualty insurar

Revenue! 41,41 114,94:

Earnings from operatior (14,819 (35,95()
Life insurance

Revenue! 159,48 177,81.

Earnings from operatior 2,06t 11,25
SAC Holdings

Revenue! 43,17: 218,95!

Earnings from operatior 10,46¢ 64,69:
Eliminations

Revenue! (27,619 (104,58¢)

Earnings from operatior 3,294 (6,679
Consolidated Resul

Revenue! 2,008,12: 2,175,99.

Earnings from operatior 166,99¢ 126,91!

Interest expense for fiscal 2005 was $731#anj compared with $121.7 million in fiscal 2004ower interest expense in fiscal 2005
reflects the deconsolidation of SAC Holding Corpiona, lower borrowings and a lower cost of borroguin

Litigation proceeds, net of fees and costsuiting from the settlement of litigation with dermer auditors were $51.3 million in fiscal
2005.

Income tax expense was $55.7 million in fi05 compared with $8.1 million in fiscal 2004dareflects our higher pretax earnings for
fiscal 2005, net of an increase in tax in fiscad20f $4.8 million resulting from our settlementhvthe IRS for tax audits related to 1996 and
1997.

Dividends accrued on our Series A prefertediswere $13.0 million in fiscal 2005, unchangeahi fiscal 2004.

As a result of the above mentioned itemsgaetings available to common shareholders improw&¥6.5 million in fiscal 2005,
compared with a net loss of $15.8 million in fis2@D4. Fiscal 2005 results included non-recurritigdtion proceeds of $51.3 million pretax,
while last year's results included non-recurringtmecturing charges of $44.1 million pretax.

The weighted average number of basic andedilshares outstanding were 20,804,773 in fiscdb 20d were 20,749,998 in fiscal 2004.
Basic and diluted earnings per share in fi2685 were $3.68 per share, compared with a sstper share of $0.76 for the same period
last year.
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Fiscal 2004 Compared With Fiscal 2003
Listed below on a consolidated basis aremags for our major product lines for fiscal 2004 discal 2003:

Year Ended March 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Self-moving equipment renta $ 1,381,20: $ 1,293,73
Self-storage revenue 247,64( 238,93
Selfmoving and se-storage product and service s 232,96! 223,67
Property management fe 25¢ 89
Life insurance premiurr 145,08: 158,71
Property and casualty insurance premi 92,03¢ 149,20t
Net investment and interest incol 38,28: 40,73:
Other revenu 38,52 36,25:

Consolidated revent $ 2,175,99 $ 2,141,34

During fiscal 2004 we built our self-movingwepment rentals through steady transaction volipriee increases and improved mix. Self-
storage revenues were driven by an increase inuhwer of rooms available for rent, higher occuganates and modest price increases.
Sales of moving and self storage related produadssarvices followed our growth in self-moving gauent rentals.

RepWest began to exit non U-Haul relatedslioEbusiness and as a result, its premium revetheged approximately $57.2 million.
Oxford’s premium revenues declined approximatel.6Inillion, primarily as a result of the effectsits rating downgrade by A.M. Best in
2003.

As a result of the items mentioned aboveeneres for AMERCO and its consolidated entities vi&:@76.0 million for fiscal 2004,
compared with $2,141.3 million for fiscal 2003.

Total costs and expenses rose $16.9 miliidiscal 2004, compared with fiscal 2003.

Increases in expenses were primarily drivepdyroll and benefit inflation and $37.5 milliohadditional restructuring costs. Benefits
losses fell as a result of fewer outstanding peticit RepWest and Oxford, and increased as a oéaadiverse development and reserve
strengthening at RepWest. Expenses fell as a repibductivity initiatives at U-Haul and downsigj activities at RepWest and Oxford.

As a result of the above mentioned changesvienues and expenses, earnings from operatigreved 16.2% to $126.9 million in fiscal
2004, compared with $109.2 million for fiscal 2003.
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Listed below are earnings from operationsaath of our four operating segments for fiscal 280d fiscal 2003:

Year Ended March 31,

2004 2003

Moving and storag

Revenue! $ 1,768,87. $ 1,649,68

Earnings from operatior 93,59: 68,86
Property and casualty insurar

Revenue! 114,94: 174,93t

Earnings from operatior (35,950) (7,989
Life insurance

Revenue! 177,81. 183,22(

Earnings from operatior 11,25: (1,42¢)
SAC Holdings

Revenue! 218,95! 216,79!

Earnings from operatior 64,69 68,77¢
Eliminations

Revenue! (104,58¢) (83,290

Earnings from operatior (6,679 (29,019
Consolidated Resul

Revenue! 2,175,99 2,141,34.

Earnings from operatior 126,91! 109,21(

Interest expense for fiscal 2004 was $121illfom, compared with $148.1 million in fiscal 2008igher interest expense in fiscal 2003
included payments of $26.5 million for the earlynénation of BBAT's.

Income tax expense was $8.1 million in fis2@04 compared with a benefit of $13.9 millionischl 2003 and reflects our stronger pretax
earnings for fiscal 2004 and an additional $4.8iamliresulting from our settlement with the IRS faex audits related to 1996 and 1997.

Dividends accrued on our Series A prefertediswere $13.0 million in fiscal 2004, unchangeahi fiscal 2003.

As a result of the above mentioned items gaenings available to common shareholders wert s of $15.8 million in fiscal 2004,
including non-recurring restructuring costs of $4dillion, pre-tax, compared with a net loss of &illion in fiscal 2003.

The weighted average number of basic andedilshares outstanding were 20,749,998 in fisdadl 20d were 20,824,618 in fiscal 2003.
Basic and diluted earnings per share in fi2684 were a net loss per share of $0.76, compaithda net loss per share of $1.82 for fiscal
2003.
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Moving and Storage
Fiscal 2005 Compared with Fiscal 20(
Listed below are revenues for the major pobvdines at our Moving and Storage operating segrferfiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004
(In thousands)

Selfmoving equipment renta $ 1,437,89! $ 1,381,20
Self-storage revenue 96,20: 121,20«
Selfmoving and se-storage product and service s¢ 191,07¢ 182,38t
Property management fe 14,43 12,97
Net investment and interest incol 29,90z 38,45¢
Other revenu 22,15¢ 32,63¢
Segment revent $ 1,791,66 $ 1,768,87

During fiscal 2005 we built our self-movingwepment rentals through steady transaction volunaest price increases and improved
mix. Reported self-storage revenues were reduc@d $gillion as a result of the W.P. Carey Transarti(see footnote 9 for a more detailed
discussion of the W.P. Carey Transactions). Selfagle revenues from remaining properties grewrasut of an increase in the number of
rooms available for rent, higher occupancy ratesrandest price increases. Sales of moving andgetige related products and services
followed our growth in self-moving equipment restaiet of the reduction of approximately $36.0 imnllresulting from the deconsolidation
of SAC Holding Corporation. Property managemens fieereased $1.4 million as a result of the W.ReZdransactions.

We continued to exercise tight controls aagpenses, with total costs and expenses decreddmg million, or 2.0% in fiscal 2005
compared with fiscal 2004. Expenses fell as a teduhe absence of restructuring charges, proditicinitiatives throughout U-Haul and the
effect of the W. P. Carey Transaction. Expensesased as a result of payroll and benefit inflatiiging repair and maintenance costs,
$4.4 million of self-moving equipment impairmentaches related to a lease buy-out and $2.1 millfeadditional depreciation expense
related to lower residual value assumptions.

As a result of the above mentioned changesvienues and expenses, earnings from operatioreased 77.4% to $166.0 million in fiscal
2005 compared with $93.6 million for fiscal 2004.

Fiscal 2004 Compared with Fiscal 20(

Listed below are revenues for our major pobdines at our Moving and Storage operating segrwerfiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003:

Year Ended March 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)
Self-moving equipment renta $ 1,381,20: $ 1,293,73
Self-storage revenue 121,20« 112,75!
Selfmoving and se-storage product and service se 182,38t 174,90¢
Property management fe 12,97 12,43:
Net investment and interest incol 38,45¢ 41,21:
Other revenu 32,63¢ 14,64t
Segment revent $ 1,768,87. $ 1,649,68

22




Table of Contents

During fiscal 2004 we built our self-movingwepment rentals through steady transaction volipriee increases and improved mix. Self-
storage revenues were driven by an increase inthwer of rooms available for rent, higher occuganates and modest price increases.
Sales of moving and self storage related produadssarvices followed our growth in moving equipmearttal revenues.

Although we continued to exercise tight colstiover spending, total costs and expenses irenebl.2 million, or 5.2% in fiscal 2004
compared with fiscal 2003. Operating expenses aszé $37.5 million as a result of higher restrigucosts. Also, payroll and benefit
inflation and rising repair and maintenance coetgributed to higher costs.

As a result of the above mentioned changesvienues and expenses, earnings from operatigrewed 35.8% to $93.6 million in fiscal
2004 compared with $68.9 million for fiscal 2003.
U-Haul International, Inc.

Fiscal 2005 Compared with Fiscal 20(

Listed below are revenues for the major pobdines at U-Haul International, Inc. for fiscald@ and fiscal 2004:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004
(In thousands)

Selfmoving equipment renta $ 1,437,89! $ 1,380,99
Self-storage revenue 94,43: 118,33!
Selfmoving and se-storage product and service s 191,07¢ 182,32
Property management fe 14,43 12,97
Net investment and interest incol 22,03( 21,50¢
Other revenu 27,48¢ 35,58(

Segment revent $ 1,787,35 $ 1,751,71

During fiscal 2005 we built our self-movingwepment rentals through steady transaction volunaest price increases and improved
mix. Reported self-storage revenues were reduc@d $gillion as a result of the W.P. Carey Transardi Self-storage revenues grew as a
result of an increase in the number of rooms alvkgléor rent, higher occupancy rates and modesepricreases. Property management fees
increased $1.4 million as a result of the W.P. ¢dmansactions. Sales of moving and self storalgee® products and services followed our
growth in moving equipment rental revenues.

Although we continued to exercise tight colgover spending, total costs and expenses ireek®5.7 million, or 2.2% in fiscal 2005,
compared with fiscal 2004. Operating expensesateh result of productivity initiatives throughadiHaul and the affect of the W. P. Carey
Transactions. Operating expenses increased aslaaggepayroll and benefit inflation, rising repand maintenance costs, $4.4 million of self-
moving equipment impairment charges related tasdduy-out and $2.1 million of additional depréciaexpense related to lower residual
value assumptions.

As a result of the above mentioned changesvienues and expenses, earnings from operatioraired constant at $140.5 million in
fiscal 2005 and 2004.
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Fiscal 2004 Compared with Fiscal 2003
Listed below are revenues for the major pobdines at U-Haul International, Inc. for fiscdd@ and fiscal 2003:

Year Ended March 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Self-moving equipment renta $ 1,380,99. $ 1,293,68
Self-storage revenue 118,33! 109,98!
Selfmoving and se-storage product and service s¢ 182,32 174,85:
Property management fe 12,97 12,43:
Net investment and interest incol 21,50¢ 29,35¢
Other revenu 35,58( 18,37¢

Segment revent $ 1,751,71, $ 1,638,69

During fiscal 2004 we built our self-movingwepment rentals through steady transaction volipriee increases and improved mix. Self-
storage revenues were driven by an increase inuhwer of rooms available for rent, higher occuganates and modest price increases.
Sales of moving and self storage related produadssarvices followed our growth in moving equipminrttals.

Although we continued to exercise tight colgover spending, total costs and expenses irexedd3.6 million, or 2.8% in fiscal 2004
compared with fiscal 2003. Operating expenses &s&é as a result of payroll and benefit inflatiod &sing repair and maintenance costs.
Operating expenses fell as a result of productivittyatives throughout U-Haul.

As a result of the above mentioned changesvienues and expenses, earnings from operatigreved 97.9% to $140.5 million in fiscal
2004 compared with $71.0 million for fiscal 2003.

Republic Western Insurance Company
2004 Compared with 2003

Premium revenues were $25.0 million and $83IRon for the years ended December 31, 200420@8B, respectively. The overall
decrease is due to the Company'’s exiting linesassbciated with the Self-Storage or Self-Movingustdes. Self-Storage and Self-Moving
industry premiums were $18.9 million and $23.6 imilfor 2004 and 2003, respectively. The decresseresult of the company being under
supervision and its “C”, rating which resulted awker writings on non-U-Haul self storage busin€ther lines of business were $6.1 million
and $69.6 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Net investment income was $16.4 million a@d.$ million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Thduction was due to a decrease in the
Company’s invested asset base.

Benefits and losses incurred were $39.7 anilind $109.4 million for 2004 and 2003, respebtivEhe decreases resulted from reduced
earned premiums resulting from RepWest's decisioexit its non-U-Haul lines, which was offset b flosses from the Florida hurricanes
and additional reserves added to the long-tailednams.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costssv§a.7 million and $14.1 million for 2004 and 208&spectively. The decrease is due to
decreased premium writings.

Operating expenses were $11.8 million and4&illion for 2004 and 2003, respectively. The @ase was due to decreased
commissions, as well as, a reduction of generaliridtrative expenses due to the exit of the non-&idHines.

Pretax losses from operations were $14.8anitkind $36.0 million for 2004 and 2003, respedyivEhe loss in 2004 was the result of
approximately $9.5 million in incurred losses aathted expenses resulting from
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the hurricanes that hit the Southeastern UnitetbSia the summer and fall of 2004, as well astaadtil reserves recorded for the Company’
cancelled lines of business.

2003 Compared with 20C

Premium revenues were $93.2 million and $a 5dllion for the years ended December 31, 20032402, respectively. The overall
decrease is due to the Company’s exiting all Im#sassociated with the Self-Storage or Self-Movirdystries. Self-Storage and Self-
Moving industry premiums were $23.6 million and &3illion for 2003 and 2002, respectively. The@@se is a result of a change in the
structure of the U-Haul business to deductible/selfired arrangements. Other lines of business $&9¢ million and $120.5 million for
2003 and 2002, respectively.

Net investment income was $21.7 million a2@.8 million for 2003 and 2002 respectively.

Benefits and losses incurred were $109.4onithind $128.7 million for 2003 and 2002, respedyivThe decrease resulted from reduced
earned premiums resulting from RepWest's decisioexit its non Self-Storage and Self-Moving linefich was offset by the additional
reserves added to the non Self-Storage and Selfagdines that were exited.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costssvd 4.1 million and $17.1 million for 2003 and 2062spectively. The decrease was due to
decreased premium writings.

Operating expenses were $27.4 million andB8&llion for 2003 and 2002, respectively. The @ase was due to decreased
commissions, as well as, a reduction of generalgidtrative expenses due to the exit of the nof-Selrage and non Self-Moving lines.

Pretax losses from operations were $36.0anikind $8.0 million for the year ended December2BD3 and 2002, respectively. The
increase in losses in 2003 was due to the additresarves that were recorded for business liretswre terminated.

The provision for unpaid losses and loss stdjent expenses (net of reinsurance recoverie$G.4 million) for insured events in prior
years increased by $53.1 million in calendar 200 adjustment related to prior years is primaasgociated with two developments in 2(
The first is associated with the long tail natuf¢he assumed reinsurance and excess workers ceatpanlines, two lines that were
previously written by Republic Western. Claims asated with these lines take numerous years tailhereported and finally settled. During
2003, these programs were evaluated and additiesaives were recorded to account for unanticipatedoreviously unknown increases in
medical and other costs that are likely to occiorgo the ultimate settlement. The second develmtrwas the unexpected severity in
Republic Western’s commercial transportation andrmoercial multiple peril programs. Both of theseeBrexperienced increased claim
severity during 2003 that had a negative effedth@?003 actuarial estimations. The increased caiverity was not known in prior years .
thus was not reflected in previous actuarial caltahs.
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The following table illustrates the changainpaid loss and loss adjustment expenses. Thdifiesrepresents reserves as originally
reported at the end of the stated year. The sesectibn, reading down, represents cumulative ansquaitl as of the end of successive years
with respect to that reserve. The third sectioadireg down, represents revised estimates of tlygnatirecorded reserve as of the end of
successive years. The last section compares #=t lavised estimated reserve amount to the resemeent as originally established. This
section is cumulative and should not be summed.

Unpaid Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

December 31
1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
(In thousands)

Unpaid Loss and Loss Adjustment

Expense: $329,74: $341,98: $332,67: $384,81¢ $ 344,74¢ $ 334,85¢ $ 382,65 $448,98 $ 399,44° $416,25¢ $380,87!
Paid (Cumulative) as o
One year late 86,79¢ 89,041 89,33t 103,75: 82,93¢ 117,02! 130,47: 130,07 100,85: 73,38¢
Two years late 139,247 150,00: 161,61: 174,86° 164,31t 186,19: 203,60! 209,52! 164,25!
Three years late 173,78° 195,85! 208,16( 216,96¢ 218,81¢ 232,88: 255,99t  266,48:
Four years late 198,43: 226,81! 232,72t 246,81¢ 255,13: 264,51 299,68:
Five years late 219,42¢ 243,85! 250,31: 269,42 274,81¢ 295,99°
Six years late 231,44 254,20: 263,64! 282,59¢ 297,35
Seven years late 237,11¢ 264,12( 274,24¢ 300,81«
Eight years late 242,45( 273,20 289,61«
Nine years late 250,47¢ 286,70t
Ten years late 263,09!
Reserve Reestimated as
One year late 338,03: 353,50¢ 354,77t 357,730 339,60: 377,09¢ 433,22  454,51( 471,02¢ 447,52
Two years late 340,73: 369,85. 342,16: 361,30t 371,43: 432,71« 454,92¢  523,62: 508,18(
Three years late 349,45¢ 328,44! 346,57¢ 369,59¢ 429,16( 437,71. 517,36. 545,83t
Four years late 302,80¢ 331,897 349,81( 398,89¢ 413,47t 480,20( 533,06°
Five years late 300,18( 339,66! 376,14. 398,18: 443,69t 489,38«
Six years late 307,30t 347,66: 369,32( 428,03: 456,79
Seven years late 332,76: 344,45. 396,19 435,97.
Eight years late 311,68: 360,14¢ 397,36.
Nine years late 323,24: 362,36
Ten years late 325,69(
Cumulative Redundancy (Deficienc $ 4,051 $(20,38¢) $(64,689) $(51,15¢ $(112,049) $(154,52¢) $(150,41() $(96,849) $(108,73) $(31,26%)
Retro Premium Recoverak 87¢ 622 1,582 3,037 (1,879 6,791 5,612 21,75¢ 7,03¢€ 374
Reestimated Reserv
Amount (Cumulative $ 4,92¢ $(19,765 $(63,107) $(48,119 $(113,92¢) $(147,729) $(144,80)) $(75,097) $(101,69) $(30,89’)
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Activity in the liability for unpaid lossesd loss adjustment expenses for RepWest is sumadaaiz follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Balance at January $ 416,25¢ $ 399,44 $ 448,98

Less reinsurance recovera 177,63! 146,62: 128,04
Net balance at January 238,62 252,82! 320,94:
Incurred related tc

Current yea 17,96( 56,45« 112,28

Prior years 21,77 53,12; 16,39¢
Total incurrec 39,73 109,58: 128,68
Paid related tc

Current yea 13,57( 22,93 66,72¢

Prior years 73,38¢ 100,85: 130,07(
Total paid 86,95 123,78 196,79t
Net balance at December 191,40 238,62 252,82!

Plus reinsurance recoveral 189,47: 177,63! 146,62:
Balance at December : $ 380,87! $ 416,25¢ $ 399,44

The liability for incurred losses and losguatinent expenses (net of reinsurance recover#lfi£89.5 million) increased by $21.8 million
in fiscal 2004. The increase is a result of adddiaeserves being added for RepWest's liabilitiieg are long term in nature.

Oxford Life Insurance Company
2004 Compared with 2003

Net premiums were $127.7 million, $147.8 ioillfor the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2688ectively. Medicare supplement
premiums decreased by $8.2 million from 2003 dueapses on closed lines being greater than newessiwritten on active lines. Credit
insurance premiums decreased $6.9 million from 2088to fewer accounts resulting from the ratingnigrade by A.M. Best. Life, other
health, and annuity premiums decreased $5.0 millimm 2003 primarily from reduced life insurancéesaand fewer annuitizations.

Net investment income was $23.5 million at@.9 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Benefits incurred were $91.5 million and $B0@illion for 2004 and 2003, respectively. Medeaupplement benefits decreased
$5.8 million from 2003 due primarily to reduced egpre. Credit insurance benefits decreased $2l®mitom 2003 due to reduced expos
and improved disability experience. Life insurabemefits decreased $3.6 million from 2003 as neswrlass declined and existing exposure
decreased. All other lines had increases of $0liomfrom 2003.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costsA@) and the value of business acquired (VOBA) w23.8 million and $25.0 million for
2004 and 2003, respectively. These costs are aadrtor life and health policies as the premiureamed over the term of the policy; and
deferred annuities in relation to interest spreAasuity amortization increased $0.8 million fro(B primarily due to increased surrender
activity. Other segments, primarily credit, had@eses of $2.0 million from 2003 due to decreasad Iousiness volume.

Operating expenses were $42.2 million and%8&8llion for 2004 and 2003, respectively. The $lillion accrual related to the Kocher
settlement, net of insurance recoveries, accouotettie majority
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of the variance. Non-deferrable commissions haeeedsed $5.5 million from 2003 primarily due to iased sales of Medicare supplement
and life products.

Earnings from operations were $2.1 million &11.3 million for 2004 and 2003, respectivelyeTtecrease in 2004 from 2003 is due
primarily to the $10.6 million accrual for the Kaahsettlement offset by improved investment incoamg positive loss experience in the
Medicare supplement and Credit insurance segments.

2003 Compared with 20C

Net premiums were $147.8 million and $161illion for 2003 and 2002, respectively. Medicar@giement premiums decreased by
$3.5 million from 2002. Life Insurance premiums dised $4.1 million from 2002. Credit life and didisy premiums decreased $4.8 milli
from 2002 due to account cancellations and decdgaseetration. Other health and annuity premiuncsedesed $1.3 million from 2002
primarily from reduced life insurance sales.

Net investment income was $19.0 million at8.9 million for 2003 and 2002, respectively. Therease from 2002 is due to fewer
capital losses and fewer limited partnership losdts®t by a lower invested asset base and redededestment rates.

Benefits incurred were $103.5 million and $Blmillion for 2003 and 2002, respectively. Medeaupplement benefits decreased
$6.5 million from 2002 primarily due to decreasega@sure and improved experience. Credit insurapeefits decreased $2.3 million from
2002 due to reduced exposure. Benefits from otheltln lines increased $0.3 million from 2002 duentweased morbidity. Annuity and life
benefits decreased $3.6 million from 2002 due wekeses in life insurance exposure.

Amortization of deferred acquisition costsN©) and the value of business acquired (VOBA) w25.@ million and $20.5 million for
2003 and 2002, respectively. These costs are aadrfor life and health policies as the premiuramed over the term of the policy; and
deferred annuities in relation to interest spreadsortization associated with annuity policies eased $6.4 million from 2002 primarily due
to increased surrender activity. Other segmenteedsed $1.9 million from 2002 due to decreasedmesiness volume.

Operating expenses were $38.1 million and%48llion for 2003 and 2002, respectively. Comriuas decreased $4.1 million from 2002
primarily due to decreases in new business. Geaadhhdministrative expenses decreased $6.3 mftigon 2002.

Earnings/(losses) from operations were $idilBon and ($1.4) million for 2003 and 2002, respreely. The increase from 2002 is due
primarily from fewer other than temporary declimeshe investment portfolio and improved loss raiio the Medicare supplement segment.
SAC Holdings

Fiscal 2005 Compared with Fiscal 20(

Listed below are revenues for our major pobdines at SAC Holdings for fiscal 2005 and fis2abD4:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004
(In thousands)
Self-moving renta $ 9,00¢ $ 29,15¢
Self-storage rente 17,95: 126,43t
Selfmoving and se-storage product and service se 15,02( 50,573
Other revenu 1,191 12,78
Segment revent $ 43,17. $ 218,95
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During March 2004, SAC Holding Corporatiorased to be a variable interest entity and AMERC&sed being the primary beneficiary
of SAC Holding Corporation. As a result of this, ARCO deconsolidated its interests in SAC HoldingpBaation at that time. AMERCO
remains the primary beneficiary of its contractuaiiable interests in SAC Holding Il Corporation fiscal 2005 and 2004.

Revenues for fiscal 2005 fell $175.8 milligmimarily as a result of the above mentioned deobdation.

Total costs and expenses were $32.7 milhdiscal 2005, compared with $154.3 million in 8@004. Total costs and expenses fell
$121.6 million, primarily as a result of the abawentioned deconsolidation.

Earnings from operations were $10.5 milliodiscal 2005 compared with $64.7 million in fis@4l04. Earnings from operations fell
$54.2 million in fiscal 2005 compared with fisc&l@, primarily as a result of the above mentionecbtsolidation.

Fiscal 2004 Compared with Fiscal 20(

Listed below are revenues for our major pobdines at SAC Holdings for fiscal 2004 and fis28D3:

Year Ended March 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)

Selt-moving equipment renta $ 29,15¢ $ 27,68(

Self-storage revenue 126,43t 126,18:

Selfmoving and se-storage product and service s 50,573 48,76¢

Other revenu 12,78 14,16

Segment revent $ 218,95 $ 216,79

During fiscal 2004 we built our moving equipnt rentals through steady transaction volumeggpricreases and improved mix. Storage
revenues were driven by an increase in the nunftreiomns available for rent, higher occupancy rates modest price increases. Sales of
moving and self-storage related products and sesvimlowed our growth in moving equipment rentals.

Total costs and expenses increased as a ofsuhge and benefit inflation and higher propeatyes, cost of sales, utilities and insurance
costs.

As a result of the above mentioned changesvienues and expenses, earnings from operatioes$6d.7 million in fiscal 2004,
compared with $68.8 million in fiscal 2003.
Liquidity and Capital Resource

Our financial condition remains strong. Atidla 31, 2005, cash and short-term investmentset®b6.0 million, compared with
$81.6 million at March 31, 2004. Total short-ternddong-term debt, plus capital lease obligatioesen780.0 million at March 31, 2005,
compared with $962.3 million at March 31, 2004, ampresented 1.4 times stockholders’ equity at M&, 2005, compared with 1.9 times
stockholders’ equity at March 31, 2004.

A summary of our cash flows for fiscal 20@5¢al 2004 and fiscal 2003 is shown in the tatdty:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Cash flow from operating activitie $ 220,71¢ $ (62,83) $ 118,130
Cash flow from investing activitie 36,17¢ 60,18" (81,119
Cash flow from financing activitie (282,49 17,36¢ (11,637)

Net cash flown (25,60:) 14,72: 25,38¢
Cash at the beginning of the per 81,557 66,83¢ 41,44¢
Cash at the end of the peri $ 55,95¢ $ 81,55 $ 66,83¢

29




Table of Contents

Cash from operating activities in fiscal 200&s provided by net income of $89.4 million plusircash related items of $209.8 million.
Cash from operating activities in fiscal 2005 waediin the reduction of insurance policy liabibt@nd deferred insurance policy acquisition
costs and to fund increases in working capitals Bampares with fiscal 2004 when cash from opegattivities was used by a net loss of
$2.9 million plus the reduction of insurance poli@pilities and deferred insurance policy acqigsitcosts and to fund increases in working
capital. Cash from operating activities was prodittg non-cash related items of $281.4 million. Tdosnpares with fiscal 2003 when cash
from operating activities was used by a net los$2%.0 million plus the reduction of insurance pgliiabilities and deferred insurance policy
acquisition costs and to fund increases in workiagital. Cash from operating activities was prodithg non-cash related items of
$149.2 million.

We provided $36.2 million of net cash fromesting activities in fiscal 2005 primarily as aué of the W.P. Carey Transactions, net of
investments in property, plant and equipment. Wxviged $60.2 million in fiscal 2004, primarily agesult of real estate and property and
equipment sales, net of other investments in ptgpplant and equipment. We used $81.1 million ef eash from investing activities in fisi
2003, primarily as a result of investments in propeplant and equipment. Investments in propgatamt and equipment were $285.0 million
in fiscal 2005, $198.4 million in fiscal 2004 an24$B.2 million in fiscal 2003, as we continue toastin rental equipment.

We borrowed $129.4 million in fiscal 2005 ngoared with $997.0 million in fiscal 2004, and $37Million in fiscal 2003. We paid down
financing by $313.0 million (including $99.6 miltidfor the W.P. Carey Transactions) in fiscal 20@5npared with $888.2 million in fiscal
2004 and $442.1 million in fiscal 2003. Additioriedancing uses of cash included payment of dividehad November 2004, our Board of
Directors approved the payment of all dividend arages on our Series AlB2% Preferred Stock. Regular quarterly cash dividdrale bee
paid on a current basis since February 2004. Agsualt; our dividend payments were $25.9 millionhieigin fiscal 2005 compared with fiscal
2004. There were dividend payments of $6.5 mildoning fiscal 2003. Financing sources of cash vpeirmarily borrowings under our
revolving credit agreements ($129.4 million in 2005, compared with $164.1 million in fiscal 208nd $205.0 million in fiscal 2003).

The capital structure in place at March 3X)Rallowed us to achieve our near-term operatiplzals and goals and support our preferred
stock dividend program. We believe the new capitaicture that is in place as of June 8, 2005allitiw us to achieve our longer-term
operational plans and goals and provide us witficserfit liquidity for the next three to five yeaMle believe this will allow us to focus on ¢
operations and business to further improve ouidityin the long-term. We believe these improvemsenill enhance our access to capital
markets. However, there can be no assurance thaefaash flows will be sufficient to meet our datsling obligations or our future capital
needs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources and Requirements oOur Operating Segments
Moving and Sel-Storage

To meet the needs of its customers, U-Hauhtaias a large fleet of rental equipment. Histalli, capital expenditures have primarily
reflected rental equipment acquisitions. The chpéquired to fund these expenditures has histllyibeen obtained through internally
generated funds from operations, lease financinigsates of used equipment. Going forward, we gratei that a substantial portion of our
internally generated funds will be used to enhdigeedity by paying down existing indebtedness. iDgreach of the fiscal years ended
March 31, 2006, 2007 and 2008, U-Haul estimatesrtbcapital expenditures will average approxinya$d50 million to maintain its fleet at
current levels. Financial covenants contained inlean agreements at March 31, 2005 limit the arhofinapital expenditures we can make
in 2006, 2007 and 2008, net of dispositions, taBs2dllion, $195 million and $195 million, respeatly. We intend to focus our growth on
expanding our independent dealer network, whicls s require a substantial amount of capital ressu

In the past our real estate requirements ¥egrhe acquisition of self-storage propertiesapport U-Haul's growth, and were primarily
financed through lease and debt financing. Goimgdod, U-Haul's growth plan in self-storage is feed on eMove, which does not require
the acquisition or construction of self-
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storage properties by the Company. Therefore, weotl@anticipate that our real estate needs willraquire substantial capital.

Property and Casualty Insuranc

At December 31, 2004, RepWest had no notédaams due in less than one year and its accqaytsble and accrued expenses and other
policyholders’ funds and liabilities were $8.7 nuh. RepWest financial assets (cash, receivablesntories, and short-term investments) at
December 31, 2004, were $401.1 million.

Stockholder’s equity was $154.8 million, $XBgillion, and $199.1 million at December 31, 202@03, and 2002 respectively. Republic
does not use debt or equity issues to increaséatapid therefore has no exposure to capital madkaditions. RepWest did not pay divide
to its parent during 2004, 2003 or 2002.

Life Insurance

As of December 31, 2004, Oxford had no natesloans payable in less than one year and ituate payable and accrued expenses and
other policyholders’ funds and liabilities were $2illion. Oxford’s financial assets (cash, readiles, short-term investments, other
investments and fixed maturities) at December BD42vere approximately $777.4 million. State insgraregulations restrict the amount of
dividends that can be paid to stockholders of imsce companies. As a result, Oxford’s funds areigdly not available to satisfy the claims
of AMERCO or its legal subsidiaries.

Oxford’s stockholder’s equity was $115.0 foill, $121.0 million, and $111.1 million in at Dedeen 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Increases from earnings were offgetdereases in unrealized gains resulting frontttange in interest rates.

SAC Holdings

SAC Holdings operations are funded by varimastgage loans and unsecured notes. SAC Holdiogs dot utilize revolving lines of
credit to finance its operations or acquisitionsrt@in of SAC Holdings loan agreements contairriaste covenants and restrictions on
incurring additional subsidiary indebtedness.

Cash Provided from Operating Activities by Operating Segments
Moving and Sel+Storage

Cash provided by operating activities wasg22nillion, $60.7 million and $201.1 million insital 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Fiscal 2005 results were primarily the result of @@rnings plus non-cash items. Fiscal 2004 wasgpily the result of non-cash items,
partially offset by increases in working capitatiaret losses. Fiscal 2003 results were primargyrésult of non-cash items plus reductions in
working capital, partially offset by net losses.

Property and Casualty Insuranc

Cash used by operating activities were $8&iilBon, $86.1 million, and $75.1 million for 2002003, and 2002, respectively. The cash
used by operating activities was the result of Rep¥8 exiting its non Self-Storage and Self-Moviings and the associated reduction of
reserves in the lines exited.

RepWest's cash and cash equivalents and-santinvestment portfolio were $90.3 million, $62nillion, and $35.1 million at
December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectivelg. @dance includes funds in transition from maguproceeds until reinvested in long
term investments. We believe that this level ofilijassets, combined with budgeted cash flow, égjadte to meet periodic needs for the
foreseeable future. Capital and operating buddkts &epWest to schedule cash needs in accordaitbénwestment and underwriting
proceeds.

31




Table of Contents

Life Insurance

Cash provided (used) by operating activifiesn Oxford was $24.8 million, $20.9 million andl@&0) million for 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

In addition to cash flows from operating wities, a substantial amount of liquid funds isitade through Oxford’s short-term portfolio.
At December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, short-terrastments amounted to $113.8 million, $124.7 milkowl $80.4 million, respectively.
Management believes that the overall sources ofdity will continue to meet foreseeable cash needs

SAC Holdings

Cash provided (used) by operating activideSAC Holdings was $1.1 million and ($8.2) millitar fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004,
respectively. Cash of $13.5 million was provideddperating activities in fiscal 2003. The primaouece of cash in fiscal 2005 was a
decrease in accounts payable and accrued liabilifiee primary use of cash in fiscal 2004 was #wpdsolidation of SAC Holding
Corporation. The primary source of cash in fis€é2was an increase in accounts payable and ackabddies.

Liquidity and Capital Resources — Summary

We believe we have the financial resourcesiad to meet our business requirements includipijad@xpenditures for the investment and
expansion of our rental fleet, rental equipment i@mdal storage space, working capital requiremantsour preferred stock dividend
program.

For a more detailed discussion of our lorgatdebt and borrowing capacity, please see footddRorrowings” to the “Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.”
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Disclosures about Contractual Obligations and Comnreial Commitments
The following table provides contractual coitments and contingencies as of March 31, 2005:

Payment Due by Period (as of March 31, 2005)

Prior to 04/01/06 04/01/08 April 1, 2010
Contractual Obligations Total 03/31/06 03/31/08 03/31/10 and Thereafter

(In thousands)

Revolving credit facility, senior secured fi

lien $ 84,86: $ — $ — $ 84,86 $ —
Interest portion on Revolving credit facili 10,49: 2,62 5,24¢ 2,62
Senior amortizing notes, secured, first lie

due 200¢ 346,50( 3,50( 7,00( 336,00( —
Interest portion on Senior amortizing no 76,23: 19,05¢ 38,11¢ 19,05¢
Senior notes, secured second lien, 9%, ¢

2009 200,00 — — 200,00( —
Interest portion on Senior not 72,00( 18,00( 36,00( 18,00(
Senior subordinated notes, secured, 12%

due 2011 148,64¢ — — — 148,64¢
Interest portion on Senior subordinated

notes 107,02¢ 17,83¢ 35,67¢ 35,67¢ 17,83¢
AMERCQ's operating lease 357,20( 102,11¢ 134,36( 63,89! 56,83
Private Mini Support Agreeme 2,88¢ — — 2,88¢
Other obligation: 17,55¢ — — — 17,55¢
Interest portion on Other obligatio 5,50z 917 1,83¢ 1,83¢ 917
SAC Holding Il Corporation notes and

loans* 152,56: 1,331 2,751 3,46¢ 145,01¢
Elimination of SAC Holding Il obligations

to AMERCO (75,08 — — — (75,089

Total contractual obligatior $ 1,506,38 $ 165,38: $ 260,98: $ 765,41( $ 314,60

As presented above, contractual obligations on dethtguarantees represent principal payments wbii&actual obligations for capital and
operating leases represent the notional paymeuiesr ihe lease arrangements, including anticipatedd cash payments for interest on
capital leases.

* These notes and loans represent obligationgA\@f Bolding Il Corporation issued to third party tlars and AMERCO through its
subsidiaries

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

AMERCO used certain equipment and occupiemicefacilities under operating lease commitmamith terms expiring substantially
through 2034 with the exception of one land leaga@rig in 2079. In the event of a shortfall in peeds from the sale of the underlying
assets, AMERCO has guaranteed approximately $1iién of residual values at March 31, 2005 foedk assets at the end of the
respective lease terms. AMERCO has been leasirigraqut since 1987 and, thus far, we have expertenogesidual value shortfalls. See
details related to operating lease commitmentsate N6 to the consolidated financial statementpage F-31.

The Company uses off-balance sheet arrangsmérere the economics and sound business prigaigerant their use. The Company’s
principal use of off-balance sheet arrangementaroed in connection with
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the expansion of our self-storage business. Thepaagncurrently manages the self-storage propestigsed by SAC Holdings and its
affiliates, pursuant to a standard form of managdragreement with each SAC Holdings subsidiaryitndffiliates, pursuant to which the
Company receives a management fee based on trerguespts from the properties plus reimbursementédrtain expenses. We received
management fees, exclusive of expenses, of $14lidnrduring fiscal 2005. This management fee ingistent with the fees we received fi
unrelated parties for other properties we manage.

Certain subsidiaries of SAC Holdings andaffdliates act as U-Haul dealers. The financial attter terms of the dealership contracts with
subsidiaries of SAC Holdings and its affiliates aubstantially identical to the terms of those vaithr 14,071 independent dealers. During
fiscal 2005, we paid subsidiaries of SAC Holdin8 .4 million in commissions pursuant to such deslgr contracts.

The Company leased space for certain of @gkating company offices, vehicle repair shops faitch installation centers from
subsidiaries of SAC Holdings and its affiliatestdldease payments pursuant to such leases weterifion during fiscal 2005.

These agreements provided revenues of $3Hi6rmexpenses of $35.8 million, cash receipt$60.5 million and cash disbursements of
$71.6 million during fiscal 2005. These amountslede rental revenues received by the Company faclwBAC Holdings and its affiliates
were paid a commission.

During fiscal 2005, a subsidiary of the Compheld various senior and junior unsecured not&A€ Holdings. The Company recorded
interest income of $22.0 million and received ciabrest payments of $11.7 million during fiscaD30

Fiscal 2006 Outlook

We have many exciting developments which eléeelie should positively affect performance in &is2006. We believe the momentum in
our Moving and Storage Operations will continue. &ve investing strongly in our truck rental fleefftirther strengthen U-Haul’s “do-it-
yourseli’ moving business. We placed purchase ordersddidof 6,750 of our largest rental trucks and ectgge have them in service by mid-
August. This investment is expected to increasatimber of rentable truck days available to meettastomer’'s demand and should reduce
future spending on repair costs and equipment diwe-

At RepWest, our plans to exit non-U-Haul §rad business are progressing well.

At Oxford, the recent Kocher litigation settlent should produce improved ratings, which in ghould support the expansion of its
distribution capabilities.

Also, we completed the refinancing of the @amy’s debt on June 8, 2005. This action increasedborrowing capacity by more than
$45.0 million and is expected to lower our annagiiest expense approximately $25.0 million befares (based on current borrowing
levels). The early extinguishment of our existirgptwill result in a one time pre-tax charge of mpgmately $34.0 million during the first
quarter of fiscal 2006.

Our objectives for fiscal 2006 are to positaur rental fleet to achieve revenue and transagiiowth and continue to drive down
operating costs.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains fardtlooking statements. We may make additionaltemibr oral forward-looking
statements from time to time in filings with thec8gties and Exchange Commission or otherwise. @liewe such forward-looking
statements are within the meaning of the safe-mgrmvisions of the Private Securities LitigatioefBm Act of 1995. Such statements may
include, but are not limited to, projections of@aues, income or loss; estimates of capital expamdi, plans for future operations, products
or services; financing needs and plans; our peiaepbf our legal positions and anticipated outcemiegpending litigation against us; our
liquidity and financial resources; goals and stgyas; plans for new business; assumptions abocihgricosts, and access to capital and
leasing markets
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as well as assumptions relating to the foregoirng Words “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estir@d, “project” and similar expressions
identify forward-looking statements, which speakyaas of the date the statement was made. Forveakiflg statements are inherently
subject to risks and uncertainties, some of wharimot be predicted or quantified. Factors thatatsignificantly affect results include,
without limitation, the risk factors enumeratedta end of this section, as well as the followitigzr Company’s ability to operate pursuant to
the terms of its credit facilities; the Companytslity to maintain contracts that are critical te operations; the costs and availability of
financing; the Company’s ability to execute its ibess plan; the Company’s ability to attract, matévand retain key employees; general
economic conditions; fluctuations in our costs tmimmain and update our fleet and facilities; ouitigtto refinance our debt; changes in
government regulations, particularly environmengglulations; our credit ratings; the availabilifycoedit; changes in demand for our
products; changes in the general domestic econtirayjegree and nature of our competition; the ntieol of pending litigation against the
Company; changes in accounting standards and fattiers described in this report or the other doenis we file with the Securities
Exchange Commission. These factors, as well afatiters disclosed below under the heading “Riskdtat, could contribute to or cause
such differences, or could cause our stock pridutduate dramatically. Consequently, the forwlrdking statements should not be regar
as representations or warranties by the Comparystith matters will be realized. The Company distdaany intent or obligation to update
or revise any of the forward-looking statementsethibr in response to new information, unforeseemisy changed circumstances or
otherwise.

Quarterly Results (unaudited)

The quarterly results shown below are derivedh unaudited financial statements for the eigldrters beginning April 1, 2003 and
ending March 31, 2005. The Company believes thateglessary adjustments have been included inntloeiats stated below to present fai
and in accordance with generally accepted accoyptiimciples, such results. Moving and Storage af@ns are seasonal and proportionally
more of the Company’s revenues and net earnings if®©Moving and Storage operations are generatéuki first and second quarters of
each fiscal year (April through September). Therafyeg results for the periods presented are not¢searily indicative of results for any
future period.

Quarter Ended

March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30,
2005 2004(a) 2004 2004
(In thousands, except for share and per share data)

Total revenues(k $ 411,44: $ 462,06t $ 581,07: $ 553,53
Earnings (loss) from operatio (28,67¢) 291 104,19: 91,18¢
Net earnings (loss (29,600 21,54¢ 53,05¢ 44,41¢
Earnings (loss) available to common sharehol (32,840 18,30¢ 49,81¢ 41,17¢
Weighted average common shares outstandir

basic and dilute: 20,824,29 20,813,80 20,801,52 20,788,07.
Earnings (loss) per common share basic and

diluted $ (1.57) $ 0.8¢ $ 2.3¢ $ 1.9¢

(@) The third quarter fiscal 2005 results included-recurring litigation proceeds of $51.3 million.
(b) Quarterly amounts include certain reclassifarag to conform with current period presentation.
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Quarter Ended

March 31, December 31, September 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2003 2003
(In thousands, except for share and per share data)

Total revenues(kt $ 458,38 $ 506,35¢ $ 629,18! $ 582,06t
Earnings (loss) from operatio (46,605 (1,030 98,99( 75,56(
Net earnings (loss (52,946 (21,667 44,02¢ 27,73¢
Earnings (loss) available to common sharehol (56,18¢) (24,909 40,78¢ 24,49t
Weighted average common shares outstandir

basic and dilute: 20,774,68 20,757,29 20,744,69 20,732,08
Earnings (loss) per common share basic and

diluted $ (2.70 $ (1.20) $ 1.97 $ 1.1¢

(b) Quarterly amounts include certain reclassificatittnsonform with current period presentati

Risk Factors
We operate in a highly competitive industry.

The truck rental industry is highly compeftiand includes a number of significant nationedjional and local competitors. Competitiol
generally based on convenience of rental locatiavailability of quality rental moving equipmentgladth of essential services and price. In
our truck rental business, we face competition fBunlget Car and Truck Rental Company and PenskekTreasing. Some of our
competitors may have greater financial resourcas tte have. We cannot assure you that we will adblred to reduce our rental prices or
delay price increases.

The self-storage industry is large and higldgmented. We believe the principle competitiaetdrs in this industry are convenience of
storage rental locations, cleanliness, securitypimd. Our primary competitors in the self-storaggrket are Public Storage, Shurgard,
Storage USA and others. Competition in the markesisin which we operate is significant and afféoésoccupancy levels, rental sales and
operating expenses of our facilities. Competitidghhcause us to experience a decrease in occuerelg, limit our ability to raise rental
sales and require us to offer discounted ratesabatd have a material affect on operating results.

Entry into the self-storage business throagduisition of existing facilities is possible foersons or institutions with the required initial
capital. Development of new self-storage faciliiesnore difficult, however, due to zoning, envinoental and other regulatory requirements.
The self-storage industry has in the past expegi@ioverbuilding in response to perceived increasdsmand. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to successfully compete in existingkess or expand into new markets.

Control of AMERCO remains in the hands of a smalbetingent.

As of March 31, 2005, Edward J. Shoen, Chairmof the Board of Directors and President of AMERGames P. Shoen, a director of
AMERCO, and Mark V. Shoen, an executive officeAMERCO, collectively are beneficial owners of 8,8107 shares (approximately
41.39%) of the outstanding common shares of AMER&&ordingly, Edward J. Shoen, Mark V. Shoen andelaP. Shoen will be in a
position to continue to influence the electiontwd tnembers of the Board of Directors and approlvsigmificant transactions. In addition,
2,166,799 shares (approximately 10.18%) of thetanting common shares of AMERCO, including shallesated to employees and
unallocated shares, are held by our Employee Saxvnd Employee Stock Ownership Trust.
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Our operations subject us to numerous environmentadulations and the possibility that environmentébility in the future could
adversely affect our operation

Compliance with environmental requirementéeoleral, state and local governments significaatfgcts our business. Among other
things, these requirements regulate the dischdrgmterials into the water, air and land and govtheuse and disposal of hazardous
substances. Under environmental laws, we can loedtréttly liable for hazardous substances thaf@wad on real property we have owne
operated. We are aware of issues regarding hazasidostances on some of our properties and weghdave place a remedial plan at each
site where we believe such a plan is necessaryegidarly make capital and operating expendituvestdy in compliance with environmen
laws. In particular, we have managed a testingramval program since 1988 for our undergroundagtitanks.

Environmental laws and regulations are compteange frequently and could become more strinigethe future. We cannot assure you
that future compliance with these regulations dure environmental liabilities will not have a mi@é adverse effect on our business.

Our business is seasonal.

Our business is seasonal and our resultparations and cash flows fluctuate significanttynirquarter to quarter. Historically, revenues
have been stronger in the first and second fisgaltgrs due to the overall increase in moving @gtouring the spring and summer months.
The fourth fiscal quarter is generally weakest, miiere is a greater potential for adverse weatbeditions.

We obtain our rental trucks from a limited numbef enanufacturers.

In the last ten years, we purchased all ofrental trucks from Ford and General Motors. Altgb we believe that we have alternative
sources of supply for our rental trucks, termiraid one or both of our relationships with thesppdiers could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or resultgpérations.

Our property and casualty insurance business ha#feted extensive losses.

Since January 2000, our property and casu@tyrance business, RepWest, reported lossemtptgdproximately $164 million. These
losses are primarily attributable to business lihas were unprofitable as underwritten. To respditability in RepWest, we have exited all
non-U-Haul related lines. Although we believe teertinated lines are adequately reserved, we cawsoirre that there will not be future
adverse loss development.

Our life insurance business was downgraded by AB&st due to events surrounding the restructurir

A.M. Best downgraded Oxford and its subsigmduring the restructuring to C+. Upon emergdrma bankruptcy in March 2004,
Oxford and its subsidiaries were upgraded to Be fidtings were again upgraded in October 2004 #.K. Best has indicated the rating
outlook for our life insurance companies is positiPrior to AMERCO'’s restructuring, Oxford was hi&++. Financial strength ratings are
important external factors that can affect the sas@f Oxford’s business plans. Accordingly, if @xffs ratings, relative to its competitors,
not continue to improve, Oxford may not be ablestain and attract business as currently planned.

Notes receivable and interest from the SAC entities a significant portion of AMERCC( s total assets

At March 31, 2005, we held approximately $208illion of notes due from SAC Holdings. Althoutifese assets have been eliminated in
the consolidated financial statements, we havéfgignt economic exposure to SAC Holdings. SAC Hiadg is highly leveraged with
significant indebtedness to others. We hold varjan®r unsecured notes of SAC Holdings. If SAC ¢iogs is unable to meet its obligations
to its senior lenders, it could trigger a defaultits obligations to us. In such an event of deéfawé could suffer a significant loss to the extent
the value of the underlying collateral on our loemSAC Holdings is inadequate
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to repay SAC Holdings’ senior lenders and us. Weoaassure you that SAC Holdings will not defatits loans to their senior lenders or
that the value of SAC Holdings’ assets upon ligtimawould be sufficient to repay us in full.

We face risks related to an SEC investigation amtgrities litigation.

The SEC has issued a formal order of invatitig to determine whether we have violated theeF@dsecurities laws. Although we have
cooperated with the SEC in this matter and intencbntinue to cooperate, the SEC may determinentbdtave violated Federal securities
laws. We cannot predict the outcome of the invesitig. If the SEC makes a determination that weehdwlated Federal securities laws, we
may face sanctions, including, but not limitedsignificant monetary penalties and injunctive relie

In addition, the Company has been namedendeht in a number of class action and relateduasvsThe findings and outcome of the
SEC investigation may affect the class-action latsghat are pending. We are generally obligedh&extent permitted by law, to indemnify
our directors and officers who are named defendargeme of these lawsuits. We are unable to estinvhat our liability in these matters
may be, and we may be required to pay judgmengettiements and incur expenses in aggregate amihiatitsould have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition or results of ogi@ns.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

We are exposed to financial market risksdluidiong changes in interest rates and currency exgdaates. To mitigate these risks, we may
utilize derivative financial instruments, amonga@tistrategies. We do not use derivative financistruments for speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

The exposure to market risk for changes tier@st rates relates primarily to our variable debt obligations. We have used interest rate
swap agreements to provide for matching the galoss recognition on the hedging instrument with tcognition of the changes in the cash
flows associated with the hedged asset or liakdgitsibutable to the hedged risk or the earninggscebf the hedged forecasted transaction. At
March 31, 2005 the Company had no interest rate @eatracts. On May 13, 2004 the Company enteredsieparate interest rate cap
contracts for $200 million of its variable rate tebligations for a two year term and for $50 roifliof its variable rate debt obligations for a
three year term. At March 31, 2005, the Companydpatoximately $430 million of variable rate debtigations. A fluctuation in the
interest rates of 100 basis points would changmest expense for the Company by approximately $dlin annually.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The exposure to market risk for changes iaifm currency exchange rates relates primariputoCanadian business. Approximately 2%
of our revenue is generated in Canada. The rekaltl6% change in the value of the U.S. dollarthedato the Canadian dollar would not be
material. We typically do not hedge any foreignrency risk since the exposure is not consideree madt

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Dz

The Report of Independent Registered Pubticofinting and Consolidated Financial StatemenfSMERCO and its consolidated
subsidiaries including the notes to such statenmmdshe related schedules are set forth on padebfeugh F-59 and are thereby
incorporated herein.
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Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcégnting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

Attached as exhibits to this Form 10-K ardifieations of the registrants’ Chief Executivefioér (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer
(CFO), which are required in accordance with Ria-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated (the Exchange Act). This
“Controls and Procedures” section includes inforaratoncerning the controls and controls evaluatedarred to in the certifications.
Following this discussion is the report of BDO Sea&h LLP, our independent registered public accogrfirm, regarding its audit of
AMERCO's internal control over financial reportiagd of management’s assessment of internal camtsslfinancial reporting set forth
below in this section. This section should be ri@acbnjunction with the certifications and the B[3@idman, LLP report for a more complete
understanding of the topics presented.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We conducted an evaluation of the effectigsna the design and operation of our “discloswrmls and procedures” (Disclosure
Controls) as of the end of the period covered ks/Florm 10-K. The controls evaluation was conducteder the supervision and with the
participation of management, including our CEO @fD. Disclosure Controls are controls and procexddesigned to reasonably assure that
information required to be disclosed in our repéitésl under the Exchange Act, such as this ForaK 13 recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specifiechi@ t.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s (SEGles and forms. Disclosure Contr
are also designed to reasonably assure that sieemition is accumulated and communicated to ouragament, including the CEO and
CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions rdgay required disclosure. Our quarterly evaluatbDisclosure Controls includes an
evaluation of some components of our internal @dmver financial reporting, and internal contreko financial reporting is also separately
evaluated on an annual basis for purposes of prayitie management report which is set forth below.

The evaluation of our Disclosure Controlduded a review of the controls’ objectives and gesthe company’s implementation of the
controls and the effect of the controls on therimfation generated for use in this Form 10-K.

In the course of the controls evaluation rexgewed identified data errors, control problemsaats of fraud and sought to confirm that
appropriate corrective actions, including procasgrovements, were being undertaken. This type aluetion is performed on a quarterly
basis so that the conclusions of management, imgutie CEO and CFO, concerning the effectivenésiseoDisclosure Controls can be
reported in our periodic reports on Form 10-Q aadr=10-K. Many of the components of our DisclosGantrols are also evaluated on an
ongoing basis by our Internal Audit Department pather personnel in our Finance organization. dVerall goals of these various
evaluation activities are to monitor our Disclos@entrols, and to modify them as necessary. Oeniris to maintain the Disclosure Controls
as dynamic systems that change as conditions warran

Based upon the controls evaluation, our CRE@G@FO have concluded that, subject to the lindteginoted in this Part Il, Item 9A, as of
the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K,Disclosure Controls were effective and that nmaténformation relating to AMERCO
and its consolidated entities is made known to gameent, including the CEO and CFO, particularlyimithe period when our periodic
reports are being prepared.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financid Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishivd maintaining adequate internal control oweairfcial reporting to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of our finahoégorting and the preparation of financial stagets for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting

39




Table of Contents

principles. Internal control over financial repagiincludes those policies and procedures thakefiain to the maintenance of records that in
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of the assets ofdh&any; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readgaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Management assessed our internal controlfmaeancial reporting as of March 31, 2005, the ehdur fiscal year. Management based its
assessment on criteria established in Internal@bhtegrated Framework issued by the Committe8mdnsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Management’s assessment eatlendaluation of such elements as the design amciipg effectiveness of key
financial reporting controls, process documentatamtounting policies, and our overall control eaniment. This assessment is supported by
testing and monitoring performed both by our In&raudit organization and our Finance organization.

Based on our assessment, management hasidedc¢hat our internal control over financial rapw was effective as of the end of the
fiscal year. We reviewed the results of managemeargsessment with the Audit Committee of our Baduirectors.

Our independent registered public accourfiing, BDO Seidman, LLP, has audited managemensssament of the company’s internal
control over financial reporting and has issuedrtfeport, which is included below.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

The company’s management, including the CE@GFO, does not expect that our Disclosure Cantsobur internal control over
financial reporting will prevent or detect all erand all fraud. A control system, no matter howlwesigned and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the tepstem’s objectives will be met. The design abatrol system must reflect the fact that
there are resource constraints, and the benefisriafols must be considered relative to theiredstirther, because of the inherent limitati
in all control systems, no evaluation of contrads provide absolute assurance that misstatemeaettodarror or fraud will not occur or that
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, withe company have been detected. These inhémgteations include the realities that
judgments in decisic-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can dseaause of simple error or mistake. Controls ¢sm lae
circumvented by the individual acts of some persbgsollusion of two or more people, or by managatroverride of the controls. The
design of any system of controls is based in paxtertain assumptions about the likelihood of fetewents, and there can be no assurance
that any design will succeed in achieving its stajeals under all potential future conditions. Batipns of any evaluation of controls
effectiveness to future periods are subject tosri€kver time, controls may become inadequate beaafushanges in conditions or
deterioration in the degree of compliance with giek or procedures.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING

Board of Directors and Stockholders
AMERCO
Reno, Nevada

We have audited management’s assessmentgdattin the accompanying Management’'s Report @rriat Control over Financial
Reporting that AMERCO (the “Company”) maintainetkeefive internal control over financial reporting af March 31, 2005, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integ@aframework issued by the Committee of Sponsdirganizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management ionssple for maintaining effective internal contoser financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting. Our responsibility iségpress an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectivene$e @admpany'’s internal control over financial repagytbased on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withsthaedards of the Public Company Accounting Ovétsipard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahgaéug the design and operating effectivenessitefrnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthenstances. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financiaporting is a process designed to provide reaserasiurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantieagicounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. A comjgimgernal control over financial reporting inckeslthose policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records thatgasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company; (ii) provide reasonable assuranceiasactions are recorded as necessary to pempiaation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States of America, and thagipés and expenditures of the company
are being made only in accordance with authoriratmf management and directors of the company(iandrovide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, interoahtrol over financial reporting may not preventietect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’'s assessmentlieaCompany maintained effective internal contr@rdfinancial reporting as of March 31,
2005, is fairly stated, in all material respectsdd on the criteria established in Internal Cortrdntegrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremgd@ommission (COSO). Also in our opinion, the Campmaintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financegorting as of March 31, 2005, based on ther@igstablished in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSping Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance wittstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdigiard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of AMERCO and congstidentities as of March 31, 2005 and 2004 andelated consolidated statements of
operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, otioenprehensive income/ (loss), and cash flows foh edi the years in the period ended
March 31, 2005, and our report dated June 13, 2@pEessed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLI

Los Angeles, California
June 13, 2005
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PART IlI

Iltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrar

The information regarding Directors and Exa@iOfficers and Section 16(a) Compliance appegirinour 2005 Proxy Statement is
incorporated by reference in this section.

The Company has adopted a code of ethicafiies to all directors, officers and employekthe Company, including the Company’s
principal executive officer, principal financialffer and principal accounting officer. A copy afradCode of Ethics has been filed as an
exhibit hereto.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information regarding Executive Compeiosaappearing in our 2005 Proxy Statement is ino@ated by reference in this section;
provided, however, that the “Board Report on Exeeu€Compensation” and the “Performance Graph” doethin the 2005 Proxy Statement
are not incorporated by reference her



Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners athbnagement

The information appearing in our 2005 Proxgt&ment under the heading “Security Ownershipeatan Beneficial Owners and
Management” is incorporated by reference in thidise.
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information appearing in our 2005 Proxgt&ment under the heading “Certain RelationshigsRelated Transactions” is
incorporated by reference in this section.
ltem 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information appearing in our 2005 Proxgt&ment under the heading “Relationship with Iraefent Auditors” is incorporated by
reference in this section.

PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Repgoon Form &K

(a) The following documents are filed as dithis Report:

Page No.

Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm F-1
Independent Audito’ Report F-2
Consolidated Balance She— March 31, 2005 and 20( F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations — Years ENt®dh 31, 2005,

2004 and 200 F-4

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholdeysity — Years

Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2( F-5

Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensivariedh.oss) — Years

Ended March 31, 2005, 2004 and 2( F-6

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows — Years Eiiaadh 31, 2005,

2004 and 200 F-7

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-8 - F-52
Additional Information:

Summary of Earnings of Independent Rental Fl F-53- F-54

Financial Statement Schedules required to be filedy Item 8 and
Paragraph(d) of this Item 15:

Condensed Financial Information of Regist— Schedule : F-55- F-58
Supplemental Information (For Property-Casualtyurasce
Underwriters)— Schedule \ F-59
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All other schedules are omitted as the reglinformation is not applicable or the informatiepresented in the financial statements or
related notes thereto.

(b) Exhibits:
Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
21 Joint Plan of Reorganization of AMERCO and Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Réepor
AMERCO Real Estate Compal on Form &K filed October 20, 2003, file no-11255
2.2 Disclosure Statement Concerning the Debtdoint Plar  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Répor
of Reorganizatiol on Form &K filed October 20, 2003, file no-11255
2.3 Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization of AMERCO Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
AMERCO Real Estate Company Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decer@ber
2003, file no. -11255
31 Restated Articles of Incorporation of AMERCO Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Form S-4
Registration Statement, file no. -114042
3.2 Restated By-Laws of AMERCO Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
1996, file no. -11255
3.3 Restated Articles of Incorporation of U-Haul Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Annual Report
International, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
34 Bylaws of U-Haul International, Inc. Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
4.1 Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2004, among AMER  Incorporated by reference to AMERCQ'’s Current Répor
the subsidiary guarantors listed therein, and Wedlggo ~ on Form 8-K filed on March 26, 2004, file no. 1-5B2
Bank, N.A.
4.2 Indenture dated as of March 15, 2004, among Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Repor
AMERCO, the subsidiary guarantors listed thereid an on Form 8-K filed on March 26, 2004, file no. 1-552
The Bank of New Yorl
4.3 Indenture dated as of March 15, 2004, among SAC Incorporated by reference to AMERCQ'’s Current Répor
Holding Corporation and SAC Holding Il Corporation  on Form 8-K filed on March 26, 2004, file no. 1-552
and Law Debenture Trust Company of New Y
4.4 Rights Agreement, dated as of August 7, 1998 Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 1¢
file no. 1-11255
10.1* AMERCO Employee Savings, Profit Sharing and Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
Employee Stock Ownership Plan on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998, riib.
1-11255
1C.1A* First Amendment to the AMERCO Employee Savings, Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report
Profit Sharing and Employee Stock Ownership Plan on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
10.2 Loan and Security Agreement among AMERCO and  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Current Repor

Wells Fargo Foothills, Inc., dated as of March @02 on Form K filed on March 26, 2004, file no.-11255
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Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
10.3 SAC Participation and Subordination Agreement, dlate Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Répor
as of March 15, 2004 among SAC Holding Corporation,on Form 8-K filed on March 26, 2004, file no. 1-552
SAC Holding Il Corporation, AMERCO, U-Haul
International, Inc., and Law Debenture Trust Conypan
of New York
104 Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of March 1, 2004,  Incorporated by reference to AMERCQ'’s Current Répor
between Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Wells Fargo on Form 8-K filed on March 26, 2004, file no. 1-5B2
Foothill, Inc.
105 U-Haul Dealership Contract Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year end March 31, 1993, fiite 1-
11255
10.6 Share Repurchase and Registration Rights Agreement Incorporated by reference to AMERCOQ’s Annual Report
with Paul F. Shoen on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998, riib.
1-11255
10.7 ESOP Loan Credit Agreement Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 19986, riib.
1-11255
10.8 ESOP Loan Agreement Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 19986, riib.
1-11255
10.9 Trust Agreement for the AMERCO Employee Savings, Incorporated by reference to AMERCOQ’s Annual Report
Profit Sharing and Employee Stock Ownership Plan on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 19986, riib.
1-11255
1C.10 Amended indemnification Agreement Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 19986, riib.
1-11255
10.11 Indemnification Trust Agreement Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 19986, riib.
1-11255
1C.12 Management Agreement between Three SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998@,riib.
1-11255
10.13 Management Agreement between Four SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 199@,riib.
1-11255
1C.14 Agreement, dated October 17, 1995, among AMERCO, Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quatrterly
Edward J. Shoen, James P. Shoen, Aubrey K. JohnsonReport on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
John M. Dodds and William E. Car 1995, file no. -11255
1C.15 Directors’ Release, dated October 17, 1995, exddmte  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Edward J. Shoen, James P. Shoen, Aubrey K. JohnsonReport on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
John M. Dodds, and William E. Carty in favor of 1995, file no. 1-11255
AMERCO
1C.16 AMERCO Release, dated October 17, 1995, executr  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
AMERCO in favor of Edward J. Shoen, James P. St Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
Aubrey K. Johnson, John M. Dodds, and William E. 1995, file no. 1-11255
Carty
10.17 Management Agreement between Five SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report

Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO

on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998, riib.
1-11255
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Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
10.18 Management Agreement between Eight SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998, riib.
1-11255
1C.19 Management Agreement between Nine SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998, riib.
1-11255
1C.20 Management Agreement between Ten SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 1998, riib.
1-11255
10.21 Management Agreement between Six-A SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
10.22 Management Agreement between Six-B SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
10.23 Management Agreement between Six-C SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
1C.24 Management Agreement between Eleven SAC Self-  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
10.25 Management Agreement between Twelve SAC Self-  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Form S-4
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMER Registration Statement, no. 114042
1C.26 Management Agreement between Thirteen SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Form S-4
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMER Registration Statement, no. -114042
10.27 Management Agreement between Fourteen SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Form S-4
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMER Registration Statement, no. -114042
1C.28 Management Agreement between Fifteen SAC Self-  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quatrterly
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decer@ber
2000, file no. -11255
10.29 Management Agreement between Sixteen SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decerdber
2000, file no. -11255
1C.30 Management Agreement between Seventeen SAC Selfincorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Annual Report
Storage Corporation and subsidiaries of AMERCO on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 200&, riib.
1-11255
10.31 Management Agreement between Eighteen SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Storage Corporation and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
10.32 Management Agreement between Nineteen SAC Self- Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quatrterly
Storage Limited Partnership and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
10.33 Management Agreement between Twenty SAC Self-  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly

Storage Corporation and U-Haul
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Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
1C.34 Management Agreement between Twenty-One SAC  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
10.35 Management Agreement between Twenty-Two SAC  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quatrterly
Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
10.36 Management Agreement between Twenty-Three SAC Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Self-Storage Corporation and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
10.37 Management Agreement between Twenty-Four SAC  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Self-Storage Limited Partnership and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
1C.38 Management Agreement between Twenty-Five SAC  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Self-Storage Limited Partnership and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
10.39 Management Agreement between Twenty-Six SAC Selfincorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Storage Limited Partnership and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
1C.40 Management Agreement between Twenty-Seven SAC Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Self-Storage Limited Partnership and U-Haul Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
1041 Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Oxford Life Insurance Company Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
1C.42 Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quatrterly
Oxford Life Insurance Company Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended September
2002, file no. -11255
1C.42A Amendment and Addendum to Promissory Note bet  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Form S-4
SAC Holding Corporation and Oxford Life Insurance  Registration Statement, no. 373-114042
Company
10.43 2003 AMERCO Support Party Agreement for the be  Incorporated by reference to AMERCOQO’s Annual Report
of GMAC Commercial Holding Capital Corp. on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
1-11255
1C.44 State of Arizona Department of Insurance Notice of Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Annual Report
Determination, Order of Supervision and Consent on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2008, riib.
Thereta 1-11255
10.45 Fixed Rate Note between SAC Holding Corporation andincorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Form S-4
U-Haul International, Inc Registration Statement, no. 114042
1C.46 Promissory Note between SAC Holding Corporation  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Form S-4
U-Haul International, Inc Registration Statement, no. -114042
10.47 Amended and Restated Promissory Note between SACIncorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Form S-4

Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, I ic.
an aggregate principal amount up to $21,000,
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Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
10.48 Amended and Restated Promissory Note between SACIncorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Form S-4
Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, I ic. Registration Statement, no. 333-114042
an aggregate principal amount up to $47,500,
1C.49 Amended and Restated Promissory Note between SACIncorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Form S-4
Holding Corporation and U-Haul International, I ic. Registration Statement, no. 333-114042
an aggregate principal amount up to $76,000,
10.50 Property Management Agreement Incorporated by reference to AMERCQO'’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2004, fil
no. 7-11255
1051 Property Management Agreements among Three-A Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
through Three-D SAC Self-Storage Limited Partngrshi Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2(
and the subsidiaries of-Haul International, Inc file no. 1-11255
10.52 U-Haul Dealership Contract between U-Haul Leasing & Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quatrterly
Sales Co., and U-Haul Moving Partners, Inc. Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2(
file no. 1-11255
10.53 Property Management Agreement between Mercury  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Partners, LP, Mercury 99, LLC and U-Haul Self-Sggra Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2(
Management (WPC), In file no. 1-11255
1C.54 Property Management Agreement between Three-SAC Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
Self-Storage Corporation andiaul Co. (Canada), Ltt  Report on Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2(
file no. 1-11255
10.55 Settlement and Release Agreement among Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quarterly
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, AMERCO, and SAC Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decerdber
Holding Corporatior 2004, file no. -11255**
10.56 Property Management Agreement among subsidiaries ofhcorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Quatrterly
U-Haul International and Galaxy Storage Two, L.P. Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decerdber
2004, file no. -11255
10.57 Kocher Settlement and Release Agreement Incorporated by reference to AMERCQ'’s Current Répor
on Form K, filed on March 8, 200!
10.58 Merrill Lynch Commitment Letter (re first mortgage Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Réepor
loan) on Form K, filed on May 13, 200!
10.59 Notice of Early Termination (re Wells Fargo Loard: Incorporated by reference to AMERCOQ'’s Current Répor
Security Agreement on Form K, filed on May 13, 200!
1C.60 Notice of Redemption (re 9% Senior Secured Notex Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Repor
2009) on Form K, filed on May 13, 200!
10.61 Morgan Stanley Commitment Letter Incorporated by reference to AMERCQ'’s Current Répor
on Form &K, filed May 13, 200t
10.62 Merrill Lynch Commitment Letter (re loan to Amerco  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO's Current Repor
Real Estate Compan on Form &K, filed May 13, 200¢
10.63 Notice of Redemption (re 12% Senior Subordin: Incorporated by reference to AMERCOQ'’s Current Répor
Notes due 2011 on Form &K, filed May 13, 200t
1C.64 Refinance Closing Docs Incorporated by reference to AMERCQ'’s Current Répor

a7

on Form K, filed June 14, 200
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Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing

10.65 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated June 8ncorporated by reference to AMERCQ'’s Current Répor
2005, among Amerco Real Estate Company, Amerco on Form 8-K, filed June 14, 2005
Real Estate Company of Texas, Inc., Amerco Realté
Company of Alabama Inc., U-Haul Co. of Florida,.Inc
U-Haul International, Inc. and Merrill Lynch
Commercial Finance Cor

1C.66 Security Agreement, dated June 8, 2005, by Amerco  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Répor
Real Estate Company, Amerco Real Estate Company obn Form 8-K, filed June 14, 2005
Texas, Inc., Amerco Real Estate Company of Alabama,
Inc., U-Haul Co. of Florida, Inc., U-Haul Internatial,
Inc. and the Marketing Grantors named therein worfa
of Merrill Lynch Commercial Finance Cor

10.67 Guarantee, dated June 8, 2005, by U-Haul Intemmakio  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Répor
Inc. in favor of Merrill Lynch Commercial Finance on Form 8-K, filed June 14, 2005
Corp.

1C.68 Promissory Note, dated June 8, 2005 by Amerco Real Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Current Repor
Estate Company, Amerco Real Estate Company of on Form 8-K, filed June 14, 2005
Texas, Inc., Amerco Real Estate Company of Alabama,
Inc., U-Haul Co. of Florida, Inc. and U-Haul
International, Inc

1C.69 Form of Mortgage, Security Agreement, Assignment of Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Current Repor
Rents and Fixture Filing, dated June 8, 2005, vorfaf on Form 8-K, filed June 14, 2005
Morgan Stanley Mortgage Capital Ir

1C.70 Form of Promissory Note, dated June 8, 2005, inrfav  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Répor
of Morgan Stanley Mortgage Capital Ir on Form K, filed June 14, 200

10.71 Form of Mortgage, Security Agreement, Assignment of Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Current Repor
Rents and Fixture Filing, dated June 8, 2005, vorfaf on Form 8-K, filed June 14, 2005
Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc

10.72 Form of Promissory Note, dated June 8, 2005, inrfav  Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Répor
of Merrill Lynch Mortgage Lending, Inc on Form &K, filed June 14, 200

1C0.73 Press Release dated June 9, 2005 (regarding cloSing Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Current Repor
refinancing). on Form K, filed June 14, 200

1C.74 Press Release dated June 9, 2005 (regarding Arizona Incorporated by reference to AMERCO’s Current Répor
Department of Insurance releas on Form &K, filed June 14, 200

14 Code of Ethics Incorporated by reference to AMERCO'’s Current Repor

on Form K, filed on May 5, 2004, file no.-11255

21 Subsidiaries of AMERC( Filed herewitr

231 Consent of BDO Seidman, LL Filed herewitr

23.2 Consent of Semple & Cooper (re: SAC Filed herewitt

24 Power of Attorney See signature pay
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Exhibit
Number Description Page or Method of Filing
311 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Edwar&loen, Filed herewith
President and Chairman of the Board of AMERCO and U
Haul International, Inc
31.2 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Jack Atd?son, Filed herewith
Chief Financial Officer of AMERCC(
313 Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of RoberPEterson,  Filed herewith
Chief Financial Officer of -Haul International, Inc
32.1 Certification of Edward J. Shoen, President andii@tan of Filed herewith
the Board of AMERCO and U-Haul International, Inc.
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sabi-Oxley Act of 200z
32.2 Certification of Jack A. Peterson, Chief Financficer of Filed herewith
AMERCO pursuant to Section 906 of the Sabanes-Qxtay
of 2002
32.3 Certification of Robert T. Peterson, Chief FinahC#éficer of Filed herewith

U-Haul International, Inc. pursuant to Section @@he
Sabane-Oxley Act of 200z

* Indicates compensatory plan arrangem
A portion of this exhibit has been omitted pursuara request for confidential treatme

*%
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
AMERCO
Reno, Nevada

We have audited the accompanying consolidad¢ahce sheets of AMERCO and consolidated enfities“Company”) as of March 31,
2005 and 2004 and the related consolidated statsroéoperations, changes in stockholders’ eqoityer comprehensive income/ (loss), and
cash flows for each of the three years in the plezinded March 31, 2005. We have also audited thedsides listed in the accompanying
index. These financial statements and schedulethanesponsibility of the Company’s management. @sponsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedhalesd on our audits. We did not audit the findrset&ements of SAC Holding Il
Corporation for 2005, which statements reflectltatsets of $152.4 million as of March 31, 2005 total revenues of $43.2 million for the
year then ended. Those statements were auditethby auditors whose report has been furnished,tangsour opinion, insofar as it relates
the amounts included for such consolidated entitpased solely on the report of the other auditors

We conducted our audits in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogbtd8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements and schedules are
free of material misstatement. An audit includearaining, on a test basis, evidence supporting ti@uaits and disclosures in the financial
statements and schedules, assessing the accopritiniples used and significant estimates made agagement, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements sthedules. We believe that our audits and thertrep other auditors for 2005 provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audits and #p®rt of other auditors for 2005, the consoliddiedncial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial fiilm of AMERCO and consolidated entities at MaBd) 2005 and 2004, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the tlgeses in the period ended March 31, 2005 in conifyrwith accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Als@unopinion, the schedules present fairly, in adtenial respects, the information set forth
therein.

Our audits were conducted for the purpodemifiing an opinion on the consolidated financiatsments and schedules taken as a whole.
The summary of earnings of independent rentaldlegbrmation included on pages F-53 through Fsodresented for purposes of additional
analysis of the consolidated financial statemeatisar than to present the earnings of the indepenideler fleets. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the earnings of the indeperndsler fleets. However, such information hassubjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the consolidated finanstatements and schedules and, in our opinionirlg &ated in all material respects in relation
to the consolidated financial statements and sdbedaken as a whole.

We have also audited, in accordance wittsthedards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdiglard (United States), the
effectiveness of AMERCO's internal control overditial reporting as of March 31, 2005, based deriai established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway CommissioB$0) and our report dated
June 13, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinioretmrer

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLI

Los Angeles, California
June 13, 2005
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors and Stockholder
SAC Holding Il Corporation
(A Wholly-Owned Subsidiary)

We have audited the accompanying consolidad¢ahce sheet of SAC Holding Il Corporation (A Wjr®wned Subsidiary) as of
March 31, 2005 and the related consolidated statesmd operations, stockholder’s deficit, compredies loss and cash flows for the year
then ended. The financial statements are the regghity of the Company’s management. Our respdifissilis to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements based on out.audi

We conducted our audit in accordance withtmgistandards generally accepted in the UnitedeStof America. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6iig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit providesagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements nefd to above present fairly, in all material repethe consolidated financial position of SAC
Holding Il Corporation (A Wholly-Owned Subsidiarg) March 31, 2005, and the consolidated resultheaif operations and their cash flows
for the year ended in conformity with accountinqpiples generally accepted in the United State&roérica.

/sl Semple & Cooper, LL
Certified Public Accountant

Phoenix, Arizona
June 16, 2005

F-2




Table of Contents

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel $ 55,95¢ $ 81,557
Trade receivables, n 236,81 268,38t
Notes and mortgage receivables, 1,96t 3,30(
Inventories, ne 63,65¢ 52,80:
Prepaid expenst 19,87« 13,172
Investments, fixed maturitie 635,17¢ 709,35:
Investments, othe 345,20 349,14!
Deferred policy acquisition costs, r 52,54 76,93¢
Other asset 85,29 61,40¢
Related party asse 252,66t 326,88
1,749,15. 1,942,94.
Property, plant and equipment, at ct
Land 151,14! 158,59:
Buildings and improvemen 686,22! 874,98!
Furniture and equipme 265,21t 293,11!
Rental trailers and other rental equipm 199,46: 159,58t
Rental trucks 1,252,01 1,219,00:
SAC Holding Il Corporatioi— property, plant and equipme 77,59¢ 78,36
2,631,65! 2,783,64!
Less: Accumulated depreciati (1,277,19) (1,331,841
Total property, plant and equipme 1,354,46: 1,451,80!
Total asset $ 3,103,62. $ 3,394,74:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued exper 206,76 311,98¢
Capital lease — 99,60
AMERCCQC's notes and loans payal 780,00¢ 862,70:
SAC Holding Il Corporation notes and loans payabt&-recourse to AMERC( 77,47¢ 78,631
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expapagable 805,12: 820,73t
Liabilities from investment contrac 503,83t 574,74!
Other policyholder funds and liabilities 29,64 21,73:
Deferred incom 38,74 53,15(
Deferred income taxe 78,124 63,80(
Related party liabilitie: 11,07( 3,801
Total liabilities 2,530,78. 2,890,90:
Commitments and contingencies (notes 9, 15, 1@&nt719)
Stockholder’ equity:
Series preferred stock, with or without par vaib@,000,000 shares authoriz:
Series A preferred stock, with no par value, 6,000,shares authorized; 6,100,000 shares issued and
outstanding as of March 31, 2005 and 2 — —
Series B preferred stock, with no par value, 100 $lfares authorized; none issued and outstandiofy as
March 31, 2005 and 20( — —
Series common stock, with or without par value,,080,000 shares authorize
Series A common stock of $0.25 par value, 10,0@Dg&res authorized; 3,716,181 and 5,662,496 shares
issued as of March 31, 2005 and 2004, respect 92¢ 1,41¢
Common stock of $0.25 par value, 150,000,000 sheurt®rized; 38,269,518 and 36,323,205 issued as of
March 31, 2005 and 2004, respectiv 9,56¢ 9,081
Additional paic-in-capital 350,34« 349,73.
Accumulated other comprehensive I« (30,66) (21,44¢)
Retained earninc 671,64. 595,18:
Cost of common shares in treasury, net (20,701s686es as of March 31, 2005 and 2C (418,09) (418,09)
Unearned employee stock ownership plan st (10,89 (12,02¢)
Total stockholder equity 572,83¢ 503,84t
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 3,103,62; $ 3,394,74

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues:
Self-moving equipment renta
Self-storage revenue

Selfmoving and se-storage products and service si

Property management fe
Life insurance premium
Property and casualty insurance premit
Net investment and interest incol
Other revenus
Total revenue
Costs and expense
Operating expenst
Commission expenst
Cost of sale:
Benefits and losse
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition co
Lease expens
Depreciation, ne
Restructuring expens:
Total costs and expens
Earnings from operatior
Interest expens
Litigation settlement income, net of co
Pretax earnings (los
Income tax benefit (expens
Net earnings (loss
Less: Preferred stock dividen
Earnings (loss) available to common sharehol

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common s

Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic and dilutes

Years Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
$ 1,437,89! $ 1,381,20i $ 1,293,73.
114,15! 247,64( 238,93
206,09¢ 232,96 223,67
11,83¢ 25¢ 89
126,23t 145,08: 158,71¢
24,981 92,03¢ 149,20¢
56,73¢ 38,28! 40,73
30,17 38,52 36,252
2,008,12 2,175,99: 2,141,34.
1,122,19 1,179,99I 1,182,22.
172,30° 147,01( 138,65:
105,30¢ 111,90¢ 115,11
140,34: 217,44 248,34¢
28,51: 39,08: 37,68
151,35« 160,72 166,10:
121,108 148,81 137,44¢
— 44,09 6,56¢
1,841,12! 2,049,07! 2,032,13.
166,99¢ 126,91! 109,21(
(73,209 (121,69 (148,13))
51,34 — —
145,13: 5,22t (38,92)
(55,709 (8,077 13,93t
89,42 (2,857) (24,986
(12,969 (12,969 (12,969
$ 76,46 $ (15,815 $ (37,949
$ 3.6¢ $ (0.76) $ (1.82)
20,804,77 20,749,99

20,824,61

Related party revenues for fiscal 2005, 280d 2003, net of eliminations, were $25.8 milliag4 thousand and $0 respectively.
Related party costs and expenses for fige@b22004 and 2003, net of eliminations, were $2illion, $336 thousand and $0,

respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Less:
Unearned
Series A Accumulated Employee
Common Stock, Common Stock, Additional Other Less: Stock Total
$0.25 Par $0.25 Par Paid-In Comprehensive Retained Treasury Onwership Plan Stockholders'

Description Value Value Capital Loss Earnings Stock Shares Equity
Balance as of March 31, 200 $ 141€¢ $ 9,081 $239,55¢ $ (40,580 $606,17: $(419,970 $ (14,152 $ 381,52:
Issuance of common shares

under leveraged employee

stock ownership pla — — (509) — — — — (509)
Foreign currency translatic — — — 3,781 — — — 3,781
Fair market value of cash flow

hedge — — — (6,319 — — — (6,31¢)
Unrealized loss on investmel — — — (12,649 — — — (12,64%)
Net loss — — — —  (24,98¢) — — (24,98¢)
Preferred stock dividends:

Series A ($2.13 per share 1

2003) — — — — (12,969 — — (12,969)
Treasury stock transactio — — — — — (1,40¢) — (1,409
Shares allocated to participa — — — — — — 97t 97&
Net activity — — (509) (15,185 (37,949 (1,409 97t (54,076)
Balance as of March 31, 200 $ 141¢ $ 9,081 $239,04¢ $ (55,765 $568,22. $(421,37) $ (13,177 $ 327,441
Issuance of common shares

under leveraged employee

stock ownership pla — — (317) — — — — (317)
Foreign currency translatic — — — 4,93¢ — — — 4,93¢
Unrealized gain on investme — — — 27,89¢ — — — 27,89¢
Net loss — — — — (2,852 — — (2,852
Preferred stock dividends:

Series A ($2.13 per share for

2004) — — — — (12,969 — — (12,969)
Contribution from related par — — 110,99: — — — — 110,99:
SAC Holding Corporation

distribution — — — 1,487 42,77¢ 3,19¢ — 47,46(
Treasury stock transactio — — — — — 87 — 87
Shares allocated to participa — — — — — — 1,15] 1,15]
Net activity — — 110,68 34,31¢ 26,95¢ 3,28¢ 1,151 176,39¢
Balance as of March 31, 200 $ 141¢ $ 9,081 $349,73. $ (21,446 $595,18. $(418,09) $ (12,026 $ 503,84t
Issuance of common shares

under leveraged employee

stock ownership pla — — 612 — — — — 612
Foreign currency translatic — — — 1,56¢ — — — 1,56¢
Fair market value of cash flo

hedge — — — 47 — — — 47
Unrealized loss on investmet — — — (10,83)) — — — (10,83)
Net earning: — — — — 89,42« — — 89,42:
Preferred stock dividends:

Series A ($2.13 per share for

2005) — — — — (12,969 — — (12,969)
Purchase (sale) of shai (487) 487 — — — — — —
Shares allocated to participa — — — — — — 1,13¢ 1,13¢
Net activity (487) 487 612 (9,21%)  76,46: — 1,13¢ 68,99:
Balance as of March 31, 200 $ 922¢ % 9,56¢ $350,34« $ (30,66)) $671,64. $(418,09) $ (10,89) $ 572,83¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCO ME/(LOSS)

Years Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Comprehensive income (los:

Net earnings (loss $ 89,42« $ (2,85 $ (24,98¢)
Other comprehensive income (loss) net of
Foreign currency translatic 1,56¢ 6,42: 3,781
Fair market value of cash flow hedc¢ 47 — (6,31¢)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, (10,83) 27,89t (12,649
Total comprehensive income (lo¢ $ 80,20¢ $ 31,467 $ (40,17)

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net earnings (loss
Depreciatior
Amortization of deferred policy acquisition co
Provision for losses on accounts receivi
Provision for inventory reservi
Net (gain) loss on sale of real and personal ptgy
Net (gain) loss on sale of investme
Deferred income taxe
Net change in other operating assets and liatsi
Trade receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expens
Capitalization of deferred policy acquisition cc
Other asset
Related party asse
Accounts payable and accrued exper
Policy benefits and losses, claims and loss expepagable
Other policyholder funds and liabilities
Deferred incomt
Related party liabilitie:
Net cash provided (used) by operating activi
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of
Property, plant and equipme
Short term investmen
Fixed maturity investmeni
Equity securitie:
Other asset investments, |
Real estatr
Mortgage loan:
Notes and mortgage receivab
Proceeds from sales ¢
Property, plant and equipme
Short term investmen
Fixed maturity investmen
Equity securitie:
Preferred stoc
Real estat
Mortgage loan:
Notes and mortgage receivab
Net cash provided (used) by investing activi
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings from credit facilitie
Principal repayments on credit faciliti
Debt issuance cos
Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership F— Repayments from loa
Payoff of capital lease
Dividends paic
Investment contract depos
Investment contract withdrawe
Net cash provided (used) by financing activi
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004
(In thousands)

$ 89,424 $ (2,852
118,09: 144,88¢
28,51 39,08:
(50€) (272)
(2,000 (267)
3,01z 3,92¢
61€ (1,962)
61,11 96,04
32,18¢ 6,881
(9,85¢€) 73t
(6,7072) 8,67
(8,87%) (17,23)
(23,887) 2,19¢
74,78( (247,16))
(96,000 39,26¢
(15,619 (15,89¢)
7,91( (8,577)
(14,40°) 12,76
(18,079 (123,076
220,71¢ (62,83)
(284,96¢) (198,44
(16,83() —
(98,21)) (77,38¢)
(6,34¢) (1,736
— 637
(63) (17,15¢)
(2,750 (450)
243,70 63,17t
10,86¢ —
152,02« 243,49(
56 3,452
15,80: 16,88:
16,18t 6,33¢
5,36¢ 16,374
1,33¢ 5,00¢
36,17¢ 60,187
129,35! 997,01«
(213,40% (888,18
— (24,83))
1,13¢ 1,151
(99,609 —
(29,167 (3,24))
26,33! 50,99(
(97,137 (115,53()
(282,49) 17,36¢
(25,607) 14,72
81,557 66,83«
$ 55,95¢ $ 81,557

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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2003

$ (24,980

134,17(
37,68:
(213
(120)
3,27¢
61€
(26,19)

(9,80%)
12,62¢
(6,567)
(42,92¢)
(5,281)
(110,79)
70,91¢
17,04¢
(43,289
(2,879)

118,13¢

(243,16))
(278,35)

(40,910
(21,759

(1,030

96,88¢
364,11«
2,88t

22,04
18,17

(81,119

371,73t

(442,11}

(3,010
97E

(6,480)
165,28
(98,029
(11,63)

25,38¢

41,44¢
$ 66,83
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1: Basis of Presentatior

AMERCO has a fiscal year that ends on the 8fLlBlarch for each year that is referenced. Osutance company subsidiaries have fiscal
years that end on the 31st of December for eachtlyatis referenced. They have been consolidatatiat basis. Consequently, all referer
to our insurance subsidiaries’ years 2004, 20032802 correspond to fiscal years 2005, 2004 an@ 2@0AMERCO. The operating results
and financial position of AMERCOQO'’s consolidatedursnce operations are determined as of Decemb#&of3gach year.

Accounts denominated in non-U.S. currencasetbeen re-measured into U.S. dollars. Certairuatsaeported in previous years have
been reclassified to conform to the 2005 presentati
Note 2:  Principles of Consolidation

The 2005 consolidated financial statementstha 2004 balance sheet includes the account$/&RCO, its wholly owned subsidiaries,
and SAC Holding Il Corporation and its subsidiari€se 2004 statements of operations, compreheisieene, and cash flows, and the 2003
consolidated financial statements, include alhoise entities plus SAC Holding Corporation anditissidiaries.

In fiscal 2003 and 2002, SAC Holding Corpmmatand SAC Holding Il Corporation (together, th&(Sentities) were considered special
purpose entities and were consolidated based gortivision of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITFué¢shlo. 90-15.

In fiscal 2004, the Company applied FASB iptetation No. 46(R) to its interests in the SAGites. Initially, the Company concluded
that the SAC entities were variable interest exgiind that the Company was the primary beneficisgordingly, the Company continued
include the SAC entities in the consolidated finahstatements.

In February 2004, SAC Holding Corporationtmestured the financing of three subsidiaries drhtdistributed its interest in those
subsidiaries to its sole shareholder. This trigdereequirement to reassess the Company’s involnewi¢h those subsidiaries, which led to a
conclusion that the Company ceased to be the pyibvemeficiary of those three subsidiaries at tlae d

In March 2004, SAC Holding Corporation restured its financing, triggering a similar reassesst that led to a conclusion that SAC
Holding Corporation was not a Variable Interestigr(VIE) and the Company ceased to be the printeyeficiary of SAC Holding
Corporation and its remaining subsidiaries at tlzdit.

Accordingly, at the dates the Company ce&sde the primary beneficiary, it deconsolidateasthentities. The deconsolidation was
accounted for as a distribution of the Companytsrigsts to the sole shareholder of the SAC entiiesause of the Company’s continuing
involvement with SAC Holding Corporation and itgi@nt and former subsidiaries, the distributionsxdbqualify as discontinued operations
as defined by SFAS No. 144.

Inter-company accounts and transactions haee eliminated.

Description of legal entitie:
AMERCO, a Nevada corporation (fAMERCO"), ietholding company for:
L-Haul International, Inc.”U-Haul"),

Amerco Real Estate Compal‘Real Estat”),
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Republic Western Insurance Compe“RepWes") and its wholh-owned subsidiar
North American Fire & Casualty Insurance Camp(‘NAFCIC"),

Oxford Life Insurance Compan“Oxford”’) and its wholh-owned subsidiarie
North American Insurance Compa’“NAI")

Christian Fidelity Life Insurance Compar*CFLIC"),

"o«

Unless the context otherwise requires, tha t€ompany”, “we”, “us” or “our” refers to AMERC@nd all of its legal subsidiaries.

Description of Operating Segmen

AMERCO has five operating segments and feportable segments. Our reportable segments arenlyland Storage Operations,
Property and Casualty Insurance, Life InsuranceS@ Holdings.

Moving and Storage operations include AMER©GEHaul International, Inc and Amerco Real Estate Camypand consist of the rental
trucks and trailers, sales of moving supplies,ssafdrailer hitches, sales of propane, the resftaklf-storage spaces to the “do-it-yourself”
mover and management of self-storage propertieedwi others. Operations are conducted under tisteeed trade name U-Haul®
throughout the United States and Canada.

Property and Casualty Insurance includes Regi\&hd its wholly-owned subsidiary. RepWest presitbss adjusting and claims handling
for U-Haul through regional offices across North émma. RepWest also underwrites components of #fiensove, Safetow and Safestor
protection packages to U-Haul customers.

Life Insurance includes Oxford and its whebhyned subsidiaries. Oxford originates and reinsarauities; credit life and disability;
single premium whole life, group life and disalyiltoverage; and Medicare supplement insurance.r@xso administers the self-insured
employee health and dental plans for the Company.

SAC Holding Corporation and its subsidiaresd SAC Holding Il Corporation and its subsidiarieollectively referred to as SAC
Holdings, own self-storage properties that are rgaddy U-Haul under property management agreenagictsicts as an independent U-Haul
rental equipment dealer. AMERCO has contractuakésts in certain SAC Holdings properties entitfddERCO to potential future income
based on the financial performance of these priggeVith respect to SAC Holding Il Corporation, ARCO is considered the primary
beneficiary of these contractual interests. Consetiy, we include the results of SAC Holding Il @oration in the consolidated financial
statements of AMERCO, as required by FIN 46(R).

Note 3:  Accounting Policies
Use of Estimate:

The preparation of financial statements infoomity with the accounting principles generaliscapted in the United States requires
management to make estimates and judgments tleat #ft amounts reported in the financial statesnantl accompanying notes. The
accounting estimates that require management’s diffisult and subjective judgments include thengiples of consolidation, the
recoverability of property, plant and equipmeng &tequacy of insurance reserves, the recognitidmeeasurement of impairments for
investments accounted for under SFAS No. 115, laaddcognition and measurement of income tax aaset$iabilities. The actual results
experienced by the Company may differ from managgimestimates.
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Cash and Cash Equivalent

The Company considers cash equivalents tadiay liquid debt securities with insignificantte@rest rate risk with original maturities frc
the date of purchase of three months or less.

Financial Instruments that potentially subjpe Company to concentrations of credit risk ¢stn®incipally of cash deposits. Accounts at
each United States financial institution are indurg the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FQip to $100,000. Accounts at each
Canadian financial institution are insured by ttem&da Deposit Insurance Corporation (CDIC) up @ @8 CAD per account. At March 31,
2005, and March 31, 2004, the Company had apprdglyn@i44.5 million and $31.3 million, respectivelg,excess of FDIC and CDIC
insured limits.

Investments

Fixed Maturities. Fixed maturity investments consist of either maakégt debt or redeemable preferred stocks. As dbdtemce sheet
dates, these investments are either intended beldeto maturity or are considered available-fdesa

Held-to-Maturity. Investments that are intended to be held-to-matari recorded at cost, as adjusted for the anatidiz of premiums or
the accretion of discounts.

Available-for-Sale. Investments that are considered available-for-aedaeported at fair value, with unrealized gainksses, net of tax,
recorded in stockholdergquity. Fair value for these investments is baseduwted market prices, dealer quotes or discourdsh flows. Th
cost of investments sold is based on the speddéntification method. Realized gains or lossesherstle or exchange of investments and
declines in value judged to be other than temposegyrecorded as gains or losses. Investmentsidged to be impaired if the fair value is
less than cost continuously for nine months, absempelling evidence to the contrary. Unrealizethgyand losses are determined as of each
balance sheet date.

Mortgage Loans and Notes on Real Estate. Mortgage loans and notes on real estate are repattheir unpaid balance, net of any
allowance for possible losses and any unamortizeghjpm or discount.

Recognition of Investment Income. Interest income from bonds and mortgage notescgrdzed when it becomes earned. Dividends on
common and preferred stocks are recognized onxtitvelend dates. Realized gains and losses oraleeor exchange of investments are
recognized at the trade date.

Fair Values

Fair values of cash equivalents approximast due to the short period of time to maturityir Falues of short-term investments,
investments available-for-sale, long-term investteemortgage loans and notes on real estate, ter@sh rate cap contracts are based on
qguoted market prices, dealer quotes or discourasd ffows. Fair values of trade receivables appnaké their recorded value.

Limited credit risk exists on trade receivebtiue to the diversity of our customer base agid tispersion across broad geographic
markets. The Company’s financial instruments thatexposed to concentrations of credit risk consistarily of temporary cash
investments, trade receivables and notes receivBbieCompany places its temporary cash investmettifinancial institutions and limits
the amount of credit exposure to any one finanogtltution.

The Company has mortgage receivables, whotenpially expose the Company to credit risk. Thetfplio of notes is principally
collateralized by mini-warehouse storage faciliesl other residential and commercial propertié® Company has not experienced losses
related to the notes from individual notes or gapnotes in any particular industry or geograiiga. The estimated fair values were
determined using
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the discounted cash flow method and using inteegss currently offered for similar loans to boreyg/with similar credit ratings.

Other investments including short-term inuests are substantially current or bear reasorafgleest rates. As a result, the carrying
values of these financial instruments approximatevalue. The fair value of long-term debt is lthea current rates at which the Company
could borrow funds with similar remaining maturitiand approximates the carrying amount due t@dsnt issuance.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company’s primary objective for holdingrigative financial instruments is to manage curyeand interest rate risk. The Company’s
derivative instruments are recorded at fair valoden SFAS No. 133 and are included in prepaid esg®n

The Company uses derivative financial instuats to reduce its exposure to interest rate Vit)atDuring May 2004, the Company
entered into two separate interest rate cap agmsroa its $350 million amortizing term loan witmational value of $200 million for a two-
year term and $50 million for a thi-year term. These agreements cap the LIBOR compameiiie $250 million notional value at 3.0%
throughout the life of the cap. At March 31, 208t Company had $430 million of variable rate debt.

The hedging relationship of the cap agreemsntonsidered to be perfectly effective, theefalt changes in the hedging option’s fair
value (including changes in the option’s time valae charged to other comprehensive income. Thegehin each caplets respective
allocated fair value amount is reclassified oudaodumulated other comprehensive income into easnirigen each of the hedged forecasted
transactions (the quarterly interest payments) ahparnings. For the year ended March 31, 2005Ctmpany recorded $1,137,000 to
interest expense related to these cap agreemémibjath $144,000 represented the effective compbaogthe individual caplets that impac
earnings during the period and $993,000 represehtedap agreement’s change in fair value durieditist quarter of fiscal 2005, prior to
hedge accounting treatment being documented.

Inventories, nel

Inventories at fiscal year-ends were as ¥adlo

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
Truck and trailer parts and accessorie $ 46,62¢ $  36,40(
Hitches and towing components 11,35¢ 10,43t
Moving supplies and propane( 5,67¢ 5,96¢
Total $ 63,65¢ $ 52,80:

(@) Primarily held for internal usag
(b) Primarily held for retail sale

Inventories consist primarily of truck andiker parts and accessories used to repair regiépment and products purchased directly for
resale. Inventories are valued at the lower of oosharket. Inventory cost is primarily determineging the last-in, first-out method (“LIFQ”
Inventories valued on the LIFO basis were approaged3% of total inventories for fiscal 2005 ari@P® of total inventories for fiscal 2004.
Inventories would have been $3.2 million higheMatrch 31, 2005 and 2004, if the Company valuedntmées using the first-in, first-out
method. Inventories are stated net of a reservelfsolescence of $1.5 million and $2.5 million atrvh 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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Property, Plant and Equipmer

Property, plant and equipment are statedstt tnterest costs incurred during the initial gtoaction of buildings or rental equipment are
considered part of cost. Depreciation is computedifiancial reporting purposes principally usihg straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives: rental equipment 2-20 ydargdings and non-rental equipment 3-55 yearsokaverhauls to rental equipment are
capitalized and are amortized over the estimatedgéenefited. Routine maintenance costs are €elgiaigyoperating expense as they are
incurred. Gains and losses on dispositions of ptgpplant and equipment are netted against degtiieni expense when realized. The amount
of (gain) or loss netted against depreciation espermounted to $3.0 million, $3.9 million and (&)0nillion during fiscal 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. Depreciation is recognizednoants expected to result in the recovery of egdétheesidual values upon disposal, i.e., no
gains or losses. During the first quarter of fis2@D5, the Company lowered its estimates for redidalues on new rental trucks and rental
trucks purchased off TRAC (Terminal Rental Adjustin€lause) leases from 25% of the original co&(%. In determining the depreciation
rate, historical disposal experience, holding gisiand trends in the market for vehicles were restk

We regularly perform reviews to determine thiee facts and circumstances exist which indidad¢ the carrying amount of assets,
including estimates of residual value, may notdmoverable or that the useful life of assets istehor longer than originally estimated. We
assess the recoverability of the cost of our asgset®mparing the projected undiscounted net dastsfassociated with the related asset or
group of assets over their estimated remaining lagainst their respective carrying amounts. Inmpat, if any, is based on the excess of the
carrying amount over the fair value of those ass$etae remaining cost of assets is determineletoecoverable, but the useful lives are
shorter or longer than originally estimated, thebwok value of the assets is depreciated ovendindy determined remaining useful lives.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, basechareconomic market analysis, the Company decreheesktimated residual value of certain
rental trucks. The effect of the change decreaasuirgys from operations for fiscal 2005 by $2.1liavil or $0.10 per share before taxes, in
which the tax effect was approximately $0.04 pershThe in-house analysis of sales of trucks coeaptne truck model, size, age and
average residual value of units sold. Based ormatladysis, the estimated residual values are besngedsed to approximately 20% of historic
cost. The adjustment reflects managensbést estimate, based on information availablthetstimated residual value of these rental #1

The carrying value of surplus real estateictvis lower than market value at the balance stiatt, was $9.0 million and $1.5 million for
fiscal 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is incluikeidvestments, other.

Receivable:

Accounts receivable include trade accourts fmoving and self storage customers and deatenstance premiums and amounts due
from ceding re-insurers, less management’s estinfatacollectible accounts.

Insurance premiums receivable for policiex Hre billed through contracted agents are redondé of commissions payable. A
commission payable is recorded as a separateityafoil those premiums that are billed direct.

Reinsurance recoverable includes case resangtactuarial estimates of claims incurred buteorted (“IBNR”). These receivables are
not expected to be collected until after the asgediclaim has been adjudicated and billed toghesurer. The reinsurance recoverable may
have little or no allowance for doubtful accountedo the fact that reinsurance is typically precufrom carriers with strong credit ratings.
Furthermore, the Company does not cede lossesciasurer if the carrier is deemed financially ueaio perform on the contract. Also,
reinsurance recoverable includes insurance cedethér insurance companies.
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The amount outstanding increased in 2004 as at refsadiditional ceding on the transportaion andessovorkers compensation programs.

The receivable for premiums and agent bakdeereased by 77% in 2004, compared to 2003remult of RepWest exiting all lines not
affiliated with the sefl-moving and self-storageistries.

Notes and mortgage receivables include addnterest and are reduced by discounts and amoanssdered by management to be
uncollectible.

Policy Benefits and Losses, Claims and Loss ExparBayable

Oxford’s liability for life insurance and ¢aim annuity policies are established to meet Htenated future obligations of policies in force,
and are based on mortality and withdrawal assumgftieom recognized actuarial tables which contaamgims for adverse deviation.

Oxford’s liability for annuity contracts cassof contract account balances that accrue thbémefit of the policyholders, excluding
surrender values. Liabilities for health, disaibind other policies represents estimates of patgsiierbe made on insurance claims for
reported losses and estimates of losses incuratadb yet reported.

RepWest'’s liability for reported and unregartosses are based on RepWest's historical angtiydaverages. The liability for unpaid
loss adjustment expenses is based on historidas raft loss adjustment expenses paid to losses paidunts recoverable from re-insurers on
unpaid losses are estimated in a manner consigtinthe claim liability associated with the reimed policy. Adjustments to the liability for
unpaid losses and loss expenses as well as anreanigerable from re-insurers on unpaid losses lzaeged or credited to expense in the
periods in which they are made.

Revenue Recognitio

Self-moving rentals are recognized for theqakthat trucks and moving equipment are rentetf-8orage revenues are recognized based
on the number of storage contract days earneds 8akelf-moving and sebtorage related products are recognized at thethatditle passe
and the customer accepts delivery. Insurance pramare recognized over the policy periods. Inteaadtinvestment income are recognized
as earned.

Advertising

All advertising costs are expensed as incurelvertising expense was $32.9 million in fise@D5, $32.7 million in fiscal 2004 and
$39.9 million in fiscal 2003.

Deferred Policy Acquisition Cosi

Commissions and other costs that fluctuath,vaind are primarily related to the productioriutéire insurance premiums, are deferred.
Oxford, these costs are amortized in relation w@mee such that costs are realized as a constaarpage of revenue. For RepWest, these
costs are amortized over the related contract geriwhich generally do not exceed one year.

Environmental Costs

Liabilities are recorded when environmentsessments and remedial efforts, if applicablepaybable and the costs can be reasonably
estimated. The amount of the liability is basedranagement’s best estimate of undiscounted futsts cCertain recoverable environmental
costs related to the removal of underground stotagjes or related contamination are capitalizedamdrtized over the estimated useful Ii
of the properties. These costs improve the safiegfficiency of the property or are incurred in jpaeing the property for sale.
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Income Taxes

AMERCO files a consolidated tax return withad its legal subsidiaries, except for CFLIC, whifiles on a stand alone basis. SAC
Holding Il and its legal subsidiaries and SAC Hofgland its legal subsidiaries file seperate codatdid returns, and their returns are not
consolidated with AMERCO. In accordance with SFA& M09, the provision for income taxes reflectedefd income taxes resulting from
changes in temporary differences between the tsis lof assets and liabilities and their reportedamts in the financial statements.

Comprehensive Income/(Los

Comprehensive income/(loss) consists of mairne, foreign currency translation adjustmentsealived gains and losses on investments
and the fair market value of interest rate hedgesopf the related tax effects.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

On June 1, 2005, the Financial Accounting&sads Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Finan&izdounting Standards No. 154,
“Accounting Changes and Error Corrections (“SFAS N&4”"), a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, “Aaating Changes” and FASB
Statement No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changesiterim Financial Statements.” SFAS No. 154 appglieasll voluntary changes in
accounting principle and changes the requirementadcounting for and reporting a change in acdogrgrinciple. SFAS No. 154 requires
the retrospective application to prior periodsafitial statements of the direct effect of a volantdhange in accounting principle unless it is
impracticable. APB No. 20 required that most vodumtchanges in accounting principle be recognizemhduding in net income of the peri
of the change the cumulative effect of changintheonew accounting principle. The FASB stated 8f8AS No. 154 improves financial
reporting because its requirements enhance théstensy of financial information between periodsiéss early adoption is elected,

SFAS No. 154 is effective for fiscal years begimnaiter December 15, 2005. Early adoption is peeaifor fiscal years beginning after

June 1, 2005. SFAS No. 154 does not change thsiticanprovisions of any existing accounting proncements, including those that are in a
transition phase as of the effective date of ttatesnent. We do not believe that the adoption #ASNo. 154 will have a material effect on
our results of operations or financial position.

On December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Stateofd-inancial Accounting Standards No. 123 (regi2004), “Share-Based
Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R"). SFAS No. 123R is a séui of FASB Statement No. 123, “Accounting for dBased
Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123") and supersedes ARBION No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Elyges,” and its related
implementation guidance. SFAS No. 123R requirespaomies to measure and recognize compensation exfamall stockbased payments
fair value. Stock-based payments include stocloopgrants. SFAS No. 123R is effective for publionpanies for annual periods beginning
after June 15, 2005. Early adoption is encouragedetroactive application of the provisions of SKWo. 123R to the beginning of the fiscal
year that includes the effective date is permitbed,not required. We do not believe that the aidopdf SFAS No. 123R will have a mater
effect on our results of operations or financiasigon.

On November 24, 2004, the FASB issued Statéwfa-inancial Accounting Standards No. 151 “Inteep Costs — an amendment of
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (“SFAS No. 151") effectiverffiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. Btégement amends the guidance in
ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to digrthe accounting for abnormal amounts of idleilfacexpense, freight, handling costs,
and wasted material (spoilage). This Statementiresgjthat those items be recognized as currentgetiarges. In addition, this Statement
requires that allocation of fixed production oveatie to the costs of conversion be based on theat@apacity of the production facilities.
We do not believe that the adoption of SFAS No. Wllhave a material effect on our results of gigms or financial position.
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Note 4: Earnings Per Share

Net income for purposes of computing earnipgiscommon share is net income minus preferrezk stividends. Preferred stock
dividends include accrued dividends of AMERCO.

The shares used in the computation of thef@myis basic and diluted earnings per common share as follows:
Years Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common s $ 3.6¢€ $ (0.76) $ (1.87)
Weighted average common share outstanc
Basic and dilutet 20,804,77 20,749,99 20,824,61

The weighted average common shares outstgtidied above exclude post-1992 shares of the@raplstock ownership plan that have
not been committed to be released as of March@®15,2004, and 2003, respectively.

6,100,000 shares of preferred stock have breluded from the weighted average shares ouisiguediculation because they are not
common stock and they are not convertible into comistock.

Note 5: Trade Receivables, Ne

Trade receivables at fiscal year-ends werfelbsvs:

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)

Reinsurance recoverak $ 190,84( $ 180,48:
Paid losses recoverat 15,76¢ 25,41¢
Trade accounts receivak 9,841 5,08(
Accrued investment incon 7,70¢ 9,64¢
Premiums and ager' balance: 3,79¢ 9,091
E&O Recovery receivabl 2,20( —
Independent dealer receival 864 1,054
Other receivabli 7,191 39,62¢

238,20¢ 270,39¢
Less allowance for doubtful accoul (1,397 (2,012

$ 236,81 $ 268,38t

Note 6:  Notes and Mortgage Receivables, Net

Notes and mortgage receivables at fiscal-gads were as follows:

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
Notes, mortgage receivables and other, net of disk $ 4,58¢ $ 5,92¢
Less allowance for doubtful accoul (2,629 (2,629
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Note 7:  Investments
Held-to-Maturity Investments
Held-to-maturity investments at DecemberZI)4 were as follows:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
(In thousands)
U.S. treasury securities and government obligat $ 56€ $ 132 $ — $ 69¢
Mortgage-backed securitie 864 23 (2) 88t

$ 1,43( $ 15€ $ (@) $ 1,58¢

Held-to-maturity investments at DecemberZM)3 were as follows:

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
(In thousands)
U.S. treasury securities and government obligai $ 522 $ 14¢ $ — $ 67C
Mortgagebacked securitie 5,30¢ 10¢ (2) 5,41°F

$ 5,83( $ 257 $ 2 $ 6,08¢

The adjusted cost and estimated market \aflbeld-to-maturity investments in debt securiaé®ecember 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, by contractual maturity, were as follows:

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003

Estimated

Amortized Estimated Amortized Market

Cost Market Value Cost Value

(In thousands)

Due in one year or le: $ — $ — — $ —
Due after one year through five ye 26C 287 24C 28¢
Due after five years through ten ye 22C 28t 21¢ 294
After ten year: 86 127 63 93
56€ 69¢ 522 67C
Mortgage-backed securitie 864 88t 5,30¢ 5,41F
$ 1,43( $ 1,58¢ $ 5,83( $ 6,08¢

Expected maturities may differ from contrattonaturities as borrowers may have the right tbazgrepay obligations with or without
call or prepayment penalties.

The company deposits bonds with insurancelatgry authorities to meet statutory requiremente adjusted cost of bonds on deposit
with insurance regulatory authorities was $12.9iamlat December 31, 2004 and $12.9 million at Delger 31, 2003.

F-16




Table of Contents

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
Available-for-Sale Investment
Available-for-sale investments at December28D4 were as follows:
Gross
Unrealized Gross
Losses Unrealized
Gross More Losses Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Than Less Than Market
Cost Gains 12 Months 12 Months Value
(In thousands)
U.S. treasury securities and government obligal $ 28,24¢ $ 1,84( $ 28 ¢ (56) $ 30,00:
U.S. government agency mortg-backed securitie 9,71¢ 344 — — 10,06:
Obligations of states and political subdivisic 78¢€ 22 — — 81C
Corporate securitie 460,68’ 20,86 (3,309 (1,274 476,97:
Mortgagebacked securitie 78,32¢ 1,752 (2,937 (169 77,98
Redeemable preferred stoc 30,05¢ 1,22( — — 31,27¢
Equity securitie: 7,47¢ 46 — (881) 6,641
$ 615,30! $ 26,08¢ $ (5,262) $ (2,38() $ 633,74
Available-for-sale investments at December22D3 were as follows:
Gross
Unrealized Gross
Losses Unrealized
Gross More Losses Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Than Less Than Market
Cost Gains 12 Months 12 Months Value
(In thousands)
U.S. treasury securities and government obligal $ 29,76¢ $ 2,13¢ $ 36 $ = $ 31,86
U.S. government agency mortg-backed securitie 10,57( 31¢€ — (12 10,87¢
Obligations of states and political subdivisic 2,85( 91 — — 2,941
Corporate securitie 510,59¢ 32,51t (6,562) (90%) 535,64«
Mortgagebacked securitie 74,26¢ 1,73¢ (1,059 (31¢) 74,63¢
Redeemable preferred stoc 45,86! 1,42¢ (68) 3 47,21¢
Equity securitie: 243 10€ — — 34¢
$ 674,15! $ 38,321 $ (7,719  $ (1,23¢) $ 703,52

The Company sold available-for-sale secwitith a fair value of $167.5 million in 2004, $28illion in 2003 and $248.0 million in
2002. The gross realized gains on these salegdo$®l.3 million in 2004, $5.3 million in 2003 an@.@ million in 2002. The company realiz
gross losses on these sales of $1.7 million in 2884 million in 2003 and $2.4 million in 2002. &hompany recognized a write-down of
investments due to other than temporary declinesvarable-forsale investments of approximately $4.3 million 602, $5.0 million in 200:
and $9.8 million in 2002. The unrealized losses@néed in the tables above that are more than T2hsare considered temporary declines.
The Company tracks each of these investments aaldates them on an individual basis for other tiemmporary declines including obtaini
corroborating
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opinions from third party sources, performing tremalysis and reviewing underlying managementigréuplans.

The adjusted cost and estimated market \aflagailable-for-sale investments in debt secwsitieDecember 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, by contractual maturity, were as follows:

December 31, 2004 December 31, 2003
Estimated Estimated
Amortized Market Amortized Market
Cost Value Cost Value
(In thousands)

Due in one year or le: $ 110,67¢ $ 112,05¢ $ 50,69¢ $ 50,841
Due after one year through five ye 181,45! 185,89( 270,18t 283,71:
Due after five years through ten ye 109,10¢ 113,07¢ 132,00¢ 137,96
After ten year: 98,20( 106,82- 100,88t 108,79!
499,44 517,84¢ 553,78: 581,32!
Mortgage-backed securitie 78,32¢ 77,98 74,26¢ 74,63¢
Redeemable preferred stoc 30,05¢ 31,27¢ 45,86: 47,21¢
Equity securitie: 7,47¢ 6,641 243 34¢

$ 615,30 $ 633,74t $ 674,15 $ 703,52

Investments, othe

The carrying value of other investments stdl year-ends was as follows:

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
Shor-term investment $ 193,52! $ 187,56(
Mortgage loans, ne 51,19¢ 53,49¢
Real estat: 93,17¢ 101,42:
Policy loans 5,18¢ 5,69¢
Other 2,12 97C

$  345,20° $ 349,14!

Short-term investments primarily consist efwrities with fixed maturities of three monthsotwe year from acquisition date.

Mortgage loans are carried at the unpaidriz&aless an allowance for possible losses andiaamortized premium or discount. The
allowance for possible losses was $1.0 million &hd million as of March 31, 2005 and 2004, redpebt. The estimated fair value of these
loans at March 31, 2005 and 2004 approximateddhgiog value. These loans represent first lientgages held by the Company’s
insurance subsidiaries.

Real estate obtained through foreclosureshetdifor sale and equity investments are carrigbdealower of cost or fair value.
Insurance policy loans are carried at thepaid balance.
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Note 8: Investment and Interest Income Ne
Investment and interest income, net wer@bsws:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Fixed maturities $ 21,08t $ 23,00: $ 35,95
Real estat 12,83¢ 10,87¢ 3,57¢
Insurance policy loan 16C 49¢ —
Mortgage loan: 6,312 7,17: 35
Shor-term, amounts held by ceding reinsurers, net aner ahvestment (2,447) 1,61¢€ (3,049
Investment incom 37,95 43,16¢ 36,52:

Less investment expens (3,159 (6,517 (1,112)
Investment incorr-related part) 21,94: 1,624 5,322
Investment and interest income, $ 56,73¢ $ 38,28: $ 40,73:

Investment expenses include costs incurrédenmanagement of the investment portfolio anerést credited on annuity policies.

Interest income increased in fiscal 2005 carag with fiscal 2004 primarily as a result of ttezonsolidation of SAC Holding
Corporation.

On June 30, 2003, the Company’s insurancsidiaies exchanged their investments in Privatei 8iorage Realty, L.P. (“Private Mini”)
which, at the time of the exchange had a carryadgev of zero, for other real property owned by$#eC entities. The exchanges were non-
monetary and were recorded on the basis of the balole of the assets exchanged.

Note 9:  Borrowings
Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at fiscal year-ends was devid:

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
Revolving credit facility, senior secured firstri $ 84,86: $ 164,05
Senior amortizing notes, secured, first lien, d0@% 346,50( 350,00(
Senior notes, secured second lien, 9.0% interestdae 200! 200,00( 200,00(
Senior subordinated notes, secured, 12.0% inteatstdue 201 148,64t 148,64t
Total AMERCO notes and loans paya $ 780,00t $ 862,70:

First Lien Senior Secured Notes

The Company has a First Lien Senior Secureditcfacility, due 2009 in the amount of $550 roifl, with a banking syndicate led and
arranged by Wells Fargo Foothill, a part of Wellsgo & Company (the “Senior Secured Facility”). $besenior notes consist of two
components, a $200 million revolving credit fagil{ftncluding a $50 million letter of credit sub-fity) and a $350 million amortizing term
loan.
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The $350 million amortizing term loan regsiraonthly principal payments of $291,667 and peciaiterest payments with the balance
due on maturity in 2009. The interest rate pemtteisions of the term loan agreement is definethas3-month London Inter Bank Offer
Rate (“LIBOR"), plus 3.5%, the sum of which at Mar81, 2005 was 6.46%. Advances under the revoleiadit facility are based on a
borrowing base formula, which is based on a peaggnof the value of our eligible real estate. Omde81, 2005, outstanding advances
under the revolving credit facility totaled $84.49limn and $115.1 million was available to borrowhe interest rate per the provisions of the
revolving credit facility agreements are definedhasprime rate (“Prime”) plus 1.0%, the sum of ethat March 31, 2005 was 6.75% or
LIBOR plus 3.5%. The Senior Secured Facility isused by a first priority position in substantiallyt of the assets of AMERCO and its
subsidiaries, except for our notes receivable fBAC Holdings, certain real estate held for sale,daipital stock of our insurance subsidia
real property previously mortgaged to Oxford antieles subject to certain lease financing arrangese

9.0% Second Lien Senior Secured Notes

The Company issued and has outstanding $200rmaggregate principal amount of 9.0% SeconenLsenior Secured Notes due 2009.
These senior notes are secured by a second prpmsfiion in the same collateral which securesafaligations under the First Lien Senior
Secured Notes. No principal payments are due oSégend Lien Senior Secured Notes until maturitterest is paid quarterly.

Senior Subordinated Notes

The Company issued and has outstanding $Milién aggregate principal amount of 12.0% Ser8abordinated Notes due 2011 (the
“Senior Subordinated Notes”). No principal paymears due on the Senior Subordinated Notes untiliritat These senior notes, which are
subordinated to all of the senior indebtednessMERCO (including the First Lien Senior Secured Naed the Second Lien Senior Sect
Notes, both due 2009), are secured by certainsass&MERCO, including the capital stock of Oxfombrtain real estate held for sale :
payments from notes receivable from SAC Holdingarntwan aggregate outstanding principal balanddaath 31, 2005 of $203.7 million.
Interest is paid quarterly.

Restrictive Covenants

Under the abovementioned loan agreementongpany is required to comply with a number ofrafétive and negative covenants.
These covenants apply to the obligors, and praide among other things:

« On a quarterly basis, the obligors cannot allowHBA minus capital expenditures (as defined) to li@llow specified levels
 The obligors are restricted in the amount of cagxpenditures that they can make in any fiscat.y

* The obligor’ ability to incur additional indebtedness is res&it

* The obligor’ ability to create, incur, assume or permit to eaisy lien on or against any of the secured asseésiricted

* The obligor’ ability to convey, sell, lease, assign, transfeotherwise dispose of any of the secured assedstiscted.

« The obligors cannot enter into any merger, conatibth, reorganization, or recapitalization (subjectxceptions) and they cannot
liquidate, wind up or dissolve any of their subarifis that are a borrower under the abovementitm@dagreements, unless the assets
of the dissolved entity are transferred to anosiudasidiary that is a borrower under the abovemeatidoan agreements and certain
other conditions are me
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* The obligors ability to guarantee the obligatiohshe insurance subsidiaries or any third parteigricted.

« The obligors ability to prepay, redeem, defease;lmse or otherwise acquire any of their indebtsslioe any indebtedness of a
subsidiary that is a borrower under the abovemeatidoan agreements is restrict

« The Company'’s credit facility and its senior natdentures limit the Company’s ability to pay dividis and accordingly, the Company
does not anticipate declaring and paying dividesrdgs common stock in the foreseeable fut

As of March 31, 2005 and 2004 the Company iwa®mpliance with these covenants.

The W.P.Carey Transaction

In 1999, AMERCO and U-Haul and Real Estater into financing agreements for the purchasecanstruction of self-storage
facilities with the Bank of Montreal and Citibartké “leases” or the “synthetic leases”). Titlehe teal property subject to these leases was
held by non-affiliated entities.

These leases were amended and restated ah M&r2004. As a result, we paid down approxirye#8tL million of lease obligations and
entered into leases with a three year term, witin éme year renewal options. After such pay down J@ase obligation under the amended
and restated synthetic leases was approximatelg.$2illion.

On April 30, 2004, the amended and restatadds were terminated and the properties undertlyesg leases were sold to UH Storage
(DE) Limited Partnership, an affiliate of W. P. €ar U-Haul entered into a ten year operating leatie W. P. Carey (UH Storage DE) for a
portion of each property (the portion of the prapéhat relates to U-Haul’s truck and trailer rér@ad moving supply sales businesses). The
remainder of each property (the portion of the propthat relates to self-storage) was leased bpV€arey (UH Storage DE) to Mercury
Partners, LP (“Mercury”) pursuant to a 20 year éed$hese events are referred to as the “W. P. Camrysactions.” As a result of the W. P.
Carey Transactions, we no longer have a capitakleslated to these properties. The terms of thB Warey Transactions provide for us to
be reimbursed for capital improvements we previpushde to the properties, subject to conditiond¢clvive expect will occur over a period
of approximately 18 months following the closing.

The sales price for these transactions wasg.g2million and cash received was $298.9 millibhe Company realized a gain on the
transaction of $2.7 million, which is being amoetizover the life of the lease term.

As part of the W. P. Carey Transactiongjlalil entered into agreements to manage these piespéncluding the portion of the propert
leased by Mercury). These management agreemeois adl to continue to operate the properties asgbante U-Haul moving and self-
storage system.

U-Haul's annual lease payments under thelrage are approximately $10 million per year, W@l inflation adjustments beginning in
the sixth year of the lease. The lease term igé¢ans, with a renewal option for an additional years. Upon closing of the W. P. Carey
Transactions, we made a $5 million security deparsit an earn-out deposit of $22.9 million. The sigcdeposit will be refunded to us at the
end of the lease term. The eaun-deposit will be refunded at the earlier of #thievement of certain property level financialagor the ent
of the lease term.

The property management agreement we entgi@aith Mercury provides that Mercury will pay Haul a management fee based on
gross self-storage rental revenues generated lpyrdperties. During fiscal 2005, U-Haul earned $hidlion in management fees from
Mercury.
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Annual Maturities of AMERCO Consolidated Notes and Loans Payable
The annual maturity of AMERCO Consolidateddeerm debt as of March 31, 2005 for the next figars and thereafter is as follows:

Year Ended
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter
(In thousands)
Notes payable, secur $3,500 $3,500 $3,500 $620,86- $— $ 148,64t

SAC Holding Il Corporation Notes and Loans Payable to Third Parties

SAC Holding Il Corporation notes and loangadae at fiscal year-ends were as follows:

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)

Notes payable, secured, 7.87% interest rate, d2ié $77,474 $78,637

On March 15, 2004, the SAC entities issue@D$®aillion aggregate principal amount of 8.5% seniotes due 2014 (the “new SAC
Note¢"). SAC Holding Corporation and SAC Holding Il Can@tion are jointly and severally liable for thed#igations. The proceeds from
this issuance flowed exclusively to SAC Holding ganation. No liability for this payable is at SAMlding Il Corporation.

Annual Maturities of SAC Holding I Corporation Notes

The annual maturity of SAC Holding Il Corptioa long-term debt for the next five years anddladter is as follows:

Year Ended
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Thereafter
(In thousands)
Notes payable, secur $ 1331 $132( $143( $166¢ $ 1,80 $ 69,92¢

Secured notes payable are secured by deadsstsf on the collateralized land and buildinggdipal and interest payments on notes
payable to third party lenders are due monthlyt&emnotes payable contain provisions wherebydaad may not be prepaid at any time |
to the maturity date without payment to the lerofeat Yield Maintenance Premium, as defined in tianlagreements.
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Note 10: Interest on Borrowings
Interest Expense
Interest expense was as follows:

Years Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Interest expens $ 62,70¢ $ 76,007 $ 76,18¢
Capitalized interes (18€) (270 (732
Amortization of transaction cos 3,321 1,82t 90z
Fees on early termination of BBA1 — — 26,50(
Interest expense resulting from interest rate 1,137 — —
Total AMERCO interest expen: 66,97¢ 77,56 102,85¢
SAC Holding! interest expens 14,181 80,96: 81,16+
Less: Intercompany transactic (7,960 (36,835 (35,889
Total SAC entitie’ interest expens 6,22 44,12¢ 45,27¢
Total $ 73,20¢ $ 121,69 $ 148,13:

The exposure to market risk for changes tierast rates relates primarily to our variable dabt obligations. We have used interest rate
swap agreements to provide for matching the galoss recognition on the hedging instrument with thcognition of the changes in the cash
flows associated with the hedged asset or liakdgitsibutable to the hedged risk or the earninggscebf the hedged forecasted transaction. At
March 31, 2005 the Company had no interest rat@ ®oatracts. On May 13, 2004 the Company enteredsieparate interest rate cap
contracts for $200 million of its variable rate tlebligations for a two year term and for $50 mitliof its variable rate debt obligations. A
fluctuation in the interest rates of 100 basis towould change interest expense for the Comparappyoximately $4.3 million annually.

Interest paid in cash by AMERCO amounted3d.6 million, $76.6 million and $77.9 million foistal years 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Interest Rates

Interest rates and company borrowings werelksvs:

Revolving Credit Activity

Year Ended
AMERCO 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except interest rates)

Weighted average interest rate during the 5.65% 6.75% 4.€%
Interest rate at year el 6.4% 5.5(% 7.C%
Maximum amount outstanding during the y $ 164,05: $ 205,00t $  400,00(
Average amount outstanding during the y $ 46,77 $ 174,26 $ 248,84
Facility fees $ — $ 1,33: $ 1,537
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Note 11:  Stockholders Equity
AMERCO has authorized capital stock as folow

Issued and
Authorized Outstanding
(In thousands)
AMERCO common stoc 150,00 38,27(
AMERCO serial common stoc 150,00( 3,71¢
AMERCO serial preferred stoc 50,00( 6,10(

The Serial common stock may be issued in sedies and on such terms as the Board shall dierithe Serial preferred stock may be
issued with or without par value. The 6.1 millidrages of Series A, no par, non-voting,/8% cumulative preferred stock that are issued and
outstanding are not convertible into, or exchantgefdy, shares of any other class or classes ckaibAMERCO. Dividends on the Series A
preferred stock are payable quarterly in arreadshteve priority as to dividends over the commomwlstaf AMERCO.

Note 12:  Comprehensive Income
The components of accumulated other compheincome/(loss), were as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Accumulated foreign currency translati $ (33,349 $ (34,919 $ (41,339
Accumulated unrealized gain (loss) on investm 2,63¢ 13,461 (14,429
Accumulated fair market value of cash flow he 47

$ (30,66) $ (21,446 $ (55,769

A summary of accumulated comprehensive in¢dlnss) components in thousands, were as follows:

Fair Market Accumulated
Foreign Unrealized Value of Other
Currency Gain/(Loss) Cash Flow Comprehensive
Translation on Investments Hedge Income
(In thousands)
Balance at March 31, 2003 $ (41,33¢) $ (14,429 $ — $ (55,765
Foreign currency translati— U-Haul 4,93¢ — — 4,93¢
Foreign currency translati— SAC 1,48 — — 1,487
Unrealized gain on investmer — 27,89¢ — 27,89¢
Balance at March 31, 200: (34,919 13,46" — (21,44¢)
Foreign currency translatic— U-Haul 1,56¢ — — 1,56¢
Change in fair value of cash hec — — 47 47
Unrealized loss on investmer — (10,83) — (10,83)
Balance at March 31, 200! $ (33,349 $ 2,63¢ $ 47 $ (30,667
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Note 13:  Provision for Taxes

Income before taxes and the provision foesasonsisted of the following:
Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Pretax earnings (loss
u.s. $ 143,84( $ (1,166 $ (45,62
Non-U.S. 1,292 6,391 6,707

$ 145,13. $ 5,22¢ $ (38,92)

Total pretax earnings (los
Provision for taxes

Federal:
Current $ 30,53¢ $ 9,70 $ 4,44(
Deferred 17,80: (4,499 (19,63)
State:
Current 5,752 3,147 2,127
Deferred 1,61¢ (1,395 1,710
Non-U.S.:
Current — 1,11¢ 84C
Deferred — — —

Total income tax expense (bene $ 55,70¢ $ 8,07i $ (13,939

Income taxes paid in cash amounted to $3@l@m $4.0 million, and $12.8 million for fiscalears 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

The difference between the tax provisiorhatdtatutory federal income tax rate and the taxipion attributable to income before taxes

was as follows:
Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In percentages)
Statutory federal income tax re 35.0(% 35.0(% (35.00%
Increase (reduction) in rate resulting frc
State and foreign taxes, net of federal bel 3.1€% 36.4% 2.22%
Canadian subsidiary income (lo: (0.30)% (20.5)% (2.99%
Interest on deferred tax 0.43% 12.0/% 1.62%
Tax-exempt interest income (los —% (0.42% (0.19%
IRS Settlemen —% 91.11% —%
Other 0.1(% 0.92% (1.46%

Effective tax rate 38.3t% 154.5&% (35.80%
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Significant components of the Company’s defétax assets and liabilities at fiscal year-amee as follows:

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss and credit carryforwa $ 27,18 $ 48,28
Accrued expense 102,96: 91,78(
Deferred revenue from sale/leaseb — 9,77
Policy benefit and losses, claims and loss expepegable, ne 21,04¢ 22,76
Unrealized gains and (losse 7,235 (1,447
Total deferred tax asse 158,42¢ 171,16
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme 214,56: 211,68:
Deferred policy acquistion cos 12,36 16,10
Other 9,62% 7,17¢
Total deferred tax liabilitie 236,55:. 234,96
Net deferred tax liabilit $ 78,124 $ 63,80(

Under the provisions of the Tax Reform ActléB4 (the Act), the balance in Oxford’s accourdigieated “Policyholders’ Surplus
Account” is frozen at its December 31, 1983 balasfc®19.3 million. Federal income taxes (Phasewil) be payable thereon at applicable
current rates if amounts in this account are distad to the stockholder or to the extent the attexceeds a prescribed maximum. Oxford
did not incur a Phase Il liability for the yeanmsded December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

At March 31, 2005 and March 31, 2004, the AR@D affiliated group has non-life net operatingsloarryforwards available to offset
federal taxable income in future years of $0 anel4®nillion, respectively. These carryforwards ezpn 2012 through 2020. At March 31,
2005 and March 31, 2004, AMERCO has alternativeimmum tax credit carryforwards of $19.1 million aB@.6 million, respectively, which
do not have an expiration date, and may only Hizedi in years in which regular tax exceeds altéveaminimum tax. At March 31, 2005 a
March 31, 2004, U-HAUL Co. (Canada) Ltd. has nen&han operating loss carryforwards available featfCanadian taxable income of
$5.5 million, stated in U.S. dollars. These carryfards expire in 2012 and 2011 respectively.

SAC Holdings began to file tax returns in fiseal year ending March 31, 2003, and has netatipgy losses of $20.6 million and
$14.2 million in the fiscal years ending March 2005 and March 31, 2004, respectively, to offsealée income in future years. These
carryforwards expire in 2024 and 2025.

Under certain circumstances and sectionsefriternal Revenue Code, a change in ownershigafopurposes will limit the amount of r
operating loss carryforwards that can be usedfsebfuture taxable income.
Note 14: Employee Benefit Plans

Profit Sharing Plans

The Company provides tax-qualified profit shg retirement plans for the benefit of eligiblm@oyees, former employees and retirees in
the U.S. and Canada. The plans are designed tapremnployees with an
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accumulation of funds for retirement on a tax-defebasis and provide for annual discretionary eggal contributions. Amounts to be
contributed are determined by the chief executifieer of the Company under the delegation of atitihdrom the Board of Directors,
pursuant to the terms of the Profit Sharing Plam chintributions were made to the profit sharinqimaring fiscal 2005, 2004 or 2003.

The Company also provides an employee savyifagswhich allows participants to defer income @em8ection 401(k) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986.

ESOP Plan

The Company also provides an Employee Stogkedship Plan (the “Plan”) under which the Comparay make contributions of its
common stock or cash to acquire such stock on behpérticipants. Generally, employees are elwital participate in the Plan upon
completion of one year of service. The Companydreanged financing to fund the Plan Trust (ESOT) tnenable the ESOT to purchase
shares. Listed below is a summary of these fingnamangements as of fiscal year-end:

Outstanding as of Interest Payments
March 31,
Financing Date 2005 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
June, 199: $ 12,58: $ 1,00¢ $ 1,15¢ $97¢
March, 199¢ 10C 8 11 11
February, 200! 62€ 54 74 62
April, 2001 121 9 12 5

Shares are released from collateral and atkalcto active employees based on the proportigielof service paid in the plan year.
Contributions to the ESOT that were charged to egpeluring fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 were $2.liamjl$2.1 million and $2.2 million,
respectively.

Shares held by the Plan as of year-end veefellaws:

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
Allocated share 1,514 1,571
Unreleased shart 652 727
Fair value of unreleased sha $ 21,554 $ 12,24¢

For purposes of the above schedule, theséire of unreleased shares issued prior to 198&fieed as the historical cost of such shares.
The fair value of unreleased shares issued subsetpuBecember 31, 1992 is defined as the tradaigevof such shares as of March 31, Z
and March 31, 2004, respectively.

Insurance Plans

Oxford insures various group life and grougadility insurance plans covering employees ofGenpany. Premiums earned by Oxford
on these policies were $1.5 million, $4.5 milliamde$4.4 million for the years ended December 3042Q@003, and 2002, respectively. The
group life premiums are paid by the Company andeétamounts were eliminated from the Company’s firstatements in consolidation.

Post Retirement and Post Employment Bene

The Company provides medical and life insaoealbenefits to eligible employees and dependetbeTeligible, employees need to be «
age 65 and meet specified years of service reqeimt&snThe Company
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uses the accrual method of accounting for posteragnt benefits and funds these benefit costsagmslare incurred.
The components of net periodic post retirernbenefit cost for fiscal years ended March 31,52@D04 and 2003 were as follows:

Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Service cost for benefits earned during the pe $ 31€ $ 31t $ 29¢
Interest cost on accumulated postretirement be 313 331 35E
Other component (317) (54€) (279)
Net periodic postretirement benefit ¢ $ 31z $ 97 $ 37E
The fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 post retiratrizenefit liability included the following compomts:
Year Ended
March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
Beginning of yea $ 5,07 $ 4,97¢
Service cost for benefits earned during the pe 31¢€ 31t
Interest cost on accumulated post retirement b 313 331
Benefit payments and exper (11€) (108)
Actuarial gain (207) (441)
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligat 5,38¢ 5,07¢
Unrecognized net ga 4,397 4,517
Total post retirement benefit liabili $ 9,788 $ 9,587
The discount rate assumptions in computiegrformation above were as follows:
March 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In percentages)
Accumulated postretirement benefit obligat 5.75% 6.25% 6.75%

The discount rate represents the expected grea portfolio of high grade (AA to AAA rated eqguivalent) fixed income investments
with cash flow streams sufficient to satisfy benefiligations under the plan when due. Fluctuatiartbe discount rate assumptions prima
reflect changes in U.S. interest rates. The estichhéalth care cost inflation rates used to meakeraccumulated post retirement benefit
obligation was 5.75% in fiscal 2005, which was pobd¢d to decline annually to an ultimate rate 80% in fiscal 2017.

If the estimated health care cost inflatiaterassumptions were increased by one percerdacthemulated post retirement benefit
obligation as of fiscal year-end would increaseapproximately $379,653. A decrease in the estimagadth care cost inflation rate
assumption of one percent would decrease the adatedipost retirement benefit obligation as ofdisgear-end by $413,256.

Post employment benefits provided by the Camypother than retirement, are not material.
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The following benefit payments, which reflespected future service, as appropriate, are ¢éxgpec be paid:

Amount
(In thousands)
Year-ended:

2006 $ 117
2007 12¢
2008 14t
2009 162
2010 18t
Thereaftel 1,39:

Total $ 2,13(

Note 15: Reinsurance and Policy benefits and losses, clairasd loss expenses payab

During their normal course of business, osurance subsidiaries assume and cede reinsuraf®ioa coinsurance and a risk premium
basis. They also obtain reinsurance for that pomiorisks exceeding their retention limits. Thexinaum amount of life insurance retained on
any one life is $150,000.

Ceded to Assumed Percentage of
Direct Other from Other Net Amount
Amount(a) Companies Companies Amount(a) Assumed to Ne

(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 20C

Life insurance in forc $ 1,147,38I $ 336,57 $ 1,785,44 $ 2,596,24i 69%
Premiums earne
Life $ 9,372 $ 6,10¢ $ 8,36¢ $ 11,63: 72%
Accident and healt 99,40: 6,71¢ 17,72¢ 110,41 16%
Annuity 1,901 — 2,291 4,192 55%
Property and casual 29,96¢ 10,23t 5,25i 24,98 21%
Total $ 140,64( $ 23,05¢ $ 33,63¢ $ 151,22
Year ended December 31, 2003
Life insurance in forc $ 1,134,05 $ 218,68: $ 1,842,66! $ 2,758,03! 67%
Premiums earnel
Life $ 17,30¢( $ 2,84( $ 7,62¢ $ 22,08¢ 35%
Accident and healt 109,13! 5,34¢ 14,56 118,35( 12%
Annuity 1,95¢ — 2,692 4.,64¢ 58%
Property and casual 106,59¢ 32,96¢ 18,40¢ 92,03¢ 20%
Total $ 234,98 $ 41,15¢ $ 43,28¢ $ 237,11¢
Year ended December 31, 2002
Life insurance in forc $ 2,036,99 $ 1,045,01. $ 1,613,81 $ 2,605,79 62%
Premiums earne
Life $ 22,97 $ 10,07¢ $ 15,11: $ 28,00¢ 54%
Accident and healt 114,52¢ 15,27« 26,58 125,83 21%
Annuity 1,27z — 3,60¢ 4,881 74%
Property and casual 166,67¢ 69,37+ 51,90: 149,20¢ 35%
Total $ 305,44 $ 94,72¢ $ 97,20: $ 307,92

(a) Balances are reported net of i-segment transaction
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Premiums eliminated in consolidation werdadlews:

RepWest Oxford
(In thousands)
2004 $ — $ 1,47¢
2003 1,20¢ 2,671
2002 3,412 2,67¢

To the extent that a re-insurer is unablmé®t its obligation under the related reinsuramgreements, RepWest would remain liable for
the unpaid losses and loss expenses. Pursuantamaaf these agreements, RepWest holds lettersedit at years-end in the amount of
$9.0 million from re-insurers and has issued lsttdrcredit in the amount of $12.2 million in fawafrcertain ceding companies.

Policy benefits and losses, claims and laperses payable were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)
Unpaid losses and loss adjustment exp: $ 380,87 $ 416,25¢
Reinsurance losses paya 7,51¢ 9,02¢
Unearned premiun 2,992 11,30¢
Total $ 391,38: $ 436,59:

Activity in the liability for unpaid lossesid loss adjustment expenses for RepWest is sumaasaiz follows:
Year Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Balance at January $ 416,25¢ $ 399,44 $ 448,98

Less reinsurance recovera 177,63! 146,62: 128,04
Net balance at January 238,62« 252,82! 320,94
Incurred related tc

Current yea 17,96( 56,45« 112,28«

Prior years 21,77 53,12} 16,39¢
Total incurrec 39,73 109,58: 128,68
Paid related tc

Current yea 13,57( 22,93 66,72¢

Prior years 73,38¢ 100,85 130,07(
Total paid 86,95 123,78 196,79¢
Net balance at December 191,40 238,62 252,82!

Plus reinsurance recoveral 189,47 177,63! 146,62.
Balance at December . $ 380,87! $ 416,25¢ $ 399,44
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Note 16:  Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

The Company leases a portion of its rentalgrgent and certain of its facilities under opergtieases with terms that expire at various
dates substantially through 2034. At March 31, 280MERCO has guaranteed $143.9 million of residiwgdilies for these assets at the end of
the respective lease terms. Certain leases camta@wal and fair market value purchase optionsedkas other restrictions. At the expiration
of the lease, the Company has options to reneve#s®, purchase the asset for fair market valusglbthe asset to a third party on behalf of
the lessor. AMERCO has been leasing equipment 4i88€ and has experienced no material lossesnmglatithese types of residual value
guarantees.

Lease expense during each fiscal years-escwéollows:

March 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)
Lease expens $151,354 $160,727 $166,10C
Lease commitments for leases having ternma€ than one year as of fiscal year-end were |esv®:
Property
Plant and Rental
Equipment Equipment Total
(In thousands)
Yearended:
2006 $ 11,85¢ $ 90,26: $ 102,11¢
2007 11,067 72,287 83,35¢
2008 10,93t 40,07: 51,00¢
2009 10,62: 26,64¢ 37,27(
2010 10,21t 16,40¢ 26,62:¢
Thereaftel 45,54¢ 11,287 56,83!
Total $ 100,23t $ 256,96+ $ 357,20(

Note 17:  Contingencies
Kocher

On March 2, 2005 Oxford settled a case peninVetzel County, West Virginia bearing the caaptionCharles Kocher v. Oxford Life
Insurance Co. , Civil Action No. 00-C-51-K (the “Action”). In casideration of the payment of $12.8 million, ChakeKocher (“Kocher”)
executed a General Release of all claims again&tr@xRepublic Western, and Evanston Insurance Gompptogether with certain affiliates,
subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees ahérotelated parties of each of them, includingraitlimited to all claims that were or could
have been asserted in the Action. Pursuant to #mef@l Release, Kocher agreed to the dismissalpréjudice of the Action, with each party
bearing its own costs and attorneys’ fees. Oxfergived $2.2 million in reimbursement from its E&&xrier related to the settlement of the
Action.

Shoen

On September 24, 2002, Paul F. Shoen filderizative action in the Second Judicial Districtu@t of the State of Nevada, Washoe
County, captioned Paul F. Shoen vs. SAC Holdingp@ration et al., CV02-05602, seeking damages andadade relief on behalf of
AMERCO from SAC Holdings and certain current andrfer members of the AMERCO Board of Directors, iniidhg Edward J. Shoen,
Mark V.
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Shoen and James P. Shoen as defendants. AMERGIh&dmn nominal defendant for purposes of the d@resaction. The complaint alleg
breach of fiduciary duty, self-dealing, usurpatadrcorporate opportunities, wrongful interferencdéwprospective economic advantage and
unjust enrichment and seeks the unwinding of s#laslf-storage properties by subsidiaries of AMERCO to SAdldings in prior years. Tt
complaint seeks a declaration that such transfersad as well as unspecified damages. On Oct»®e2002, AMERCO, the Shoen
directors, the non-Shoen directors and SAC Holdfilgd Motions to Dismiss the complaint. In additjon October 28, 2002, Ron Belec
filed a derivative action in the Second Judiciastbct Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe Couwgptioned Ron Belec vs. William E.
Carty, et al., CV 02-06331 and on January 16, 2803, Management Company, Inc. filed a derivatigioa in the Second Judicial District
Court of the State of Nevada, Washoe County, captidM.S. Management Company, Inc. vs. William Etfat al., CV 03-00386. Two
additional derivative suits were also filed agathsise parties. These additional suits are sulistigrgimilar to the Paul F. Shoen derivative
action. The five suits assert virtually identiciims. In fact, three of the five plaintiffs arerfj@s who are working closely together and chose
to file the same claims multiple times. These latgsalleged that the AMERCO Board lacked indepedein reaching its decision to
dismiss these claims, the court determined thaAtMERCO Board of Directors had the requisite leskeindependence required in order to
have these claims resolved by the Board. The cmngolidated all five complaints before dismissingm on May 28, 2003. Plaintiffs filed a
Notice of Appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court. Tdrtigs have fully briefed the issues and are amgdi ruling from the cour

Securities Litigation

AMERCO is a defendant in a consolidated ngatlass action lawsuit entitled “In Re AMERCO 8#tes Litigation”, United States
District Court, Case No. CV-N-03-0050-ECR (RAM).€Taction alleges claims for violation of Sectior{t)(f the Securities Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, section 20(a) of then8exs Exchange Act of 1934 and sections 11, b#, 25 of the Securities Act of 1933. The
action alleges, among other things, that AMERCGQaged in transactions with the SAC entities thadiyl improved AMERCOQ’s financial
statements and that AMERCO failed to disclose téwstctions properly. The action has been tramsfaa the United States District Court,
District of Arizona. Defendants have filed motidosdismiss and will defend the case vigorously.

Securities and Exchange Commissit

The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SB@s issued a formal order of investigation tedeatne whether the Company has
violated the federal securities laws. The Compaagy/groduced and delivered all requested documadtpravided testimony from all
requested witnesses to the SEC. The Company iscatipg with the SEC and is facilitating the expiedis review of its financial statements
and any other issues that may arise. We cannotgptteeé outcome of the investigation.

Environmental

In the normal course of business, AMERCO de#endant in a number of suits and claims. AMERE@Iso a party to several
administrative proceedings arising from state aall provisions that regulate the removal and/eactp of underground fuel storage tani
is the opinion of management that none of theds,stlaims or proceedings involving AMERCO, indivaly or in the aggregate, are
expected to result in a material loss.

Compliance with environmental requirementfedkeral, state and local governments significaatfgcts Real Estate’business operatiol
Among other things, these requirements regulateigeharge of materials into the water, air andlland govern the use and disposal of
hazardous substances. Real Estate is aware ofissg@rding hazardous substances on some of fienies. Real Estate regularly makes
capital and
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operating expenditures to stay in compliance withienmental laws and has put in place a remedital at each site where it believes such a
plan is necessary. Since 1988, Real Estate hasgedatesting and removal program for undergrotmege tanks.

Based upon the information currently avaiatol Real Estate, compliance with the environmdate$ and its share of the costs of
investigation and cleanup of known hazardous wsitts are not expected to have a material advéffiessst en AMERCO'’s financial position
or operating results. Real Estate expects to spppbximately $8.7 million through 2011 to remeeititese properties.

Other

The Company is named as a defendant in v&litgation and claims arising out of the normaiicse of business. In managements
opinion none of these matters will have a matefiidct on the Company’s financial position and tessof operations.

Note 18: Preferred Stock Purchase Rights

The Board of Directors of AMERCO adoptedackholder-rights plan in July 1998. The rights waeelared as a dividend of one
preferred share purchase right for each outstaratinge of the common stock of AMERCO. The dividdigdribution was payable on
August 17, 1998 to stockholders of record on tla¢ dWhen exercisable, each right will entitlehiséder to purchase from AMERCO one
one-hundredth of a share of AMERCO Series C JUpaaticipating Preferred Stock (Series C), no péuejaat a price of $132.00 per one one-
hundredth of a share of Series C, subject to adgist AMERCO has created a series of 3,000,00@shrauthorized but not issued
preferred stock for the Series C stock authoriretthis stockholder-rights plan.

The rights will become exercisable if a perso group of affiliated or associated persons aequr obtain the right to acquire beneficial
ownership of 10% or more of the common stock witrapproval of a majority of the Board of Direct@fSAMERCO. The rights expire on
August 7, 2008 unless earlier redeemed or exchang@dMERCO.

In the event AMERCO is acquired in a mergeotber business combination transaction afteritifeés become exercisable, each hold¢
a right would be entitled to receive that numbesitdres of the acquiring compasygommon stock equal to the result obtained byipiyiihg
the then current purchase price by the number aaehandredths of a share of Series C for whiclglat is then exercisable and dividing that
product by 50% of the then current market pricegtere of the acquiring company.

Note 19: Related Party Transactions

AMERCO has engaged in related party trangastand has continuing related party interests @dtktain major stockholders, directors
officers of the consolidated group as disclosedweManagement believes that the transactions itbescbelow and in the related notes were
consummated on terms equivalent to those that wanehdail in arm’s-length transactions.

On December 23, 2002, Mark V. Shoen, a dicanit shareholder purchased a condominium in PRp@nizona from Oxford Life
Insurance Company. The purchase price was $2738%8h was in excess of the appraised value.

During fiscal 2005 a subsidiary of the Compheld various unsecured notes of SAC Holding Cafion and SAC Holding Il
Corporation, collectively referred to as SAC Holgin Substantially all of the equity interest of SAGIdings is controlled by Mark V. Shoe
a significant shareholder and executive officeABfERCO. The Company does not have an equity owigisterest in SAC Holdings,
except for minority investments made by RepWest@gifibrd in a SAC Holdings-controlled limited partekip which holds Canadian self-
storage properties. The Company received castesttpayments of $11.7 million and $26.6 milliomnfr SAC Holdings during fiscal 2005
and fiscal 2004. The notes receivable balance
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outstanding at March 31, 2005 and 2004 was, iragggegate, $203.8 million. The largest aggregateuatnoutstanding during the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2005 was $203.8 million. Of thioant, $75.1 million is with SAC Holding Il Corporah and eliminates in consolidation.

Interest accrues on the outstanding prinddpédnce of junior notes of SAC Holdings that trepany holds at a stated rate of basic
interest. A fixed portion of that basic interespad on a monthly basis.

Additional interest is paid on the same payntate based on the amount of remaining basiceisttelue and on the cash flow generate
the underlying property. This amount is referredsdahe “cash flow-based calculation.”

To the extent that this “cash flow-based @laliton” is less than the amount of remaining basierest, the additional interest payable on
the applicable monthly date is limited to the antaefrthat “cash flow-based calculation.” In sucbhase, the excess of the remaining basic
interest over the “cash flow-based calculationdégerred and all amounts so deferred bear thedstate of basic interest until maturity of the
junior note. For the note with SAC Holding Il Corption and for certain notes with specified sulzsidis of SAC Holding Corporation, to t
extent that this “cash flow-based calculation” eed®the amount of remaining basic interest, coatihinterest is paid on the same monthly
date as the fixed portion of basic interest. Initialtl subject to certain contingencies, the noitt BAC Holding Il Corporation and certain
notes with SAC Holding Corporation provide that tiredder of the note is entitled to participate iny appreciation realized upon, among o
things, the sale of certain properties by SAC Huddi

The Company currently manages the self-seopagperties owned by SAC Holdings, Mercury, 4 SBGAC and 19 SAC pursuant to a
standard form of management agreement, under vilticlEompany receives a management fee based anrgoespts. The Company
received management fees of $14.4 million, andSdfllion during fiscal year 2005 and 2004. Thismagement fee is consistent with the
fee received for other properties the Company meségy third parties.

RepWest and Oxford currently hold a 46% ladipartnership interest in Securespace LimitechPeship (“Securespace”), a Nevada
limited partnership. A SAC Holdings subsidiary ss\as the general partner of Securespace and oY¥nsraterest. Another SAC Holdings
subsidiary owns the remaining 53% limited partnigrahterest in Securespace. Securespace was fdsn8aAC Holdings to be the owner of
various Canadian self-storage properties. RepWartisOxford'’s investment in Securespace is includddvestments, Other, and is
accounted for using the equity method. We do nbewethat the carrying amount of their investmantSecurespace is in excess of fair
value.

During fiscal 2005, the Company leased spacmarketing company offices, vehicle repair shapd hitch installation centers in
properties owned by subsidiaries of SAC Holdingstallease payments pursuant to such leases wetariion and $2.6 million during
fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004. The terms of the Isease similar to the terms of leases for other @riogs owned by unrelated parties that are
leased to the Company.

At March 31, 2005, subsidiaries of SAC Holgiracted as U-Haul independent dealers. The finband other terms of the dealership
contracts with subsidiaries of SAC Holdings aressabtially identical to the terms of those with empany’s other independent dealers.
During fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, the Companylmaibsidiaries of SAC Holdings $33.1 million and®@#2million in commissions pursuant
to such dealership contracts.

SAC Holdings was established in order to &egself-storage properties. These properties aiggbmanaged by the Company pursuant to
management agreements. The sale of self-storagenies by the Company to SAC Holdings has in t& provided significant cash flows
to the Company and the Company’s outstanding ltm8AC Holdings entitle the Company to participat&AC Holdings’excess cash flov
(after senior debt service).
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Management believes that its sales of setage properties to SAC Holdings has provided gumstructure for the Company to earn
management fee income from the SAC Holdings selfagie properties that the Company manages andtioipate in SAC Holdings’ excess
cash flows as described above.

Independent fleet owners own approximatelyof%ll U-Haul rental trailers and 0.01% of certather rental equipment. There are
approximately 1,421 independent fleet owners, iicig certain officers, directors, employees andldtolders of AMERCO. Such AMERC
officers, directors, employees and stockholdersamhless than 1% of all U-Haul rental trailers dgriscal 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. Payments to these individuals undisrgrogram are de minimis (less than one thousdalidrs per quarter, per person). All
rental equipment is operated under contract witHdud whereby U-Haul administers the operationsmaadketing of such equipment and in
return receives a percentage of rental fees pamibiomers. Based on the terms of various confraaital fees are distributed to U-Haul (for
services as operators), to the fleet owners (inetudertain subsidiaries and related parties ofdllHand to Rental Dealers (including
Company-operated U-Haul Centers).

During fiscal 2003 AMERCO purchased $2.1 imillof printing services from a company whereiroamer is related to a major
stockholder, director and officer of AMERCO.

On August 20, 2004, James P. Shoen exchamgiethe Company 1,946,314 shares of AMERCO S&i€ommon Stock, $0.25 par
value, for 1,946,314 shares of AMERCO Common St86k25 par value. Mr. Shoen is a director, empl@fee significant shareholder of
AMERCO. No gain or loss was recognized as a reflhis transaction.

In February 1997, AMERCO, through its inswasubsidiaries, invested in the equity of Priviei, a Texas-based sedtorage operatc
RepWest invested $13.5 million and had a diredd@0interest and an indirect 13.2% interest. Oxfow@sted $11 million and had a direct
24.9% interest and an indirect 10.8% interest. @e B0, 2003, RepWest and Oxford exchanged thedertive interests in Private Mini for
certain real property owned by certain SAC Holdiagsties. The exchanges were non-monetary and rgecgded on the basis of the book
values of the assets exchanged.

During 1997, Private Mini secured a $225.0iom line of credit with a financing institutionyhich was subsequently reduced in
accordance with its terms to $125.0 million in Dmber 2001. Under the terms of this credit facilBy ERCO entered into a support party
agreement with Private Mini whereby upon defaulhoncompliance with debt covenants by Private MMIERCO assumes responsibility
in fulfilling all obligations related to this crediacility. In 2003, the support party obligatiormsvbifurcated into two separate support party
obligations; one consisting of a $55 million sugpaarty obligation and one consisting of a $70 imnllsupport party obligation. At March 31,
2003, $55 million of AMERCO'’s support party obligat had been triggered. AMERCO satisfied the $5lianiobligation by issuing notes
to the Private Mini creditor, and we correspondjrigtreased our receivable from Private Mini by $&iflion. Interest from Private Mini on
this receivable is being recorded and received R\ERCO on a regular basis. The Company expectdliforkcover this amount. Under the
terms of FIN 45, the remaining $70 million suppuatty obligation was recognized by the Company lgbdity at March 31, 2004 and
March 31, 2003. This resulted in AMERCO increaddther Liabilities by $70 million and increasing aeceivable from Private Mini by an
additional $70 million. At March 31, 2005, the Coamy revalued the FIN 45 liability to $2.9 million.

In prior years, U-Haul sold various propestie SAC Holding Corporation at prices in excesbgflaul’s carrying values resulting in
gains which U-Haul deferred and treated as additipaid-in capital. The transferred properties haigéorically been stated at the original
cost basis as the gains were eliminated in corestidial. In March 2004, these deferred gains weregeized and treated as contributions from
a related party in the amount of $111.0 millioraagsult of the deconsolidation of SAC Holding Gugion.

F-35




Table of Contents

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Related Party Receivablt

PMSR receivables and intert

Oxford note receivable from SAC Holding Corporat
U-Haul notes receievable from SAC Holding Corpora
U-Haul interest receivable from SAC Holding Corparal
U-Haul receivable from SAC Holding Corporati

SAC Holding Il receivable from pare

U-Haul receivable from Mercur

Oxford and RepWest investment in securesj

Other

Timing difference AMERC(- OLIC note

Related Party Liabilities

SAC Holding Il Corporation payable to affilia

Note 20:  Statutory Financial Information of Inaurance Subsidiaries

March 31,

2005 2004

(In thousands)

70,881 $ 136,12

5,04( 5,04(
123,57¢ 123,65¢
35,96( 29,81
1,02¢ (285)
2,20z —
2,18¢ —
11,22t 11,27¢
561 3,75(

— 17,50¢

252,66¢ $ 326,88

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)

$ 11,07 § 3,081

Applicable laws and regulations of the Sttérizona require Republic Western Insurance Camypand Oxford Life Insurance Compe
to maintain minimum capital and surplus determiimedccordance with statutory accounting principfasdited statutory net income and

statutory capital and surplus for the years-endedisted below:

Rep West
Audited statutory net income (los
Audited statutory capital and surpl!
NAFCIC:
Audited statutory net income (los
Audited statutory capital and surpl
Oxford:
Audited statutory net income (los
Audited statutory capital and surpl!
CFLIC:
Audited statutory net income (los
Audited statutory capital and surpl
NALI:
Audited statutory net income (los
Audited statutory capital and surpl!

December 31,

2004

2003 2002

$ (5,269
64,78¢

(4949
3,75¢

10,73¢
83,39¢

2,41(
20,98

1,71¢
14,44;
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(17,05) $  4,13(
69,12: 65,36
732 (346)
4,001 3,82t
3,33t (11,569
64,03 39,08
4,051 3,19t
22,54 17,18:
3,067 3,06¢
12,48¢ 9,47t
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The amount of dividends that can be paicharaholders by insurance companies domiciled irStage of Arizona is limited. Any
dividend in excess of the limit requires prior riegary approval. At December 31, 2004, Oxford cdrdistribute any of their statutory surp
as dividends without regulatory approval. At Decembl, 2004, RepWest had $6.5 million of statugrmplus available for distribution.

On May 20, 2003, RepWest consented to anr@od&upervision issued by the State of Arizong&ément of Insurance (“DOI”). The
DOI determined that RepWest's level of risk basapital (“RBC”) allowed for regulatory control. Puiant to this order and Arizona law,
during the period of supervision, RepWest couldaer@age in certain activities without the prior @wal of the DOI. The order was abatec
June 9, 2005.

Note 21:  Financial Information by Geographic Area

Financial information by geographic areaffecal year 2005 is as follows:

Year Ended United States Canada Consolidated
(Al amounts are in thousands U.S. $'s)

March 31, 2005

Total revenue $ 1,956,71! $51,40: $ 2,008,12.
Depreciation and amortization, r 145,16 4,44¢ 149,61!
Interest (expense) incon (73,23) 26 (73,209
Pretax earning 143,84( 1,292 145,13.
Income tax expens 55,70¢ — 55,70¢
Identifiable asset 3,031,46. 72,16 3,103,62:

Financial information by geographic areaffecal year 2004 is as follows:

Year Ended United States Canada Consolidated
(Al amounts are in thousands U.S. $'s)

March 31, 2004

Total revenue $ 2,109,83. $66,16: $ 2,175,99.
Depreciation and amortization, r 180,53t 7,35¢ 187,89t
Interest expens (118,310 (3,380 (121,690
Pretax earnings (los (1,16€) 6,391 5,22t
Income tax expens 6,96: 1,11« 8,07
Identifiable asset 3,328,41. 66,331 3,394,74i

Financial information by geographic areaffscal year 2003 is as follows:

Year Ended United States Canada Consolidated
(Al amounts are in thousands U.S.’s)

March 31, 2003

Total revenue $ 2,086,29 $ 55,05 $ 2,141,34.
Depreciation and amortization, r 169,66: 5,46¢ 175,12
Interest expens (146,14) (1,987 (148,13)
Pretax earnings (los (45,629 6,707 (38,92)
Income tax expense (benel (14,779 84C (13,939
Identifiable asset 3,700,44. 131,92¢ 3,832,37.
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Note 21A: Consolidating Financial Information by Industry Segment

AMERCO has five operating segments and feportable segments. Our reportable segments arelyland Storage operations
(AMERCO, U-Haul and Real Estate), Property and @kgunsurance, Life Insurance and SAC Holdingsniigement tracks revenues
separately, but does not report any separate meeathe profitability for rental vehicles, rentalsself-storage spaces and sales of products
that are required to be classified as a separateatipg segment and accordingly does not preseseths separate reportable segments.
Deferred income taxes are shown as liabilitieshenconsolidating statements.

The notes of the Company are fully and und@hlly guaranteed, jointly and severally, by @lIAMERCO's legal subsidiaries, except
for our insurance company subsidiaries and exae@BAC Holdings on a consolidated basis. Footna# iacludes condensed consolidating
financial information which presents the condensenksolidating balance sheets as of March 31, 268652804 and the related condensed
consolidating statements of earnings and condermesblidating cash flow statements for the yeadediarch 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003
for:

(a) Moving and Storage Operations (the guotar subsidiaries) comprised of AMERCO, U-Hauld &merco Real Estate Company
and each of their respective subsidiar

(b) the nonguarantor subsidiaries (compridfedxford and RepWest and each of their respestiNesidiaries); an
(c) SAC Holdings

The information includes elimination entrirescessary to consolidate AMERCO, the parent, wighgiuarantor and nonguarantor
subsidiaries.

Investments in subsidiaries are accountetdyahe parent using the equity method of accognfiine guarantor and nonguarantor
subsidiaries are presented on a combined basis.
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Note 21A:  Financial Information by Consolidating Industry Segment:
Consolidating balance sheets by industry segras of March 31, 2005 are as follows:
Moving and Storage AMERCO Legal Group AM
Moving & Property &
Real Storage Casualty Life AMERCO
AMERCO U-Haul Estate  Eliminations Consolidated(f) Insurance(a) Insurance(a) Eliminations Consolidated SAC Ho
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents  $ 14$ 3762t $ 4327 $ — $ 41,967 $ 10,63¢ $ 2,99 $ — % 55,597 $
Trade
receivables,
net — 9,29 26 — 9,32( 211,82: 15,67¢ — 236,81°
Notes anc
mortgage
receivables,
net — 1,02C 94t — 1,96¢ — — — 1,96¢
Inventories, ne — 62,48¢ — — 62,48¢ — — — 62,48¢
Prepaid
expense: 4,86: 14,86¢ — — 19,72¢ — — — 19,72¢
Investments,
fixed
maturities — — — — — 100,02¢ 535,15( — 635,17¢
Investments,
other — 93€ 8,05¢ — 8,99 144,83¢ 191,37t — 345,20
Deferred policy
acquisition
costs, ne — — — — — 1,27: 51,27( — 52,54
Other asset 14,201 59,58: 1,735 — 75,52¢ 3,91t 1,611 — 81,052
Related party
asset: 452,35( 521,16: 12,60( (650,37°)(d) 335,74 56,47¢ 32,21¢ (92,047)(d) 332,39:
471,43: 706,97« 27,69 (650,37)) 555,72¢ 528,99: 830,29: (92,049 1,822,971
Investment in
subsidiaries 1,236,08: — — (966,249(c) 269,83: — — (269,83))(c) —
Investment in
SAC
Holding Il (14,659 — — — (14,659 — — — (14,659
Total investmen
in subsidiaries
and SAC
Holding Il 1,221,42: — — (966,249 255,17« — — (269,83)) (14,659
Property, plant
and equipmer
at cost:
Land — 21,265 129,88( — 151,14! — — — 151,14!
Buildings and
improvementt — 84,927 601,30 — 686,22! — — — 686,22!
Furniture and
equipmen 292 247,21¢ 17,70¢ — 265,21¢ — — — 265,21¢
Rental trailers
and other
rental
equipmen — 199,46: — — 199,46: — — — 199,46:
Rental trucks — 1,252,01 — — 1,252,01: — — — 1,252,01:
SAC
Holding Il —
property,
plant and
equipment
(b) — — — — — — — — — ]
292z 1,804,88. 748,88 — 2,554,06! — — — 2,554,06! ]
Less:
Accumulated
depreciatior (255) (1,008,52) (269,99() — (1,278,767 — — — (1,278,767
Total property,
plant and
equipmen: 37 796,36. 478,89¢ — 1,275,29 — — — 1,275,29 ]
Total asset $1,692,89. $1,503,33! $506,59( $(1,616,62) $ 2,086,19' $ 528,99: $ 830,29: $ (361,87) $ 3,083,60! $ ]

(a)
(b)
(©
(d)

Balances as of December 31, 2(
Included in this caption is land of $56,960, builg and improvements of $94,620, and furnitureeemdpment of $22:
Eliminate investment in subsidiaries and SAC Hajdih

Eliminate intercompany receivables and paya




(e)  Eliminate gain on sale of property fron-Haul to SAC Holding ||
(0] Represents the Obligated Grc
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Consolidating balance sheets by industry segmas of March 31, 2005 are as follows:

Moving and Storage

AMERCO Legal Group

AMEF

AMERCO

U-Haul

Real
Estate

Eliminations

Moving &
Storage
Consolidated(e)

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Eliminations

AMERCO
Consolidated

SAC Holdin

Liabilities:
Accounts
payable and
accrued
expense:
AMERCO'’s
notes and
loans
payable
SAC
Holding Il
Corporation
notes and
loans
payable,
non-
recourse to
AMERCO
Policy benefit:
and losses,
claims and
loss
expenses
payable
Liabilities
from
investment
contracts
Other
policyholdel
funds and
liabilities
Deferred
income
Deferred
income
taxes
Related party
liabilities

$ 17,33 $

780,00¢

158,41

115,49¢

185,37. $ 2,73¢ $

249,05:

11,71¢ 2

355,99° 249,69:

(650,37)(c)

$ 205,43 $

780,00t

249,05:

11,71¢

158,41!

70,81%

(In thousands)

391,38¢

8,66¢

12,14

(46,949

8,91(

32t $

164,68!

503,83t

20,97¢

14,27¢

(1,129

12,31t

(92,04(c)

205,76 $

780,00¢

805,12:

503,83t

29,64:

38,14(

110,34t

7

@

92

Total liabilities
Stockholders’
equity:

Series
preferred
stock:

Series A
preferrec
stock

Series B
preferre
stock

Series A
common
stock

Common
Stock

Additional
paid in-
capital

Accumulated
other
comprehen:
income/
(loss)

Retained
earnings

Cost of commor
shares in
treasury, ne

1,071,25:

92¢

9,56¢

396,41t

(30,66

663,48!

(418,09)

802,137 252,43(

54C 1

121,23( 147,48:

(33,349

623,66. 106,67¢

(650,37)

(541)(b)

(268,71)(b)

33,34 (b)

(730,34:)(b)

1,475,44:

92¢

9,56¢

396,41!

(30,66

663,48:

(418,09)

374,15

3,30(C

69,92:

2,582

79,032

715,29:

2,50(

16,43¢

54

96,00¢

(92,049

(5,800)(b)

(86,357)(b)

(2,636)(b)

(175,040(b)

2,472,85

92¢

9,56¢

396,41!

(30,66

663,48!

(418,09)

167

(14



Unearned

employee

stock

ownership

plan share — (10,897 — — (10,897) — — — (10,897
Total

stockholders’

equity 621,64: 701,19¢ 254,16( (966,249 610,75: 154,83¢ 114,99 (269,83:) 610,75! (14
Total liabilities

and

stockholders’

equity $1,692,89: $1,503,33' $506,59( $(1,616,62) $ 2,086,19' $ 528,99 $ 830,29 $ (361,87) $ 3,083,60! $ 152

(a) Balances as of December 31, 2(

(b) Eliminate investment in subsidiaries and SAC Hajdin

(c) Eliminate intercompany receivables and paya

(d)  Eliminate gain on sale of property fron-Haul to SAC Holding II
(e) Represents the Obligated Grc
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Consolidating balance sheets by industry segmas of March 31, 2004 are as follows:

Moving and Storage AMERCO Legal Group AM
Moving & Property &
Real Storage Casualty Life AMERCO
AMERCO U-Haul Estate  Eliminations Consolidated(f) Insurance(a) Insurance(a) Eliminations Consolidated SAC Ho
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash and cash
equivalents  $ — $ 64710 % 661 $ — 65,37¢ $ — $ 15,16¢ $ — % 80,54¢ $
Trade
receivables,
net — 13,40¢ 14,85¢ — 28,26( 223,74 16,37¢ — 268,38t
Notes anc
mortgage
receivables,
net — 1,737 1,56 — 3,30( — — — 3,30(C
Inventories, ne — 51,92 — — 51,92: — — — 51,92
Prepaid
expense: 81 12,941 2 — 13,03( — — — 13,03(
Investments,
fixed
maturities — — — — — 148,90: 560,45( — 709,35:
Investments,
other — — 1,47¢ — 1,47¢ 143,27 204,39( — 349,14!
Deferred policy
acquisition
costs, ne — — — — — 3,84: 73,09¢ — 76,93¢
Other asset 19,59t 31,44¢ 11 — 51,05¢ 3,66¢ 2,05: — 56,77
Related party
assett 516,52¢ 400,45 13,30: (535,12))(d) 395, 16¢ 74,85¢ 50,17: (107,65:)(d) 412,54
536,20! 576,63 31,87: (535,12) 609,58¢ 598,29: 921,70 (107,657 2,021,93.
Investment in
subsidiaries 1,137,57 — — (847,54%)(c) 290,03« — — (290,03)(c) —
Investment in
SAC
Holding Il (12,42°) — — — (12,42°) — — — (12,427)
Total investmen
in subsidiaries
and SAC
Holding Il 1,125,15: — — (847,54)) 277,60° — — (290,03) (12,427
Property, plant
and equipmer
at cost:
Land — 20,92: 137,67: — 158,59« — — — 158,59«
Buildings and
improvement — 271,220 603,76:. — 874,98! — — — 874,98!
Furniture and
equipmen: 413 274,60( 18,102 — 293,11! — — — 293,11!
Rental trailers
and other
rental
equipmen — 159,58¢ — — 159,58¢ — — — 159,58¢
Rental trucks — 1,219,00: — — 1,219,00: — — — 1,219,00:
SAC
Holding Il —
property,
plant and
equipment
(b) — — — — — — — — — ]
41 1,945,33. 759,53! — 2,705,28: — — — 2,705,28: ]
Less:
Accumulated
depreciatior (35%) (1,069,60) (265,279 — (1,335,23) — — — (1,335,23)
Total property,
plant and
equipmen 6C 875,72¢  494,25¢ — 1,370,04! — — — 1,370,04! ]
Total asset $1,661,41 $1,452,36. $ 526,12t $(1,382,66) 2,257,241 $ 598,29. $ 921,70° $ (397,68 $ 3,379,55. $ ]

(®)
(b)
(©
(d)
(e)
®

Balances as of December 31, 2(
Included in this caption is land of $57,123, builgé and improvements of $95,326, and furnitureeandpment of $12:
Eliminate investment in subsidiaries and SAC Hajdih
Eliminate intercompany receivables and paya

Eliminate gain on sale of property fron-Haul to SAC Holding Il
Represents the Obligated Grc
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Consolidating balance sheets by industry segmas of March 31, 2004 are as follows:

Moving and Storage

AMERCO Legal Group

AMER

AMERCO

U-Haul

Real
Estate

Eliminations

Moving &
Storage
Consolidated(e)

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Eliminations

AMERCO
Consolidated

SAC Holdini

Liabilities:
Accounts
payable and
accrued
expense:
Capital lease
AMERCO'’s
notes and
loans
payable
SAC
Holding Il
Corporation
notes and
loans
payable,
non-
recourse to
AMERCO
Policy benefit:
and losses,
claims and
loss
expenses
payable
Liabilities
from
investment
contracts
Other
policyholders’
funds and
liabilities
Deferred
income
Deferred
income
taxes
Related party
liabilities

862,70(

125,35!

22,30(

$ 96,93( $ 212,62° $

99,607

206,59!

23,04

308,97¢

36¢

36

291,71¢

(535,12/)(c)

$ 309,92:
99,601

862,70!

206,59¢

23,081

125,35!

87,871

734 $

436,59:

11,36¢

15,22¢

(43,20)

8,53¢

(In thousands)

177,55(

574,74!

10,36

14,27¢

12,52¢

11,24¢

(107,65:)(c)

310,65¢ $
99,607

862,70:

820,73t

574,74!

21,73:

52,58¢

94,67¢

78,

@

89,

Total liabilities
Stockholders’
equity:

Series
preferred
stock:

Series A
preferre
stock

Series B
preferrec
stock

Serial A
common
stock

Common
Stock

Additional
paid in-
capital

Accumulated
other
comprehensiv
income/
(loss)

Retained
earnings

Cost of common
shares in

1,107,28!

1,41¢

9,081

395,80¢

(21,449

587,37(

850,84"

54(

121,23(

(34,919

526,68:

292,12:

147,48:

86,520

(535,12))

(541)(b)

(268,71)(b)

34,91 (b)

(613,200)(b)

1,715,13

1,41¢

9,081

395,80¢

(21,449)

587,37(

429,25:

3,30(

70,02¢

6,97¢

88,74:

800,71:

2,50(

16,43¢

7,29¢

94,76(

(107,65))

(5,800)(b)

(86,459 (b)

(14,274 (b)

(183,50:)(b)

2,837,441

1,41¢

9,081

395,80¢

(21,444)

587,37(

166,

(12,



treasury, ne (418,09)) — — —
Unearned

employee

stock

ownership

plan share — (12,026) — —

(418,09)

(12,029

(418,09))

(12,026

Total
stockholders’
equity 554,13: 601,51: 234,00! (847,54%)

542,10t

169,04(

120,99¢

(290,039

542,10t

(12,

Total liabilities
and
stockholders’
equity $1,661,41 $1,452,36. $526,12¢ $g1,382,661) $

(a) Balances as of December 31, 2(

(b) Eliminate investment in subsidiaries and SAC Hajdih

(c) Eliminated intercompany receivables and paya

(d)  Eliminate gain on sale of property fron-Haul to SAC Holding II
(e) Represents the Obligated Grc

2,257,240 $

F-42

598,29. $

921,70" $

(397,680)

$

3,379,55. $

154,
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Consolidating income statements by industgnsent for period ending March 31, 2005 are asv!

AMERCO Legal Group A

Moving and Storage

Moving & Property &
Real Storage Casualty Life AMERCO
AMERCO U-Haul Estate Eliminations Consolidated(qg) Insurance(a) Insurance(a) Eliminations Consolidated SAC |

(In thousands)

Revenues
Self-moving
equipment
rentals $ — $1,437,89' $ — $ — 3 1,437,89 $ — $ — 3 — $ 1,437,89! $
Self-storage
revenue: — 94,43: 1,771 — 96,20z — — — 96,20:
Self-
moving &
self-
storage
products &
service
sales — 191,07¢ — — 191,07¢ — — — 191,07¢
Property
managem
fees — 14,43« — — 14,43« — — — 14,43«
Life
insurance
premiums — — — — — — 127,71( (2,474 (c) 126,23t
Property anc
casualty
insurance
premiums — — — — — 24,98 — — 24,98
Net
investmen
and
interest
income 7,79¢ 22,03( 76 — 29,90: 16,43( 23,47¢ (5,109 64,69¢
Other
revenue 552 27,48¢ 56,11¢ (62,00)(b) 22,15¢ — 8,29¢ (763) 29,69!
Total
revenue 8,34¢ 1,787,35 57,96 (62,007) 1,791,66 41,417 159,48 (7,34¢) 1,985,22:
Costs and
expenses
Operating
expense: 18,06¢ 1,100,73 7,051 (62,00:)(b) 1,063,85: 11,785 42,16¢ (16,504)(b,c) 1,101,30.
Commission
expense: — 181,31! — — 181,31! — — — 181,31
Cost of sale: — 98,877 — — 98,877 — — — 98,87
Benefits and
losses — — — — — 39,73: 91,45: 9,15¢ 140,34:
Amortizatior
of deferrec
policy
acquisitior
costs — — — — — 4,711 23,80! — 28,51z
Lease
expense 90 151,93 37 — 152,06¢ — — — 152,06«
Depreciatior
net 31 114,03t 4,811 — 118,88 — — — 118,88(
Total costs an
expense: 18,18¢ 1,646,90. 11,89¢ (62,007) 1,614,98: 56,23! 157,41¢ (7,34¢) 1,821,29:
Equity
earnings of
subsidiaries 108,67: — — (117,13%(f) (8,462) — — 8,46%(f) —
Equity
earnings of
SAC
Holding Il (2,237) — — — (2,237) — — — (2,237)
Total —equity
earnings of
subsidiaries
and SAC
Holding Il 106,44: — — (117,139 (10,699 — — 8,46= (2,2372)
Earnings (loss
from
operations 96,60: 140,45. 46,06« (117,139 165,98! (14,814 2,06t 8,462 161,69¢
Interest
income




(expense

Litigation
settlement
net

(70,23Y)

51,34

15,687 (12,43()

(66,979

51,34.

(66,979

51,34

Pretax earninc
(loss)
Income tax

benefit
(expense

77,70¢

11,36

156,14( 33,63¢

(59,16() (13,479

(117,135

150,34¢

(61,279

(14,819

5,104

2,06¢

(817

8,462

146,06:

(56,989

Net earning:
(loss)

Less: Preferre
stock
dividends

89,07¢

(12,969

96,98( 20,15¢

(117,135

89,07¢

(12,969

(9,710)

1,24¢

8,462

89,07¢

(12,969

Earnings (loss
available to
common
shareholder $

(@) Balances for the year ending December 31, :

76,111 $ 96,98( $ 20,15 $

(117,139

76,111 $ 9,710 %

(b)  Eliminate intercompany lease and commission inc
(c) Eliminate intercompany premiun
(d)  Eliminate intercompany interest on di

(e)  Eliminate gain on sale of surplus property fro-Haul to SAC Holding Il
(0] Eliminate equity earnings in subsidiaries and ggeérnings in SAC Holding

(@) Represents the Obligated Grc
(h) Eliminate management fees charged to SAC Holdiregndl other intercompany operating exper

F-43

1,24t $

8,462

$

76,111 $
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Consolidating income statements by industgnsent for period ending March 31, 2004 are as\ial

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Moving and Storage

AMERCO

U-Haul

Real

Estate

Eliminations

AMERCO Legal Group

Moving &
Storage
Consolidated(g)

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Eliminations

AMERCO
Consolidated

SA

Holdi

Revenues
Self-moving
equipment
rentals $
Self-storage
revenue:
Self-
moving &
self-
storage
products &
service
sales
Property
managem
fees
Life
insurance
premiums
Property anc
casualty
insurance
premiums
Net
investmen
and
interest
income
Other
revenue

— $1,380,99: $

86¢€

1,55(C

118,33!

182,32

12,97«

21,504

35,58(

217

2,86¢

61

16,08¢

56,66¢

(61,159)(b)

1,381,20: $

121,20

182,38t

12,97«

38,45¢

32,63¢

(In thousands)

93,24

21,69¢

147,75!

19,04¢

11,018

(2,679)(c)

(1,206)(c)

(4,08¢)(d)

(2,497 (b)

1,381,20¢ $ 29,

121,20

182,38t

12,97«

145,08:

92,03¢

75,11¢

41,15¢

126

50,

12,

Total
revenue
Costs and
expenses
Operating
expense:
Commission
expense:
Cost of sale:
Benefits and
losses
Amortization
of deferrec
policy
acquisitior
costs
Lease
expense
Depreciatior
net
Restructurin
expense:

2,41¢

37,08(

78€
39

44,091

1,751,71.

1,062,69!

176,16!
87,43(

159,86¢

125,09¢

75,904

8,06:

26

2,652

4,20¢

(61,159

(61,159 (b)

1,768,87.

1,046,67!

176,16¢
87,45¢

163,30¢
129,34:

44,091

114,94:

27,40

109,36:

14,12¢

177,81:

38,11

103,49:

24,957

(10,46

(15,056/(b,c)

4,59/

2,051,16:

1,097,13

176,16¢
87,45¢

217,44

39,08t
163,30¢
129,34:

44,091

218

108

24,

21,

Total costs and
expense:

Equity earning
of
subsidiaries

Equity earning
of SAC
Holdings

82,00:

98,36¢

(11,559

1,611,25:

14,95

(61,159

(115,05((f)

1,647,041

(16,68)

(11,559

150,89:

166,55¢

(10,46

16,6841)

1,954,083

(11,559

154

Total — equity
earnings of
subsidiaries
and SAC
Holdings

Earnings (loss)
from
operations
Interest

86,81

7,231

140,45¢

60,95

(115,05()

(115,05()

(28,239

93,59

(35,95()

11,25¢

16,68

16,68

(11,559

85,57¢

64,



income

(expense
Pretax earning

(loss)

Income tax
benefit
(expense

Net earning:

(loss)

Less:
Preferred
stock
dividends

Earnings (loss)
available to
common

(56,969  8,56( (29,15) — (77,562 — — — (77,569 (80,
(49,73) 149,01 31,79¢ (115,05() 16,03: (35,95() 11,25 16,68: 8,01¢ (16,
45,690 (52,99 (12,770 — (20,079 12,50¢ (4,499 — (12,069 4,
(4,04 96,027 19,02 (115,05() (4,047) (23,449 6,76( 16,68: (4,047 (11,
(12,969 — — — (12,969 — — — (12,969
shareholder $ (17,010 $__96,02; $ 19,02¢ $ (115,05() (17010 (23,449 % 6,76( $ 16,68:  $ (17,010 $(11,

(a) Balances as of December 31, 2(

(b) Eliminate intercompany lease and commission inc

(c) Eliminate intercompany premiun

(d)  Eliminate intercompany interest on d

(e)  Eliminate gain on sale of surplus property fro-Haul to SAC Holding
(0] Eliminate equity earnings in subsidiaries and ggeérnings in SAC Holding

() Represents the Obligated Grc
(h)  Eliminate management fees charged to SAC Holdingsather intercompany operating exper

F-44
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Moving and Storage

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Consolidating income statements by industgnsent for period ending March 31, 2003 are asvi!

AMERCO Legal Group

AMER

Real

AMERCO U-Haul Estate

Elimination

Moving &
Storage
Consolidated(g)

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Elimination

AMERCO
Consolidated

SAC Holdir

Revenues
Self-moving

equipment

rentals $
Self-storage

revenue: —
Self-

moving &

self-

storage

products

and

service

sales —
Property

managem:

fees —
Life

insurance

premiums — — —
Property &

casualty

insurance

premiums — — —
Net

investmen

and

interest

income
Other

revenue 37

— $1,293,68 $ 46

109,98! 2,77

174,85: 56

12,43: —

1,15¢ 29,35¢ 10,69t

18,37¢  56,34¢

(60,116)/(b)

1,293,73. $

112,75¢

174,90¢

12,431

41,211

14,64¢

(In thousands)

— 161,39¢

152,61¢ —

22,31¢ 13,891

— 7,931

(2,679)(c)

(3,419 (c)

(800)

1,293,73. $

112,75!

174,90¢

12,43!

158,71¢

149,20t

76,62(

22,57¢

27

12¢

48

14

Total

revenue:
Costs and

expenses
Operating

expense:
Commission

expense: —
Cost of sale:! —
Benefits and

losses — — —
Amortization

of deferrec

policy

acquisitior

costs — — —
Lease

expense
Depreciation

net 15
Restructurini

expense:

1,198 1,638,69 69,91t

36,93« 1,029,77. 8,041

166,33« —
93,73t 21

165,02( 64C

112,81! 5,16¢

6,56¢ — —

(60,116

(60,116)(b)

1,649,68:

1,014,63:

166,33«
93,75¢

166,58°
117,99¢

6,56¢

174,93t 183,22(

37,09¢ 48,48(

128,68( 115,62¢

17,14 20,53¢

(6,891)

(10,93%)(c)

4,041

2,000,94:

1,089,27

166,33¢
93,75¢

248,34¢

37,68!
166,58"
117,99¢

6,56¢

21€

10t

21

21

Total costs
and
expense:

Equity
earnings of
subsidiarie

Equity
earnings of
SAC
Holdings

44,44¢ 1,567,671 13,87

52,95! — —

(8,697) — —

(60,11¢)

(59,199(F)

1,565,87

(6,249)

(8,697)

182,91¢ 184,64¢

(6,891)

6,244(f)

1,926,55.

(8,697)

14€

Total —
equity
earnings of
subsidiarie
and SAC
Holdings

Earnings

44,25: — —

(59,199

(14,949

6,24¢

(8,697)



(losses) from
operations 1,00¢ 71,01¢  56,04: (59,199 68,861 (7,989 (1,426
Interest

income
(expense (69,217 (9,99]) (23,657) — (102,85¢) — —

6,24¢

65,70(

(102,85()

68

(81

Pretax

earnings

(loss) (68,209 61,02: 32,39( (59,199 (33,999 (7,989 (1,42¢)
Income tax

benefit

(expense 41,29¢ (21,217 (13,002) — 7,08: 2,612 54¢

6,24¢

(37,156

10,24+

(12

Net earning:

(loss) (26,917) 39,81 19,38¢ (59,199 (26,917 (5,37)) (877)
Less:

Preferred

stock

dividends (12,967) — — — (12,967) — —

6,24¢

(26,919

(12,969

8

Earnings
(loss)
available to
common

shareholde$ (39,879 $ 39,81’ $ 19,38t $ (59,199 § (39,879 % (5370 8% 871$%

(@) Balances for the year ended December 31, :

(b) Eliminate intercompany lease and commission inc

(c) Eliminate intercompany premiun

(d) Eliminate intercompany interest on di

(e) Eliminate gain on sale of surplus property froi-Haul to SAC Holdings

(0] Eliminate equity earnings of subsidiaries and ggeétrnings in SAC Holding

() Represents the Obligated Grc

(h)  Eliminate management fees charged to SAC Holdingsother intercompany operating exper

F-45
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Consolidating cash flow statements by induséigment for the year ended March 31, 2005, afellass:
AMERCO Legal Group

Moving and Storage

AMERCO as Consolidated

AMERCO

U-Haul

Real

Estate Elimination

Moving &
Storage

Cons

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Elimination

AMERCO
Consolidated

SAC Holdings

Elimination

Cash flows
from
operating
activities:

Net earning:
(loss)

Earnings from
consolidate
entities (106,44’)

Depreciatior 31

Amortization
of deferred
policy
acquistion
costs —

Provision for
losses on
accounts
receivable —

Provision for
inventory
reserve: —

Net (gain) los:
on sale of
real and
personal
property —

Net loss or
sale of
investment: —

Deferred
income
taxes

Net change it
other
operating
assets and
liabilities:

Trade
receivables —
Inventories —
Prepaid
expense:
Capitalizatior
of deferred
policy
acquisition
costs —
Other asset 5,38¢
Related party
assets
Accounts
payable an
accrued
expense:
Policy
benefits
and losses
claims and
loss
expenses
payable —
Other
policyholders’
funds and
liabilities —
Deferred
income —
Related party
liabilities

33,06(

(4,78)

23,12t

(61,64()

(21,65))

$ 89,07¢ $ 96,98( $20,15¢ $

107,23«

(620)

(1,000

6,804

4,73(
(9,567)

(1,919
(28,139
(6,069

(13,849

42,45¢

(11,329

47,02¢

— 117,13t
8,60: —

(3,797 —

14,83( —

(1,729 —

701 41,67¢

(413) —

34 —

(754) (41,679

(117,139 $ 89,07¢ $

10,69+
115,86¢

(620)

(1,000

3,012

33,06(

19,56(
(9,567

(6,69¢)
(24,479
59,42¢

(75,899

42,45¢

(11,369

(17,056

9,710 $

4,711

(3,740

11,92¢

(2,149
(250)

18,37

(734)

(45,217

(2,700

(3,086)

(In thousands)

1,24¢ $

23,801

39

(13,649

708

(6,737
44z

17,95¢

(19,84¢)

(12,869

10,61(

23,067

8,46 $

(8,462)

46,947

(15,61()

(31,33)

89,07¢ $
2,23

115,86¢

28,51:

(620)

(1,000

3,012

61€

62,61¢

32,18¢
(9,567

(6,699)

(8,879
(24,28)

80,15

(96,47

(15,619)

7,91¢
(14,449

(24,949

(2,239)$

2,782

114

(1,508)

(289)

4

394

(2,209

47¢

42

3,491

2,58( !

(2,237
(560)

(3,167)

3,37¢

Net cast



provided
(used) by
operating
activities
Cash flows
from
investing
activities:
Purchases o
Property,
plant and
equipment
Short term
investment
Fixed
maturity
investment
Equity
securities
Real estat
Mortgage
loans
Proceeds fror
sales of
Property,
plant and
equipment
Short term
investment
Fixed
maturity
investment
Equity
securities
Preferred
stock
Real estat
Mortgage
loans
Notes anc
mortgage
receivables
Net cast
provided
(used) by
investing
activities

(43,83) 232,75. 37,57 226,48 (31,609 24,77: 219,65 1,06¢
(3) (280,14) (4,267) (284,41 — — (284,41 (555)
— — — — (16,830 — (16,830 —
— — — — (4,99) (93,219 (98,21 —
— — — — — (6,349) (6,349 —
— — — — — (63) (63) —
— — — — — (2,750 (2,750 —
—  232,69° 11,01¢ 243,70° — — 243,70° —
— — — — 10,86¢ 10,86¢ —
— — — — 36,33¢ 115,68t 152,02 —
— — — — 56 — 56 —
— — — — 12,00 3,80¢ 15,80: —
— — — — 15,67: 512 16,18t —
— — — — — 5,36¢ 5,36¢ —
— 717 6i¢ 1,33¢ — — 1,33¢ —
(3)  (46,73) 7,36¢ (39,36¢) 42,24; 33,851 36,73 (555)

(@) Balances for the year ended December 31, :
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Continuation of consolidating cash flow stagmts by industry segment for the year ended Mai¢t2005, are as follows:

Moving and Storage

AMERCO Legal Group

AMERCO as Consolidated

Real

AMERCO _ U-Haul Estate  Elimination

Moving & Property &
Storage Casualty

Cons Insurance(a) Insurance(a) Elimination

Life

AMERCO

Consolidated _Holdings

SAC

Elimination

Total
Consolidated

Cash flows from

financing activities
Borrowings from

credit facilities 129,35! — —
Principal repayments

on credit facilities  (212,24) — —
Leveraged Employee

Stock Ownership

Plan — repayments

from loans — 1,13¢ —
Payoff of capital

leases — (99,609 —
Proceeds from

(repayment of)

related party loan 155,90t (114,63 (41,277
Preferred stock

dividends paic (29,16°) — —
Investment contract

deposits — — —
Investment contract

withdrawals — — —

(In thousands)

129,35! —

(212,24) —

1,13¢ —

(99,609 =

(29,167 —

26,33

(97,13)

129,35!

(212,249

1,13¢

(99,609

(29,16)
26,33

(97,13)

(1,169

129,35!

(213,409

1,13¢

(99,609

(29,16)
26,33:

(97,13)

Net cash provide
(used) by financing
activities 43,85¢ (213,109 (41,279

(210,529) —

(70,809)

(281,339

(1,169

(282,49)

Increase (decrease) il

cash and cash

equivalents 14 (27,09) 3,66¢
Cash and cash

equivalents at

beginning of yea — 64,715 661

(23,41) 10,63

65,37¢ —

(12,176

15,16¢

(24,949

80,54¢

(659

1,011

(25,60

81,557

Cash and cash
equivalents at end
year $ 14 $ 37,62¢ $ 4327 $

$ 4196 $ 10,63t $

2,99 $

$

55,597 $

35€ $

$ 55,95¢

(@) Balances for the year ended December 31, :
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Consolidating cash flow statements by industgment for the year ended March 31, 2004, afellasvs:

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Moving and Storage

AMERCO Legal Group

AMERCO as Consolidated

AMERCO

U-Haul

Real
Estate

Elimination

Moving &

Storage
Cons

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Elimination

AMERCO SAC
Consolidated

Holdings

Elimination

Cash flows
from
operating
activities:

Net earning:
(loss)

Earnings from
consolidate
entities

Depreciatior

Amortization
of deferred
policy
acquistion
costs

Provision for
losses on
accounts
receivable

Provision for
inventory
reserve:

Net (gain) los:
on sale of
real and
personal
property

Gain on sale
of
investments

Deferred
income
taxes

Net change it
other
operating
assets and
liabilities:

Trade

receivables
Inventories
Prepaid

expense:

Capitalizatior

of deferred
policy
acquisition
costs

Other asset

Related party
assets

Accounts

payable an
accrued
expense:

Policy

benefits
and losses
claims and
loss
expenses
payable

Other
policyholders’
funds and
liabilities

Deferred
income

Related party
liabilities

(86,81)

38

4,90¢

(7,166)

(48,77%)

127,771

(2,869

(123,269

116,70t

(271)

(267)

8,38¢

(214,719

1,551
(2,426)

7,99(
(14,079
(43,559

(46,729

37,92¢

(7,899)

264,94.

$ (4,04)$ 96,027 $19,02: $

8,67(

(4,461)

(94,919

(2,039
4

3,981

(10,15¢)

(975)

95,66¢

(115,050 $ (4,047 $

115,05(

312,19¢

60,94

(390,630)

28,23
125,41

(271)

(267)

3,92¢

7A47:

(47€)
(2,429

8,00¢
(17,269
(31,390

70,88

37,92¢

(11,739

(153,299

(23,44) $

14,12¢

(43,207

68C

(4,769
21¢

32,51(

(28,399

(48,790

(8,79%)
15,22¢

8,53¢

(In thousands)

6,76( $

24,95]

(1,962

3,86¢

6,68:

(12,469
(762)

16,24¢

7,64¢

(5,039

21€
14,27¢

(39,56))

16,68: $

(16,68:)

40,86t

(113,100)

15,59¢

(4,047 $(11,55) $

11,55 —
125,41° 21,40(

39,08 —

271) —

(267) =

3,92¢ —
(1,962 —

8,99t 16,45(

6,881 —
(2429 3,15

8,00¢ 66¢

(17,23)

(17,806 20,00:

(95,73) —

50,13: (10,86%)

(15,899 —

(8,577 —
17,77: (5,009

(168,73() (42,46

12,74¢ $

(11,55
(1,92)

70,597

(151,42

88,12: _

Net cast
provided



(used) by
operating
activities

Cash flows
from
investing
activities:

Purchases o

Property,
plant and
equipment

Fixed
maturities
investment

Equity
securities

Other asset
investment
net

Real estat

Mortgage
loans

Proceeds fror
sales of

Property,
plant and
equipmen

Fixed
maturities
investment

Equity
securities

Preferred
stock

Real estat

Mortgage
loans

Notes anc
mortgage
receivables

Net cast
provided
(used) by
investing
activities

(140,21) 203,59( 14,81 (17,500 60,69: (86,099 20,86 (56,64) (61,17) _ (8,213) 6,561 _
— (188,52) (4,049 —  (192,56) — — — (192,569  (5,880) —
= = = = = (6,290) (71,099 = (77,389 = =
— — — — — — (1,739 — (1,739 — —
= 811 = = 811 (13,409 (43,419 56,64: 637 = =
— — — — — (14,29)) (2,862) — (17,156 — —
= = = = = = (450 = (450 = =
45 4258¢ 11,02 —  53,65¢ = = = 53,65¢  9,51¢ =
— — — — — 115,55 127,93: — 243,49( — —
= = = = = = 3,45; = 3,45; = =
— — — — — — 16,88: — 16,88: — —
= = = = = 41E 5,92¢ = 6,33¢ = =
— 32¢ 1,15¢ — 148 — 14,89: — 16,37 — —
— 424 76C — _ 500¢ = = = 5,00¢ = =
45 (140,54)  8,89: — (131,600 81,987 49,52t 56,64 56,54f  3,63¢ —

(a) Balance for the year ended December 31, 2003
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Continuation of consolidating cash flow stagmts by industry segment for the year ended Maict2004, are as follows:

Moving and Storage AMERCO Legal Group AMERCO as Consolidated

AMERCO

Moving &
Real Storage
Estate Elimination Cons

Property &
Casualty Life
Insurance(a) Insurance(a)  Elimination

AMERCO

U-Haul Consolidated SAC Holdings Elimination

Cash flows
from
financing
activities:

Borrowings
from
credit
facilities

Principal
repayme
on credit
facilities

Debt
issuance
costs

Leveraged
Employe:
Stock
Ownersh
Plan —
repayme
from loar (20)

Proceeds
from
(repaymer
of)
related
party
notes
payable

Proceeds
from
(repayme
of)
related
party
loans

Preferred
stock
dividends
paid (3,247

Investment
contract
deposits —

Investment
contract
withdrawals —

785,94:

(745,40)

(24,83)

(17,500

126,70:

(In thousands)

785,94¢ — — — 785,94t 211,06¢

(32,589 (101,509 — (879,49)) = = = (879,499) (210,14))

(24,83) — — — (24,83) —

1,171 — — 1,151 — — — 1,151 —

— 208,01« 17,50C 208,01« — — — 208,01+ —

3,031 (129,73) — — — — — _ _

(3,240 — — — (3,241 —

50,99( — 50,99( —

(115,53() — (115,53() —

201,45:

(208,019

Net cast
provided
(used) by
financing

activities 121,64«

(28,38) (23,220 17,50( 87,54 = (64,54() = 23,00: 927

Increase

(decrease)

in cash

and cash

equivalent (18,52¢)
Cash and

cash

equivalen

at

beginning

of year 18,52«

34,67 487 — 16,63 (4,10¢) 5,84¢ — 18,37+ (3,657

30,04¢ 174 — 48,74« 4,10¢ 9,32( — 62,172 4,662

Cash and
cash
equivalent
at end of
year $

— $64,710 $

— $ 65,37¢ 15,16¢ $ — $ 80,54¢ $ 1,011 $

(6,56)



(a) Balance for the year ended December 31, :
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)
Consolidating cash flow statements by industgment for the year ended March 31, 2003 afellasv:

Moving and Storage

AMERCO Legal Group

AMERCO as Consolidated

AMERCO

U-Haul

Real
Estate

Elimination

Moving &
Storage
Consolidated

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Elimination

AMERCO
Consolidated

SAC Holdings

Elimination

Con

Cash flows
from
operating
activities:

Net earning:
(loss) $

Earnings fromr
consolidate
entities

Depreciatior

Amortization
of deferred
policy
acquisition
costs

Provision for
losses on
accounts
receivable

Provision for
inventory
reserves

Net (gain) los:
on sale of
real and
personal
property

Net loss or
sale of
investment:

Deferred
income
taxes

Net change it
other
operating
assets and
liabilities:

Trade
receivable:
Inventories
Prepaid
expense:
Capitalizatior
of deferred
policy
acquisition
costs
Other asset
Related party
asset:
Accounts
payable
and
accrued
expense:
Policy
benefits
and losses
claims and
loss
expenses
payable
Other
policyholders’
funds and
liabilities
Deferred
income
Related party
liabilities

(26,917) $ 39,81 $19,38¢ $

(44,259
15

(29,519

25

4,78(

(122,869

(38,370

(571)

126,04:

106,01:

(327)

(120

6,80¢

(14,185

(1,089
13,37:

(6,809)

(9,196

20,33«

69,75(

78,427

(2,789

14,40(

(3,529)

1,71¢

(12,879

()

(276)

1,35]

3,78:

15

(59,199 $

59,19¢

25,98¢

(39,000

13,01¢

(26,919 $

14,94¢
114,727

(327)

(120)

3,27¢

(16,009

(13,95%)
13,371

(6,779

(4,699

(140,179

35,16:

78,421

(3.339

153,45

(5379 $

17,14:

2,61¢

(14,409
1,98¢

8,882

13,73¢

(66,209

(34,090

(In thousands)

(877 $ 6,24¢ $

— (6,248

20,53¢ —

3¢ —

(7,41 2,27¢

1,531 —

(28,529 —
44¢ —

(44,439 74,071

5,081 —

4,831 —
(9,199) —

40,00¢ (78,627)

(26,919 $
8,697

114,727

37,68

(327)

(120)

3,27¢

61€

(21,149

(9,80%)
13,37;

(6,779

(42,929
(2,264)

(101,669

53,97¢

17,04¢

(43,289
(3,339

114,84

(8,697 $

21,37:

114

(5,056)

(749

21z

(3,017)

16,93¢

467

(8,119)

10,62¢ $

(8,697
(1,926

(9,129

8,11¢

Net cast
provided
(used) by
operating
activities

(131,62)

314,411

18,27:

201,05¢

(75,139

(17,98%) (2,279)

105,67:

13,47:

(1,019

Cash flows
from
investing
activities:

Purchases o



Property,
plant and

equipmen (64) (182,409 (30,176 — (212,649

Fixed

maturity

investment — — — —
Other asset

investment — — — —
Real state — — — —
Mortgage

loans — — — —
Notes anc

mortgage

receivable: — (3,59¢) 2,56¢ —
Proceeds fror

sales of.
Property,

plant and

equipmen — 85,28¢ 11,60( —
Fixed

maturity

investment — — — —
Preferred

stock — — — —
Real state — — — —
Mortgage

loans — 73 13C —

(1,030

96,88¢

203

(10,409
(18,197

101,37¢

561

(267,949

(42,485
(21,759

(22,000

262,74:

2,88t
22,04:

17,40¢

19,77

22,00(

(212,649

(278,35)

(40,910
(21,759

(1,030

96,88¢

364,11«

2,88t
22,04:

18,17:

(30,51%)

Net cast
provided
(used) by
investing

activities (64) (100,64!) (15,879 — (116,58)

73,32¢

(49,115

41,77%

(50,607

(30,51

(a) Balance for the year ended December 31, 2002
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Continuation of consolidating cash flow statemdayténdustry segment for the year ended March 30320¢e as follow:

Moving and Storage

AMERCO Legal Group

AMERCO as Consolidated

AMERCO

U-Haul

Real
Estate

Moving &
Storage
Consolidated

Property &
Casualty
Insurance(a)

Life
Insurance(a)

Elimination

AMERCO SAC
Consolidated

Holdings

Elimination  _ (¢

Cash flows
from
financing
activities:
Borrowings

from
credit
facilities
Principal
Repayme
on credit
facilities
Debt
issuance
costs
Leveraged
Employer
Stock
Ownersh
Plan —
repaymel
from loan
Proceeds
from
(repaymer
of)
related
party
loans
Dividends
paid
Investment
contract
deposits
Investment
contract
withdraw.

262,00°

(433,789

(2,330)

330,73t

(6,480)

16,90(

97t

101,32¢

@7)

(680)

(227,319 (103,419

380,23t

(433,819

(3,010

97t

(6,480

(In thousands)

165,28:

(98,02

(39,500

340,73t 58,827

(433,81Y) (37,139

(3,010 —

97t —

(6,480) —

165,28: —

(98,029 =

(27,82)

28,83t

Net cast
provided
(used) by
financing
activities

150,14«

(209,44))

(2,79))

(62,099

67,25¢

(39,500

(34,339  21,69:

1,011

Increase
(decrease)
in cash anc
cash
equivalents

Cash and cas
equivalents
at
beginning
of year

18,45:

71

4,321

25,71¢

(402)

57€

22,37¢

26,36¢

(1,809

5,917

162

9,15¢

20,73¢ 4,652

41,43¢ 10

Cash and cas
equivalents
at end of

year $ 18,52¢ $ 30,04¢ $

174 $

48,74¢ $

4,10¢ $

62,17: $ 4,66

(a) Balance
for the year
ended
December 3:
2002
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AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Note 22:  Subsequent Events
Refinancing

On May 9 and May 12, 2005 the Company entamedagreements to re-finance its capital structnd gave notices to its current lenders
of its plans for early redemption of the Compargxssting notes and loans.

The structure consists of three asset-bafdaiities including a $240 million senior mortgafysmded by Merrill Lynch, a $240 million
senior mortgage funded by Morgan Stanley and a $4i®n real estate loan funded by Merrill Lynchhe new financing was funded on
June 8, 2005.

The Company will to incur a one-time pre-tdvarge of approximately $34 million in the firstagter of fiscal 2006 associated with the
early payment of the existing loans.
Preferred Stock Dividend

On May 4, 2005, the Board of Directors of ARIEO, the holding company for Haul International, Inc., and other companies, alea ¢
regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.53125 peresloa the Company’s Series Al percent Preferred Stock. The dividend was paid
June 1, 2005 to holders of record on May 15, 2005.

Abatement of State of Arizona Department of Insui@Order for Supervisiol

On June 9, 2005, the State of Arizona Depamtrof Insurance abated its May 20, 2003 OrdeS&tguervison. The May 20, 2003 Order
required that RepWest eliminate its credit exposuite AMERCO and its affiliates and that RepWesssss sufficient surplus to comply
with Arizona law. These requirements have beenandtthe Order was abated on June 9, 2005.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
SUMMARY OF EARNINGS OF INDEPENDENT RENTAL FLEETS

The following Summary of Earnings of IndepentRental Fleets is presented for purposes of/sisadnd is not a required part of the
basic financial statements.

Years Ended March 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

(In thousands, except earnings per $100
of average Investment)

Earnings data (Note A
Fleet owner income

Credited to fleet owner gross rental incao $ 56C $ 73¢ $ 82 $ 1,02¢ $ 1,35C
Credited to trailer accident fund (Notes D anc 34 46 49 61 79
Total fleet owner incom 594 78t 872 1,08¢ 1,42¢
Fleet owner operation expens
Charged to fleet owner (Note ! 383 437 422 532 71¢
Charged to trailer accident fund (Notes D anc 7 8 9 15 18
Total fleet owner operation expen: 39C 44& 431 547 737
Fleet owner earnings before trailer accident furedlit, depreciation
and income taxe 177 304 40z 49¢€ 631
Trailer accident fund credit (Note [ 27 36 39 46 61
Net fleet owner earnings before depreciation andrime taxe: 204 34C 441 542 692
Investment data (Note A
Amount at end of yee 967 1,202 1,38¢ 1,66: 2,04¢
Average amount during ye 1,08t 1,29¢ 1,52¢ 1,85¢ 2,35(

Net fleet owner earnings before depreciation acdrime
taxes per $100 of average investment (Note B) (dited) $ 14.07 $ 18.8¢ $ 19.9¢ $ 20.0¢ $ 23.3¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofShimmary of Earnings of Independent Rental Fl¢

(A) The accompanying Summary of Earnings of Indejeem Rental Fleets includes the operations of reggaipment under the brand name
of “U-Haul” owned by independent fleet owners. Eags data represent the aggregate results of apesdiefore depreciation and
taxes. Investment data represent the cost of titalrequipment and investments before accumulagpdediation

Fleet owner income is based on Independent RemtalelDreports of rentals transacted through thepdegeding the last Monday of
each month and received by U-Haul International, by the end of the month and U-Haul Center repafritentals transacted through
the last day of each month. Payments to fleet osviwgrtrailers lost or retired from rental servaa result of damage by accident have
not been reflected in this summary because sucm@atp do not relate to earnings before depreciatimhincome taxes but, rather,
investment (depreciatior

The investment data is based upon the cost ofttalrequipment to the fleet owners as reflectedabgs records of the U-Haul
manufacturing facilities

(B) The summary of earnings data stated in ternsaimount per $100 of average investment repretiemtiggregate results of operations
(earnings data) divided by the average amountwe#stment during
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
SUMMARY OF EARNINGS OF INDEPENDENT RENTAL FLEETS — (Continued)

the periods. The average amount of investmentdsdapon a simple average of the month-end investdwring each period. Average
earnings data is not necessarily representatias @fidividual fleet own¢'s earnings

(C) A summary of operations expenses charged direxilydependent fleet owners follow

March 31,
Year ended 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands)
Licenses $ 31 $ 4 $ 52 $ 86 $ 124
Public liability insurance 37 48 53 65 87
Repairs and maintenan 31k 34¢ 317 381 50¢

$ 38¢ $ 437 $ 422 $ 532 $ 7i¢

(D) The fleet owners and subsidiary U-Haul rentahpanies forego normal commissions on a portiograss rental fees designated for
transfer to the Trailer Accident Fund (the “Fundrjailer accident repair expenses otherwise chbitgda fleet owner, are paid from
this Fund to the extent of the financial resourfethe Fund. The amounts designated “Trailer Aatidaund credit” in the
accompanying summary of earnings represents indiepeéfleet owner commissions foregone, which exeegeénses borne by the
Fund.

(E) Commissions foregone for transfer to the Trailecident Fund follow

Fleet Owners

Subsidiary
U-Haul Subsidiary
Companies Companies Independent Total
(In thousands)
Year ended:

March 31, 200¢ $ 8,45( $ 451¢ $ 34 $ 13,00(
March 31, 200¢ 7,704 4,102 46 11,85:
March 31, 200: 6,84¢ 3,637 49 10,53:
March 31, 200: 6,38t 3,371 61 9,82:
March 31, 200: 6,07 3,191 79 9,341

(F) A summary of independent fleet owner expenses boyrtee Trailer Accident Fund follow

Fleet Owners

Total Trailer
Subsidiary Trailer Accident
U-Haul Subsidiary Sub Accident Repair
Companies Companies Independent Total Retirements Expenses
(In thousands)
Year Ended:
March 31, 200! $ 1,715 $ 917 $ 7 $2,641 $ 38¢€ $ 3,02¢
March 31, 200« 1,36¢€ 727 8 2,101 46€ 2,56
March 31, 200: 1,09t 582 8 1,68¢ 394 2,07¢
March 31, 200: 1,22t 647 12 1,88¢ 45¢ 2,33¢
March 31, 200: 1,06 561 18 1,64¢ 49¢ 2,14¢
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SCHEDULE |

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO BALANCE S HEETS

ASSETS
Cash
Investment in subsidiaries and SAC Holdinq
Related party asse
Other asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY

Liabilities:
Notes and loans payat
Related party liabilitie:
Other liabilities

Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stoc
Common stocl
Additional paicin capital
Accumulated other comprehensive |i
Retained earnings (los
Beginning of yea
Net earnings (los¢
Dividends

Less: Cost of common shares in treas
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)

$ 14 $ —
1,221,42. 1,125,15:
452,35( 516,52¢

19,10 19,73¢
169289 166141
$ 780,00¢ $ 862,70(
115,49¢ 22,30(
175,74! 222,28!
1,071,25. 1,107,28!
10,49 10,49"

396,41! 395,80:
(30,66) (21,446

587,37( 561,60¢
89,07¢ (4,047)

(12,969 29,81
1,039,73. 972,22-
(418,099 (418,09)
621,64. 554,13.

$ 1,692,89. $ 1,661,41
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Revenues

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended March 31,

Net interest income from subsidiar $

Expenses

Operating expense
Restructuring expens:

Other expense
Total expense

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries and SAC Holdi

Interest expens

Litigation settlement income, net of co

Pretax earnings (los

Income tax benef

Net earnings (loss
Less: preferred stock dividen

Earnings (loss) available to common sharehol $
Earnings (loss) per common share (both basic dotkd): $

Weighted average common shares outstan

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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20,804,77

20,749,99

2005 2004 2003

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
8,34¢ $ 2,41¢ $ 1,19t
18,06¢ 37,08( 36,93¢
— 44,09 6,56¢
121 82t 94z
18,18¢ 82,00 44,44
106,44 86,811 44,25«
(70,23%) (56,96¢) (69,219

51,34 —

77,70¢ (49,73) (68,209
11,36 45,69( 41,29¢
89,07¢ (4,047 (26,912
(12,96 (12,969 (12,969
76,11 $ (17,010 $ (39,879
3.6€ $ (0.82) $ (1.99)
20,824,61
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
Year Ended March 31,

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net earnings (loss $  89,07¢ $ (4,047 $ (26,919
Earnings from consolidated entiti (106,44) (86,817 (44,259
Depreciatior 31 39 15
Deferred income taxe 33,06( 4,90¢ (29,519
Net change in other operating assets and lialsili
Prepaid expenst (4,782) 6 25
Other asset 5,38¢ (7,16€) 4,78(
Related party asse 23,12 (48,77%) (122,869
Accounts payable and accrued expet (61,640 127,771 (38,370
Deferred incom — (2,867) (577)
Related party liabilitie: (21,657) (123,269 126,04.
Net cash used by operating activit (43,83Y) (140,212) (131,62)
Cash flows from investment activitie
Purchase of property, plant and equipn 3 — (64)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equip — 45 —
Net cash provided (used) by investing activi 3 45 (64)
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings from credit facilitie 129,35! 785,94. 262,00°
Principal repayments on credit faciliti (212,245 (745,40 (433,789
Debt issuance cos — (24,83) (2,330
Leveraged Employee Stock Ownership F— Payments on loar — (20 —
Proceeds from (repayment of) related party notgalpe — (17,500 330,73!
Proceeds from party loal 155,90¢ 126,70: —
Dividends paic (29,167 (3,247) (6,480
Net cash provided by financing activiti 43,85« 121,64 150,14«
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiv: 14 (18,52¢) 18,45:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of — 18,52/ 71
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 14 $ = $ 18,52¢

Income taxes paid in cash amounted to $3@I®m $4.0 million and $11.4 million for 2005, P@ and 2003, respectively. Interest paid in
cash amounted to $57.6 million, $40.3 million af®$ million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF AMERCO
NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MARCH 31, 2005, 2004, AND 2003
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

AMERCO, a Nevada corporation, was incorpatateApril, 1969, and is the holding company foHawl International, Inc., Republic
Western Insurance Company, Oxford Life Insurancen@any and Amerco Real Estate Company. The finastaé¢éments of the Registrant
should be read in conjunction with the Consoliddtethncial Statements and notes thereto includéeisriForm 10-K.

AMERCO is included in a consolidated Fedarabme tax return with all of its U.S. subsidiari@scordingly, the provision for income
taxes has been calculated for Federal income Ex&MERCO and subsidiaries included in the consaikdl return of the Registrant. State
taxes for all subsidiaries are allocated to thpeesve subsidiaries.

The financial statements include only thecacts of AMERCO, which include certain of the cagte operations of AMERCO (excludi
the SAC entities). The interest in AMERCO’s majpiitwned subsidiaries is accounted for on the equithod. The debt and related interest
expense of AMERCO have been allocated to the cimtzget subsidiaries. The inter-company interestrime and expenses are eliminated in
the consolidated financial statements.

2.  Guarantees

AMERCO has guaranteed performance of celtaig-term leases and other obligations. See No@ntiéNote 19 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Notes and Loans Payabl

Notes and loans payable consist of the faligw

March 31,
2005 2004
(In thousands)
Revolving credit facility, senior secured firstri $ 84,86: $ 164,05
Senior amortizing notes, secured, first lien, d0@% 346,50( 350,00t
Senior notes, secured second lien, 9.0% intertstaae 200! 200,00( 200,00(
Senior subordinated notes, secured, 12.0% inteatstdue 201 148,64¢ 148,64¢
Total AMERCO notes and loans paya $ 780,00¢ $ 862,70(

For additional information, see Note 9 of &oto Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SCHEDULE V

AMERCO AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION (FOR PROPERTY-CASUALTY INS URANCE UNDERWRITERS)
Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Claim and Claim
Adjustment

Reserves Expenses Incurred Amortization Paid
Deferred for Unpaid Related to of Deferred Claims and
Policy Claims and Discount Net Policy Claim
Fiscal Acquisition Adjustment if any, Unearned Net Earned Investment Current Prior Acquisition Adjustment
Year Affiliation with Registrant Cost Expenses Deductec _Premiums Premiums(1) Income(2) Year Year Costs Expense
In thousands
Consolidated
property
200¢ casualty entit 3,84¢ 416,25¢  N/A  11,30¢ 92,03¢ 20,54¢ 56,23 53,12; 14,12¢ 123,7¢

(1) The earned and written premiums are reporéahintersegment transactions. There were ncegigonemiums eliminated for the year
ended 2004. Earned premiums eliminated were $lllmand $3.4 million for the years ended 2003 @002, respectively

(2) Net Investment Income excludes net realized gdissés) on investments of $0.6 million, $1.2 milland ($5.6 million) for the yea
ended 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectiv
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rdwstrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

AMERCO

By: /sl Edward J. Shoe

Edward J. Shoe
Chairman of the Board and President

Dated: June 22, 2005

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears belovitatesand appoints Edward J. Shoen
his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agenthvitll power of substitution and resubstitution; fom and in his name, place and stead, in
any and all capacities, to sign any and all amemdste this Form 10-K Annual Report, and to file game, with all exhibits thereto and
other documents in connection therewith with theuBiies and Exchange Commission, granting untd atorney-in-fact and agent, full
power and authority to do and perform each andyeaetror things requisite and necessary to be @oaad about the premises, as fully an
all intents and purposes as he might or could gmison hereby ratifying and confirming all thatlsattorney-in-fact and agent, or his
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cataske done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secariichange Act of 1934, this report has been sitpedmlv by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl EDWARD J. SHOEN Chairman of the Board and President (Principal June 22, 200
Edward J. Shoe Executive Officer)
/sl WILLIAM E. CARTY Director June 22, 200
William E. Carty
/s JAMES P. SHOEN Director June 22, 200
James P. Shoe
/s/ CHARLES J. BAYER Director June 22, 200
Charles J. Baye
/s/ JOHN M. DODDS Director June 22, 200
John M. Dodd:
/s/ DANIEL R. MULLEN Director June 22, 200
Daniel R. Mullen
/s/ JOHN P. BROGAN Director June 22, 200
John P. Broga
/sl M. FRANK LYONS Director June 22, 200

M. Frank Lyons
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, rdwstrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

U-Haul International, Inc

By: /sl Edward J. Shoe

Edward J. Shoe
Chairman of the Board and President

Dated: June 22, 2005

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears belovitatesand appoints Edward J. Shoen
his true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agenthvitll power of substitution and resubstitution; fom and in his name, place and stead, in
any and all capacities, to sign any and all amemdste this Form 10-K Annual Report, and to file game, with all exhibits thereto and
other documents in connection therewith with theuBiies and Exchange Commission, granting untd atorney-in-fact and agent, full
power and authority to do and perform each andyeaetror things requisite and necessary to be @oaad about the premises, as fully an
all intents and purposes as he might or could gmison hereby ratifying and confirming all thatlsattorney-in-fact and agent, or his
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cataske done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secariichange Act of 1934, this report has been sitpedmlv by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ies indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl EDWARD J. SHOEN Chairman of the Board and President (Principal June 22, 200
Edward J. Shoe Executive Officer)
/sl WILLIAM E. CARTY Director June 22, 200
William E. Carty
/sl MARK V. SHOEN Director June 22, 200
Mark V. Shoer
/s/ SAMUEL J. SHOEN Director June 22, 200
Samuel J. Shoe
/sl ROBERT A. DOLAN Director June 22, 200
Robert A. Dolar
/s/ DANIEL R. MULLEN Director June 22, 200
Daniel R. Mullen
/s/ JOHN M. DODDS Director June 22, 200
John M. Dodd:
/s/ JOHN C. TAYLOR Director June 22, 200
John C. Taylo

Exhibit 21

AMERCO (NEVADA)
CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

Republic Western | nsurance Conpany
Republic Cl ains Service Conmpany

RR



Republic Western Syndicate, Inc.
North American Fire and Casualty |nsurance Conpany
RW C I nvestnents, Inc.
Republic Western Specialty Underwiters, Inc.
Ponder osa | nsurance Agency, Inc.

Oxford Life Insurance Conpany
Oxford Life I nsurance Agency, Inc.
Christian Fidelity Life Insurance Conpany
Encore Financial, Inc.
North American | nsurance Conpany
Encore Agency, Inc.
Community Health, Inc.
Conmmunity Health Partners, Inc.

Anerco Real Estate Conpany
Anerco Real Estate Conpany of Al abama, Inc.
Amerco Real Estate Conpany of Texas, |nc.
Anerco Real Estate Services, Inc.
One PAC Conpany
Two PAC Conpany
Three PAC Conpany
Four PAC Conpany
Fi ve PAC Conpany
Si x PAC Conpany
Seven PAC Company
Ei ght PAC Conpany
Ni ne PAC Conpany
Ten PAC Conpany
El even PAC Conpany
Twel ve PAC Conpany
Si xt een PAC Conpany
Sevent een PAC Conpany
Nati onwi de Conmerci al Conpany
Yonkers Property Corporation
PF&F Hol di ngs Cor poration
Fourteen PAC Conpany
Fi fteen PAC Conpany
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U-Haul International, Inc.

United States:

I NW Conpany
A & M Associ ates, Inc

EMbve,
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul

I nc.

Busi ness Consultants, Inc
Leasing & Sal es Co.

Sel f - St orage Corporation
of Al aska

of Al abama, |nc.

of Arkansas

of Arizona

of California

of Col orado

of Connecti cut

of District of Colunbia, Inc.
of Florida

of Ceorgia

Hawai i, Inc.

of lowa, Inc.

of ldaho, Inc.

of Illinois, Inc.

of Indiana, I|nc.

of Kansas, Inc.

of Kentucky

of Loui siana

of Maryl and, |nc.

of Maine, Inc.

of M chigan

. of Mnnesota

nmpany of M ssouri

of M ssi ssi ppi

of Montana, Inc.

of North Carolina

of North Dakota

of Nebraska

of New Hanpshire, Inc.
of New Jersey, Inc.
of New Mexico, Inc.
of Nevada, Inc.

of New York, Inc.

of Okl ahoma, Inc.

of Oregon

of Pennsyl vani a

of Rhode I sl and

of South Carolina, I|nc.
of South Dakota, Inc.
of Tennessee

of Texas

of Utah, Inc.

£0609688606086086880609686880809609680880928688088608686¢

of Massachusetts and Ohio, Inc.
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Canada:

U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul
U- Haul

§868¢

of
of
of
of
of

Virginia
Washi ngt on

W sconsin, |nc.

West Virginia
Wom ng, Inc.

Storage Realty LLC

U- Haul Co.

(Canada) Ltd.
U- Haul | nspections,



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

AMERCO
Reno, NV

We hereby consent to the incorporation bgnexice in the Registration Statements on Formr®#-3333-10119, 333-73357, 333-48396
and 33-56571) of AMERCO and consolidated entitiesus reports dated June 13, 2005, relating tactivesolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedules, and the effectienEAMERCO and its subsidiaries’ internal conwekr financial reporting appearing in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yaadted March 31, 2005.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLI

Los Angeles, California
June 20, 200



EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

AMERCO
Reno, NV

We hereby consent to the incorporation bgnexice in the Registration Statements on Formr®#-3333-10119, 333-73357, 333-48396
and 33-56571) of AMERCO and consolidating entitésur report dated June 16, 2005, relating tocthresolidated financial statements of
SAC Holding Il Corporation and its subsidiarieshsolidated in the Company’s Annual Report on Fo@¥Klfor the year ended March 31,
2005.

/s/ SEMPLE & CoOPER LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
June 21, 200



EXHIBIT 31.1

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Edward J. Shoen, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&¥K of AMERCO and U-Haul International, Inc. (&tber, the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dogésantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includedhiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officEr@nd | are responsible for establishing and raaiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f))for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgqaures, or caused such disclosure controls muegures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepal

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contvelrdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thegtegnt's disclosure controls and procedures ansepted in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhimregistrant’s internal control over financigboeting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying offic&r@nd | have disclosed, based on our most regahiaion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and masdnveaknesses in the design or operation of inkeararol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthevolves management or other employees who haignéficant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl Edward J. Shoe

Edward J. Shoe
President and Chairman of the Board of AMERCO and U-Haul International, Inc.

Date: June 22, 20C



EXHIBIT 31.2

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Jack A Peterson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&0¥K of AMERCO (the “registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dogésantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includedhiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officEr@nd | are responsible for establishing and raaiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgqaures, or caused such disclosure controls muegures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepal

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contvelrdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thegtegnt's disclosure controls and procedures ansepted in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhimregistrant’s internal control over financigboeting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying offic&r@nd | have disclosed, based on our most regahiaion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and masdnveaknesses in the design or operation of inkeararol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthevolves management or other employees who haignéficant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/sl Jack A. Petersc

Jack A. Peterso
Chief Financial Officer of AMERCO.

Date: June 22, 20C



EXHIBIT 31.3

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification

I, Robert T. Peterson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&0¥K of U-Haul International, Inc. (the “registtén

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dogésantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets, and other financial information includedhiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officEr@nd | are responsible for establishing and raaiintg disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgqaures, or caused such disclosure controls muegures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepal

(b) Designed such internal control oveafinial reporting, or caused such internal contvelrdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thegtegnt's disclosure controls and procedures ansepted in this report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhimregistrant’s internal control over financigboeting that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registré' s internal control over financial reporting; a

5. The registrant’s other certifying offic&r@nd | have disclosed, based on our most regahiaion of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and masdnveaknesses in the design or operation of inkeararol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refptahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material,tthevolves management or other employees who haignéficant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

/s/ Robert T. Petersc

Robert T. Petersao
Chief Financial Officer of U-Haul International, Inc.

Date: June 22, 20C



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Form 10-K for the yeaded March 31, 2005 of AMERCO and U-Haul Intdoral, Inc. (together, the
“Company”), as filed with the Securities and ExcparCommission on June 22, 2005 (the “Report”)dward J. Shoen, Chairman of the
Board and President of the Company, certify, purst@Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2@0at:

(1) The Report fully complies with the reaarirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securliieshange Act of 1934; ar

(2) The information contained in the Regaitly presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of operations of
the Company

AMERCO,
a Nevada corporatic

/s/ Edward J. Shoe

Edward J. Shoe
President and Chairman of the Board

Date: June 22, 2005

U-HAUL INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
a Nevada corporatic

/sl Edward J. Shoe

Edward J. Shoe
President and Chairman of the Board

Date: June 22, 20C



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Form 10-K for the yeaded March 31, 2005 of AMERCO (the “Company”)fiesl with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 22, 2005 (the “RepdrtIpck A. Peterson, Chief Financial Officer loé tCompany, certify, pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that

(1) The Report fully complies with the reaarirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securliieshange Act of 1934; ar

(2) The information contained in the Regaitly presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of operations of
the Company

AMERCO,
a Nevada corporatic

/sl Jack A. Petersc

Jack A. Peterso
Chief Financial Officer

Date: June 22, 20C



EXHIBIT 32.3

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Form 10-K for the yeaded March 31, 2005 of U-Haul International, Iftke “Company”), as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on June 22, @B85Report”), I, Robert T. Peterson Chief Finah©fficer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the reaarirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securliieshange Act of 1934; ar

(2) The information contained in the Regaitly presents, in all material respects, thaficial condition and results of operations of
the Company

U-HAUL INTERNATIONAL, INC.,
a Nevada corporatic

/s/ Robert T. Petersc

Robert T. Petersao
Chief Financial Officel

Date: June 22, 2005
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